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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

FY 2024 FY 2023 Change
TEZMF ZEZ=F
BB EE WmER b=
HK$'million EE#& Tt HK$milion BEEIT
Revenue EE ) 43,093.3 39,712.5 +9%
EBITDA* RIRFE - B\ - o
e 5,865.0 6,139.0 -4%
Profit before tax* RREL AR T 2,754.3 3,025.2 -9%
Net profit attributable to owners  ZxA T35 A FE{L 4 F|
of the Company
- Underlying net profit* — E AR 1,622.0 2,274.3 -29%
— Reported net profit —AREAEF 1,630.3 2,063.0 -21%
Basic earnings per share BEREXRRZF
- Based on underlying net profit* — ARG FIETE HK$1.464 HK$2.052 09%
1.46478 T 2.052/8 7T
— Based on reported net profit —ABREAFETE HK$1.471 HK$1.861 219
1471387 1.86178 7T
Dividend per share for the year BEREERE HK140 cents HK102 cents 0
1407841 oo T
— Interim dividend per share — FRR P EARR & HK40 cents HK16 cents o
4074l 1ol 0%
— Special Interim dividend per share  — &Rl BAR & HK50 cents N/A
- 5031l TEA
— Proposed final dividend per share  — &2 SRR HEAIR 2 HK54 cents HK36 cents
N . +50%
54784l 36811l
— Proposed special final dividend — SRR ER HK46 cents N/A
per share RE 46381 } TEA
Net asset value per share BREERE HK$54.0 HK$53.9
54.03 7T 5398 7T }
Net gearing FEEL=E 28% 29%
* Excluding: * TBiE
1) In 2024, net loss on fair value changes of investment properties with gross (1) ZEF  REMELATFEEB B

amount of HK$32.3 million, net gain amount of HK$8.3 million after share
by non-controlling shareholders and deferred tax (2023: Net loss on fair
value changes of investment properties with gross amount of HK$113.4
million, net amount of HK$100.1 million after share by non-controlling

shareholders and deferred tax).

() In 2023, share-based payments with gross amount of HK$124 million, net
amount of HK$111.2 million after share of non-controlling shareholders

(2024 nil).
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERERE

BUSINESS REVIEW

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”), | am delighted to present to
our shareholders the financial results of Kingboard Holdings Limited and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Period”).
Despite the challenges posed by geopolitical conflicts and the impact of high
interest rates on various industries, the Group has effectively navigated these
complex market dynamics by leveraging its management experience, vertical
value-chain advantage, and diversified business portfolio. The Group has
demonstrated strong resilience and risk resistance capabilities, delivering a
set of robust results, highlighted by a 9% year-on-year increase in revenue to
HK$43,093.3 million.

During the Period, the electronics industry emerged from the bottom of the
cycle and ushered in a new round of growth opportunities. This positive
momentum was further driven by the rapid development of the automotive
electronics and artificial intelligence (Al) sectors, which spurred significant
demand growth. In addition, improved demand forecasts from downstream
clients have prompted active restocking in various downstream sectors. As
a result, both the Laminates and Printed Circuit Boards (“PCB”s) segments
recorded year-on-year growth in revenue and profits. The Property Division
delivered a stable performance with an annual rental income of over
HK$1,400 million, providing the Group with a steady cash inflow. After
deducting allowances for credit loss on a loan to Country Garden Holdings
Company Limited made by the Group and for investments in bonds
issued by Guangzhou R&F Properties Co., Ltd., totalling HK$1,420 million
approximately, as well as the allowance for impairment loss (net of deferred
tax) on unsold residential properties in eastern China held by the Group,
in the amount of HK$220 million approximately, the Group registered an
underlying net profit of HK$1,622 million. Despite a 29% year-on-year decline
in underlying net profit due to provisions for losses related to the property
business, the Group’s foundation remains solid. Both the Laminates and
PCBs divisions performed well, and the Group continues to maintain a healthy
capital structure and financial position.
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The Board has proposed the payment of a final dividend of HK54 cents FEeEHRERPREFRS4BN RERIR
per share and a special final dividend of HK46 cents per share, subject to HARR B AR 4681 o IR B2 AFRE RS
approval by the shareholders. i -

Turnover Breakdown by Products ZE & £ % 20

FY2024 FY2023
—ECNERREE R =FPHFEE

29.6% 26.6%
Laminates  [Jj PCBs Chemicals [ Properties [ Investments [l Others
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PERFORMANCE

Laminates Division: The Period witnessed a gradual recovery in demand in
the traditional consumer electronics market, with particularly notable growth
in air conditioning and photovoltaic panels. The rapid development of the Al
industry and the increased integration of electronic and smart applications in
the automotive sector have further boosted the demand for laminates. The
laminates market is trending towards small-volume, diversified production.
The division has actively responded by undertaking research and development
(R&D) into new products that meet the functionality and pricing requirements
of different clients. Such R&D initiatives have also helped the division establish
footholds in new market arenas. Steady progress has been made in the
optimisation of the product portfolio, with a gradual shift towards high-end,
high-value-added products. Annual laminate sales volume increased to 110
million sheets, an increase of 10% as compared with 2023. Revenue of the
Laminates Division increased by 10% to HK$18,901.5 million. During the
Period, as copper prices surged significantly, the Group implemented orderly
price increases for its laminate products. These adjustments not only offset
the cost pressures caused by rising copper prices, but also helped improve
the division’s gross profit margin. The Group’s seasoned management team
also made persistent efforts to enhance production efficiency and reduce
energy consumption through technical improvements, while lowering labour
costs through increased automation. As a result, earnings before interest,
taxes, depreciation and amortisation (“EBITDA”) increased by 23% to
HK$3,064 million.

PCBs Division: The division continued to expand its presence across various
sectors, including automotive, telecommmunications and consumer electronics.
Demand for PCBs also grew in parallel with the rapid development of the Al
industry and the increased integration of electronic and smart applications
in the automotive sector. Meanwhile, the Group’s PCBs Division has
consistently onboarded expert management and professional technical
talent for its PCB factories to develop high-end offerings, building a higher
value-added product portfolio for the division. The Group also adopted a
modern manufacturing execution system (“MES”) to enable precise quality
tracking and analysis across the entire manufacturing process in order to
drive improvements in production efficiency and product quality. With a
focus on market demand and efficiency, the management team achieved
cost efficiencies through continuous technical improvements and increased
automation of facilities. These efforts collectively drove a 1% EBITDA growth
to HK$2,033.3 million, coupled with 4% growth in segment revenue to
HK$12,107.0 million. Although 2024 remained a challenging year in terms
of the operating environment, the PCBs Division still delivered a record-high
profit for the Kingboard Group, underscoring the remarkable success of the
division’s development.
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PERFORMANCE (continued)

Chemicals Division: During the Period, segment revenue (including inter-
segment sales) posted 22% growth to HK$13,617.7 million, driven by the
commissioning of the 450,000-tonne per annum phenol acetone and the
240,000-tonne per annum bisphenol A projects in Daya Bay, Huizhou,
Guangdong Province. Also contributing to this growth was an increase in
sales volume of core chemical products, including acetic acid and caustic
soda. As a result, EBITDA grew 2% to HK$910.3 million.

Property Division: The Property Division saw a decrease in revenue from
property sales by 60% to HK$516.7 million during the Period, attributable
to reduced delivery of residential properties. Rental income remained stable
and decreased slightly by 1% to HK$1,457.0 million. Segment revenue of the
Property Division declined by 28% to HK$1,973.7 million, while EBITDA was
HK$1,164.1 million, similar to the same period in 2023.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Group’s consolidated financial and liquidity position remained robust. As
at 31 December 2024, Group net current assets and current ratio (i.e., current
assets divided by current liabilities) were HK$19,989.8 million (31 December
2023: HK$25,252.7 million) and 2.02 (31 December 2023: 2.33) respectively.

The net working capital cycle increased to 71 days, as at 31 December 2024,
from 65 days, as at 31 December 2023, on the following key metrics:

- Inventories, in terms of stock turnover days, were 45 days (31
December 2023: 43 days).

- Trade receivables, in terms of debtor turnover days, were 61 days (31
December 2023: 60 days).

- Trade and bills payable (excluding bills payable for property, plant
and equipment), in terms of creditor turnover days, were 35 days (31
December 2023: 38 days).
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

(continued)

The Group’s net gearing ratio (ratio of bank borrowings net of bank
balances and cash to total equity) was approximately 28% (31 December
2023: 29%). The ratio of short-term to long-term bank borrowings stood at
41%:59% (31 December 2023: 36%:64%). During the Period, the Group
invested approximately HK$4 billion in production capacity and HK$600
million in property construction expenses. Management firmly believes
these investments will generate stable and satisfactory long-term returns
for shareholders. Meanwhile, the Group remains committed to a prudent
financial management policy. Throughout the Period, the Group did not
have any material foreign exchange exposure. The Group’s revenue, mostly
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, RMB and US dollars, was fairly matched
with the currency requirements of its operating expenses. The Group
possessed adequate financial resources in reserve to fulfil its requirements for
future market developments.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed a global workforce of
approximately 33,000 (31 December 2023: 34,000). Recognising the
significance of staff members as a valuable asset, the Group continues to
implement sound human resources management and planning practices,
which increasingly contribute to delivering satisfactory results. In addition to
offering competitive salary packages, the Group grants share options and
discretionary bonuses to eligible employees based on the Group’s overall
financial achievements and individual employee performance. Meanwhile,
over the years, the Kingboard Management Academy has been instrumental
in actively nurturing mid-rank and senior management personnel. And every
year the Group recruits and nurtures several hundred promising university
graduates from diverse locations worldwide. The Group is dedicated to
implementing training programmes for various talent types in order to infuse
fresh energy into long-term development and to propel the Group’s sustained
growth.
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FINANCIAL GUARANTEES CONTRACTS/
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

@)

The Group provided guarantees amounting to HK$10,147,000 (2023:
HK$322,266,000) as at 31 December 2024 to facilitate mortgage
bank loans applications of purchasers of the properties that were
developed by the Group.

The guarantees are given to banks with respect to loans procured by
the purchasers of properties that were developed by the Group. Such
guarantees will be released by banks upon delivery of the properties
to the purchasers and completion of registration of the relevant
mortgage properties. In the opinion of the Directors, the fair values
of these financial guarantee contracts of the Group are insignificant
at initial recognition and the Directors consider that the possibility of
default of the parties involved is remote. Accordingly, no value has
been recognised at the inception of the guarantee contracts and at
the end of the reporting period as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

On 3 August 2011, Annuity & Re Life Ltd (the “Petitioner”), the non-
controlling shareholder of Kingboard Copper Foil Holdings Limited
(“KBCF”), presented a petition in the Supreme Court of Bermuda
(the “Petition”) in respect of KBCF against its controlling shareholders
based on a complaint that the affairs of KBCF had been and/or
were being conducted in a manner which was oppressive or unfairly
prejudicial to the Petitioner.

The controlling shareholders of KBCF were eventually successful in
defending the case following a favourable judgement by the Bermuda
Court of Appeal dated 24 March 2017, Subsequently, the Petitioner
filed an appeal with the Privy Council. Such appeal was withdrawn
by the Petitioner following a settlement agreement reached by the
Petitioner and the respondents in the Petition.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the controlling
shareholders of KBCF had purchased all of the remaining issued and
outstanding ordinary shares in the capital of KBCF and KBCF has
become a wholly-owned subsidiary of the KLHL.

On 22 October 2018, the Petitioner commenced an action in the
Supreme Court of Bermuda under Civil Jurisdiction 2018: No. 359
against the respondents in the Petition based on purported breach of
the settlement agreement (the “Settlement Action”).
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FINANCIAL GUARANTEES CONTRACTS/
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)

(b)

(continued)

On 22 October 2020, the Group filed an application for striking out
part of the Petitioner’s claim under the Settlement Action (the “Strike-
Out Application”). The Strike Out Application was unsuccessful and
the substantive proceedings in the Settlement Action are continuing.

The trial was originally listed for a five-day hearing from 16 January
to 20 January 2023. On 7 December 2022, the Petitioner made an
application for a letter of request to be issued by the Supreme Court
of Bermuda and addressed to the Supreme Court of Singapore
(the “Singapore Letter of Request”) for its assistance in the ordering
against two Singapore brokers for production of certain documents
in their possession, and for adjournment of the trial in the Settlement
Action for a period at least two months. Further to a hearing on 14
December 2022, the issue of the Singapore Letter of Request and
the adjournment were order by the Court. Despite the adjournment,
expert reports were exchanged in 16 November 2022, and a joint
expert report has been filed on or around 22 December 2022.

On 27 July 2023, the Petitioner made another application for a Letter
of Request to be issued by the Supreme Court of Bermuda and
addressed to the High Court of Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the PRC (the “Hong Kong Letter of Request”) for its
assistance in ordering a bank in Hong Kong for production of certain
documents in their possession. Further to a hearing on 24 August
2023, the issue of the Hong Kong Letter of Request was ordered by
the Court on 7 September 2023.

On 18 September 2023, the Petitioner filled a Notice to Admit Facts
requiring the Group to admit several facts related to and/or referred to
in the evidence in support of the Hong Kong Letter of Request. On 28
September 2023, the Group filed a Notice of Non-Admission. The trial
of this matter is to be relisted.
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FINANCIAL GUARANTEES CONTRACTS/
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)

(b)

(continued)

On 27 June 2024, the Petitioner made a further application for a
Letter of Request to be issued by the Supreme Court of Bermuda and
addressed to the High Court of Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the PRC (the “Second Hong Kong Letter of Request”) for its
assistance in ordering a bank in Hong Kong for production of certain
documents in their possession. Further to a hearing on 8 August
2024, the issue of the second Hong Kong Letter of Request was
ordered by the Court.

On 5 February 2025, the Petitioner made another application for a
Letter of Request to be issued by the Supreme Court of Bermuda and
addressed to the High Court of Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the PRC (the “Third Hong Kong Letter of Request”) for its
assistance in ordering the bank in Hong Kong for production of further
details in their possession. As of the date of this annual report, the
Court has not yet ordered the issue of the Third Hong Kong Letter of
Request.

The trial of this matter is listed for 23 to 26 June and 30 June 2025.

Based on the advice of the Company’s Bermuda Counsel to date,
the Board is of the opinion that the Settlement Action appears to be
intrinsically defective and that the Company should have a more than
reasonable chance to succeed. Accordingly, no provision for liability
has been made in connection with the claim.
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PROSPECTS

Aligned with national energy-saving objectives, the Group is adopting
a professional and systematic approach to installing distributed solar
photovoltaics in all buildable areas within its facilities. Following an
aggregate investment of HK$900 million up to 31 December 2024, the
Group has successfully installed an annual generating capacity of 200
million kWh of green electricity thereafter, resulting in energy savings
equivalent to 54,000 tonnes of standard coal and a reduction in
carbon dioxide emissions of 120,000 tonnes. This initiative is expected
to translate into annual electricity bill savings of HK$180 million based
on the current market price. In respect of thermal energy recovery,
as at 31 December 2024 the Group’s investments totalled HK$200
million. These investments resulted in a reduction in carbon dioxide
emissions by 59,000 tonnes during 2024, which is equivalent to energy
savings of 24,000 tonnes of standard coal and cost savings totalling
HK$180 million. Coupled with cumulative cost savings of HK$300
million as at 31 December 2023, cumulative cost savings of more
than HK$480 million had been achieved as at 31 December 2024.
These savings will bring long-term benefits to the Group. In addition,
the Hebei acetic acid project is utilising an advanced and energy-
efficient carbon capture technology developed by the School of
Environment at Tsinghua University, to capture and recycle 200,000
tonnes of carbon dioxide annually. All captured carbon dioxide is
reused in the acetic acid production system, resulting in annual
energy savings equivalent to 80,000 tonnes of standard coal. The
Hebei project enables carbon capture from flue gases in its coal-fired
plant, and is currently the largest of its kind in the chemical industry
nationwide. The technology has been certified as meeting the highest
international standards. This initiative supports the Group’s green
transformation and demonstrates its total commitment to achieving
its environmental, social and governance (ESG) goals. As 2025 dawns,
the management believes that geopolitical tensions will persist, and that
the performance of industries worldwide will fluctuate under the shadow of
protectionism and trade wars, posing even greater challenges to business
operations. Amidst this uncertain business environment, the Group will
remain steadfast in strengthening cash flow and expenses management. The
Group will continue to implement its strategy of maintaining a diversified and
synergistic business portfolio, while leveraging the competitive advantage of
its vertical production model. Strict cost control measures will remain in place
as the Group works to boost technological impetus and proactively deploy
big data management to enhance operational efficiency. Furthermore, R&D
upgrades, safe production, environmental performance improvements, and
the promotion of new-quality productivity will remain top priorities for the
Group.
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P ROS P ECTS (continued)

Laminates Division: As 2025 unfolds, the electronics market is generally
experiencing robust demand. The Group recorded significant year-on-year
growth in shipment volume for the first two months, with prices for laminates
and their upstream materials, such as fibreglass fabric and fibreglass yarn,
also rising. The rise of Al technology has spurred the burgeoning development
of multiple industry chains, including cloud data centres, robotics,
autonomous driving, and smart wearables, along with the continuous
upgrading of high-speed networks. These advancements are capable of
stimulating the demand for electronic products. The recent strong business
performance of downstream PCB clients will also serve as a growth driver for
laminates demand. Benefitting from its advantages in vertical integration and
economies of scale, the Group commands highly competitive product pricing
and maintains a resilient, top-tier gross margin level in the industry. This is
expected to drive sustained growth in the Group’s revenue and profits. At the
same time, the Group has established a state-of-the-art laminate R&D centre
equipped with advanced facilities. It has successfully developed a range of
high-frequency and high-speed products applicable to GPU motherboards in
Al servers. Through the coordinated development of its vertical supply chain,
the Group has also successfully developed HVLP3 copper foil for Al servers
and ultra-thin VLP copper foil for IC substrate packaging. The utilisation of
thick copper foil has also seen a substantial rise due to its applications in data
centres and cloud computing. The newly added 1,500-tonne monthly copper
foil capacity in the latest phase of the Lianzhou facility will be fully operational
in 2025, significantly enhancing the Group’s cost efficiencies. Moving forward,
the division will continue to collaborate with premium customers, working
together to achieve the certification of high-end products by end customers
in order to enable comprehensive downstream coverage. Low-dielectric
fibreglass yarn, which is used in the core components of Al applications, is
currently in short supply. A low-dielectric fibreglass yarn project in Qingyuan
City, Guangdong Province with an annual capacity of 500 tonnes is under
construction and is expected to commence operations in the second half of
2025, meeting market demand and greatly enhancing Kingboard Group’s
core competitiveness. In 2024, the Group increased its laminate production
capacity in Thailand by 400,000 sheets per month, reaching a monthly
capacity of 1 million sheets by the end of 2024. The Group will subsequently
increase its monthly capacity in two phases in Thailand, adding 400,000
sheets per phase, with the goal of reaching a total capacity of 1.8 million
sheets per month. This expansion is designed to meet the growing demand
from overseas clients, including the overseas PCB operations of Kingboard
Holdings Limited.
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P ROS P ECTS (continued)

PCBs Division: The management has full confidence in the business
prospects for the PCBs Division. The Group possesses multiple strengths,
including technical prowess, comprehensive certification, and superior
quality, across multiple sectors such as automotive, telecommunications,
and consumer electronics. The division currently has a solid order book, with
both business volume and profits for the first two months showing significant
year-on-year growth. The electronics market is generating strong demand for
PCBs, driven by emerging applications such as Al, high-speed computing,
and electric vehicles. The development of the large language model has
driven a surge in data processing demand, accelerating the iteration of
hardware such as servers and switches and injecting new vitality into the
PCB industry. At the same time, the proliferation of electric vehicles has led to
increased complexity in electronic control systems, significantly boosting the
usage of PCBs. The Group has equipped itself with technologies related to
PCB manufacturing for 6G communication, mmWave radar, automotive high-
end common control units, and Al servers. The Group will further enhance
collaboration with clients to build a close-knit working ecosystem. At the
same time, the division will continue to strengthen the core competencies
of its PCB brands, including Elec & Eltek, Techwise Circuits and Express
Electronics. A new project is currently underway to add 1.2 million square
feet of monthly PCB capacity in Thailand, which is expected to commence
operations in 2026. Another project to add 1.1 million square feet of monthly
PCB capacity in Vietnam is also expected to be fully operational in 2026.
These facilities are strategically located, and the additional capacity will meet
the growing overseas demand. These additions will further enhance the
market penetration of Kingboard’s PCB network and optimise the Group’s
strategic position in downstream businesses.

Chemicals Division: As 2025 gets underway, market conditions for the
Chemicals Division’s major products have improved compared to the same
period last year, with the caustic soda industry enjoying particularly strong
momentum. The national focus for 2025 remains on strengthening ecological
and environmental protection and promoting a transformation towards green
development. The Chemicals Division will spare no effort to ensure production
safety and compliance with emission standards. At the same time, it will
focus on improving facility efficiency and optimising resource utilisation to
reduce energy consumption. The caustic soda project currently underway
in Beihai City, Guangxi, will have an annual capacity of 340,000 tonnes. In
its first phase, an annual capacity of 200,000 tonnes is expected to come
online by the end of 2025. The industrial park where this project is located
already has sufficient demand capacity to absorb its output, such that the
caustic soda products can be transported to clients over short distances or
through pipelines, reducing transportation costs. Strong competitiveness is
evident as the average selling price of caustic soda produced in this facility
is higher than that in the Hengyang area. Meanwhile, the acetic acid project
in Xingtai City, Hebei Province, with an annual capacity of 800,000 tonnes,
was commissioned in early 2025. This project also utilises the advanced
energy-efficient carbon capture technology developed by the School of
Environment at Tsinghua University. The current daily production of 1,700
tonnes is expected to be ramped up to 2,000 tonnes daily beginning in
April, contributing to an annual output of RMB3 billion. This new project will
help expand the Group’s chemical business footprint. Looking ahead, the
Chemicals Division remains committed to driving enterprise transformation,
upgrading, and high-quality development characterised by green and low-
carbon practices.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

B (@)

EN Rl ARBEAREBPT © B I B E R AR BE AR 09 X 7%
AISFEmED - REERE B HEEF
ERSEESOBERTILRE RE2E R
mEBRELEEY - FFIE ATHEAIEBAET
B AWEAZEBERMNESREFRBERS
BERR - EFTMIHEARA SREELE
BEEHEERAMEST - HRIRIEIRE R
EFRE - AIKRIM B RTEERHRIEF TN
g AR RMBEWRRBEEMR - B
ENRIARBRIRTTRIT ARG N © AIRY - BEYEH
ERREEZERSEML - BIREERAEX
fRIE N - SEE D EIBIFEGEIE - ERREE -
AE SRR B TR - Alfa iRESF EDR
ARESARBUEARRI - E—FINBRETFS
1 BREERENAELRE - BPISEERL
TR % E - BEE RIGE FENRIARBEAR A b8
ML BT o SR E NI BIFESME hED R 4R
BIRERE T 1208 TR E B AN —F
ZRFERE - RUREEMENRIRERER S A
1MOBF TR ZEBBHRTHR —F R FR
= BEMEMEDIFEEB - #EERE AN
MEBIEFPHFERIER  WaBETESITE
BEENZEERIREREE  BLEEET
TSR BB FELL ©

{CIZM: BAZS_RHE (L IHPIETE
FTETESMERREIREFRIIERE B
MITESREERHAES BR-Z-_AFH
TEEZHIRIMAEREIRERE  HEBEREH
NegEER - THAME T ERNIBREES
2 RUBUERE - ARZENRABERE - 81t
BRMANREER - EBRERILETER
FEMEWNERIEE - £ H208W 8N =
T_RAFFRERE  REENIXERANESR
BHNELHILER  FTEERERIES
RRERNEEHENAESHKA - EER
HEHEMRLEBES  mi5ERBRE - B
mEmib B e MR EE X 2IRIF B
B R AL — SR e Rl B2 F E80E
WHEEBRBEERN S _RAFFYIRE - B8
HE1,700HEE B - PO A 15 546 H &= #8#£2,000
W A EEEARBI0ET  EEMNMETE
TERIRR B S — PR o (b TEFPTERHF ARHE
Bl ASIE  HEBCEENAR  GERiKS
BHEEE -



@

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERE®E

P ROS P ECTS (continued)

Property Division: The division will continue to adopt a prudent business
strategy, having made no additions to its land reserve over the past six
years. The new initiative to rent out some of the unsold inventories in eastern
China has met with strong market acceptance. The Puan Garden project
in Huagiao, Kunshan, for example, has achieved a rental occupancy rate
of over 90%, providing an additional cash inflow for the Group. With these
encouraging results, the Group will take forward plans to lease out other
residential projects held for sale to generate rental income. The Group has
strategically balanced its investment property portfolio across the United
Kingdom, Hong Kong, east China and southern China, contributing to risk
diversification and ensuring a continuous and stable cash flow. Total rental
income for 2025 is expected to exceed HK$1,400 million.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to all
shareholders, clients, banks, management, and staff for their unwavering
support for the Group during the Period.

Cheung Kwok Wing
Chairman
Hong Kong, 24 March 2025
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

EERGREEBAEBZERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Wing, aged 69, GBS, JP, is the chairman and a co-
founder of the Group. Mr. Cheung is a director of Hallgain Management
Limited, a substantial shareholder of the Company. Mr. Cheung is the uncle
of Ms. Ho Kin Fan, the cousin of Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan, the brother-in-law
of Mr. Chang Wing Yiu and Mr. Ho Yin Sang and the father of Mr. Cheung Ka
Shing. Mr. Cheung had over 13 years’ experience in the sales and distribution
of electronic components including laminates prior to the establishment of
the Group. Mr. Cheung is responsible for the overall strategic planning of the
Group and sets the general direction and goals for the Group. Mr. Cheung
won the Young Industrialist Award of Hong Kong 1993, which was organized
by the Federation of Hong Kong Industries (“FHKI”) and was described as
“far-sighted, enterprising, and having insight in the business”. Mr. Cheung
was the winner of the DHL/SCMP Hong Kong Business Award, accredited
with the Owner-Operator Award in 2006. In 2011, Mr. Cheung was awarded
the Honorary University Fellowships of The University of Hong Kong. Since
2013, Mr. Cheung was appointed as a member of the National Committee
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of The People’s
Republic of China. In 2017, Mr. Cheung was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia
Star by the Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. In
2021, Mr. Cheung was awarded the 2021 Industrialist of the Year Award by
FHKI and the Leader of the year 2020, winner of category of “Commence &
Industry/Finance” by Singtao Post. In 2023, Mr. Cheung was awarded the
Gold Bauhinia Star by the Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region.

Mr. CHANG Wing Yiu, aged 58, is the managing director of the Group. He is
the brother-in-law of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing, the uncle-in-law of Ms. Ho Kin
Fan and Mr. Cheung Ka Shing. He joined the Group in 1989 and has over
35 years’ experience in laminates production. Mr. Chang graduated from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a higher diploma in marine electronics.
He is responsible for the Group’s phenol/acetone plant in Yangzhou, Jiangsu
province and in Huizhou, Guangdong province.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. CHEUNG Kwong Kwan, aged 60, BBS, J.P., is an executive director of
KHL and the president of South China Chemical Department. is the cousin of
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing and the uncle of Ms. Ho Kin Fan and Mr. Cheung Ka
Shing. He joined the Group in 1988 and has been working in the PCB industry
since 1984 with particularly extensive experience in marketing components
and materials required for PCB production. Mr. Cheung is responsible for
the Group’s chemical business operations and property developments in
southern China. He obtained the 16th World Outstanding Chinese Award
in August 2018. He was appointed as a Justice of the Peace by the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region in October 2020 and was honored as
a member of the Standing Committee and the deputy director of the Hong
Kong, Macao and Taiwan Commission of the 13th Guangdong Provincial
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference in
January 2023, the Fourth Top 10 Outstanding Cantonese in October 2023
and was appointed as the chairman of Federation of Hong Kong Guangzhou
Community Organisations in March 2024. He was also awarded the Bronze
Bauhinia Star by the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region in July 2024 and the Pilot “9+2” 5th Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao
Greater Bay Area Outstanding Contribution Leader Award in November 2024.

Mr. HO Yin Sang, aged 70, is the father of Ms. Ho Kin Fan, the brother-in-
law of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing and the uncle-in-law of Mr. Cheung Ka Shing.
He joined the Group in 1989 and is responsible for the Group’s chemical
business operations in Hebei province and the rental business of the
properties in southern China.

Mr. CHEUNG Ka Shing, aged 37, was appointed as an executive Director
with effect from 1 August 2014. He joined the Group in 2009 and is
responsible for the property development business of the Group in eastern
China. Mr. Cheung obtained his Bachelor of Science degree in the study of
Management with International Business at the University of London in 2009.
Mr. Cheung is the son of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing, the cousin of Ms. Ho Kin
Fan and the nephew of Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan and nephew-in-law of Mr.
Chang Wing Yiu and Mr. Ho Yin Sang.

Ms. Ho Kin Fan, aged 46, was appointed as an executive Director on 1
October 2021. She joined the Group in 2006 and she is responsible for
the Group’s PCB plants in Huizhou, Qingyuan and Dongguan, Guangdong
province and has over 13 years’ experience in PCB business. She is the
daughter of Mr. Ho Yin Sang, niece of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing, Mr. Chang
Wing Yiu and Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan and the cousin of Mr. Cheung Ka
Shing.

Mr. CHEN Maosheng, aged 61, was appointed as an executive Director
on 11 January 2011. He joined the Group in 1996 and is currently the chief
financial controller of the Group in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”).
He is responsible for the management of the finance and tax matters of the
Group in the PRC and the Group’s PCB plants in eastern China. Prior to
joining the Group, he worked with the finance and economics department of
the government of the PRC for 12 years. Mr. Chen graduated from Jiangxi
Finance and Economics University (formerly known as Jiangxi Finance and
Economics Institution) in 1990. He is an accountant certified by the finance
department of the government of the PRC.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHEUNG Ming Man, aged 68, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company with effect from 1 November 2015. Mr.
Cheung is also the chairman of the nomination committee of the Company,
and a member of the audit committee and remuneration committee of
the Company. Mr. Cheung has extensive experience in the performance
and cultural sector. Mr. Cheung participated in a number of community
associations, including the Hong Kong Chinese Importers’ & Exporters’
Association (Vice Honorary Secretary); The Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region Election Committee (First, Second and Third Election Committee
Member); Deputy of the National People’s Congress of PRC Election
Committee (Ninth, Tenth and Eleventh Election Committee Member) and
was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star in 2010. Mr. Cheung was elected as
the Hong Kong deputy to the 12th National People’s Congress in December
2012. Mr. Cheung was an independent non-executive director of Mei Ah
Entertainment Group Limited (stock code: 00391), a company listed on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Dr. CHONG Kin Ki, aged 69, was appointed as independent non-executive
director of the Company on 1 July 2016. Dr. Chong is also the chairman of
the remuneration committee of the Company, and a member of the audit
committee and nomination committee of the Company. Dr. Chong obtained
a Bachelor of Medicine and Bachelor of Surgery from the University of
Hong Kong in 1980. He became a Fellow of the Royal College of Surgeons
of Edinburgh in 1984, a Foundation Fellow of the Hong Kong Academy of
Medicine in 1993, a Foundation Fellow of the Hong Kong College of Surgeons
in 1993. Dr. Chong has been a private medical practitioner since 1989 and
become a Registered Specialist in General Surgery since 1993.

Mr. CHAN Wing Kee, GBM, GBS, OBE, JP, aged 78, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 1 July, 2017. He received a
Bachelor’s degree in Industrial Engineering in 1970 and he has over 51
years of experience in the textiles and garment manufacturing industry. Mr.
Chan joined Yangtzekiang Garment Limited (stock code: 294), a garment
manufacturer, in 1970 as was appointed as a managing director in 1987
and has been an executive director of which since then. He is an executive
director of YGM Trading Limited (stock code: 375), a marketer and builder
of international apparel brands in Asia. He is a Standing Committee Member
of The 10th, 11th and 12th of The Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference; Deputy of the 8th and 9th National People’s Congress of China;
Member of the Selection Committee of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region; Ex-member of Commission on Strategic Development of Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region; Ex-member of Economic Council of Macau
Special Administrative Region; Ex-member of the Hong Kong Textile Advisory
Board; Committee Ex-Member of the Preparatory Committee for Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region and Ex-Advisor of Hong Kong Affairs.
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EEREREBABZER

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

(continued)

Mr. Stanley Chung Wai Cheong, aged 55, was appointed as independent
non-executive director of the Company on 31 October 2020. Mr. Chung is
also the chairman of the audit committee of the Company, and a member of
the nomination committee and remuneration committee of the Company. Mr.
Chung graduated with a Bachelor of Commerce Degree from the University
of Melbourne in 1993. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and is a certified practicing accountant of CPA
Australia. Mr. Chung possesses over 28 years’ experience in accounting
and financial management. He had also served as the financial controller for
a number of listed companies in Hong Kong between 1997 and 2010, and
as the Chief Financial Officer in Asia for both private and public multinational
companies over the past decade. Mr. Chung was appointed as the financial
controller and company secretary of the Company from 1997 to 2001.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LO Ka Leong, aged 51, the company secretary of the Company
(“Company Secretary”), joined the Group in May 1999. Prior to that, he was
an accountant at an international accounting firm. Mr. Lo is a fellow member
of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He holds a Bachelor’s
Degree in Professional Accountancy from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong. He is in charge of the company secretarial work of the Group. He is
a non-executive director of KLHL, a 73.76% owned subsidiary listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Lo has taken no less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training during the year ended 31 December 2024 in
accordance with Rule 3.29 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) are pleased to present their annual
report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries, an associate and joint ventures are set out in Notes 44,
19 and 20 respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 can
be found in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” of this annual report,
which forms part of this Directors’ Report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group is exposed to various risks and uncertainties which are specific to
the Group and/or the industries in which the Group operates. These risks may
materially affect the Group’s business operations, financial condition, results
of operations and business prospects. The Group has identified the key risks
and uncertainties as follows:

Product defects

The products of the Group may contain defects that can only be detected
when the electronics systems into which they are incorporated are in use.
The Group could be exposed to significant liability claims in the event that its
products are found to be defective. While the Group has implemented sound
systems to monitor its products at various stages of its production processes,
no assurance can be given that the Group’s products are free of defects.
Any significant liability claims could have an adverse impact on the results of
operations and reputation of the Group.

Customer contracts

The Group typically enters into one-off purchase orders with its customers. As
such, the amount of purchase orders may vary significantly from time to time,
and it is difficult to forecast the amount of orders to be received by the Group
in the future. No assurance can be given that the Group’s customers will
continue to place purchase orders with it in the future in similar amounts to
prior periods, if at all. As a result, the results of operations of the Group may
vary significantly in the future.

Competitive industry

The business segments in which the Group operates are highly competitive.
No assurance can be given that the Group will be able to compete
successfully against its current competitors or emerging companies in
the future. If the Group fails to compete effectively, the Group’s results of
operations, financial condition and business prospects may be materially and
adversely affected.
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BUS' N ESS REVIEW (continued)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)

Recent global market fluctuations and economic conditions

The recent global market fluctuations and economic conditions have adversely
affected economies and businesses around the world. A slowdown in the
global economy, in particular, the PRC economy, could lead to a reduction in
demand for the Group’s products and may materially and adversely affect its
business operations, financial condition and results of operations.

The risks and uncertainties stated above are not meant to be exhaustive.
There may be other risks or uncertainties that are not known to the Group or
which may not be material now but could turn out to be material in the future.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to achieving environmental sustainability. The Group
endeavours to comply with the relevant laws and regulations regarding
environmental protection and adopt effective measures to achieve efficient use
of resources, waste reduction and energy saving. For instance, the in-house
manufacturing facilities of the Group operate in compliance with the relevant
environmental rules and regulations. The Group reviews its environmental
policies on a regular basis.

In accordance with Rule 13.91 and the ESG Reporting Guide contained
in Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules, the Company’s Environmental,
Social and Governance Report is available on our website on the same
date of publishment of this annual report. The English and Chinese
versions of the ESG Report are available on the Company’s website
at http://www.kingboard.com and the HKEX news’s website at
www.hkexnews.hk. You may access the ESG Report by clicking “Investor”
on the home page of our website, then selecting “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” under “Reports” and viewing them requires Adobe®
Reader® or browsing through the HKEX new’s website.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

The Group and its business operations are subject to various laws, rules and
regulations. The Company seeks to ensure adherence to such laws, rules
and regulations through various measures such as internal controls, approval
procedures, staff trainings and oversight of business operations at different
levels of the Group. The Board also monitors the Group’s policies and
practices on compliance with relevant laws, rules and regulations on a regular
basis.

So far as the Directors and senior management are aware, for the year
ended 31 December 2024, the Group has obtained the approvals, permits,
consents, licences and registrations required for its business and operations,
and there was no material breach of the relevant laws and regulations by our
Group that have a significant impact on the Group.
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BUS' N ESS REVIEW (continued)

Key Relationships with Stakeholders

The Company understands the importance of maintaining a good relationship
with its employees, customers and suppliers in order to operate in a
sustainable manner and to meet its immediate and long-term goals.

The Company strongly believes that employees are its most important
and valuable assets. In order to recognise the performance of and provide
incentives for its employees, the Group reviews its policies on remuneration
and benefits for its employees regularly to ensure that they are in line with the
market standard. The Group reviews and improves catering, residence and
recreational facilities and services to provide a pleasant living environment to
the employees regularly. The Group organises various recreational activities
for its staff to participate to maintain a close relationship with its employees.

The Company maintains sound relationships with its customers and suppliers
which enable the Group to foster long term business benefits. The Directors
and senior management of the Company endeavours to exchange business
ideas and updates of the Group with its customers and suppliers from time to
time. To maintain its competitiveness, the Group aims to deliver high quality
of products and services to its customers.

During the year, there was no material and significant dispute between the
Group and its employees, customers or suppliers.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 78.

An interim dividend of HK 40 cents per ordinary share amounting to
HK$443,325,000 was declared to the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) during the year. The directors recommend the payment of
a final dividend of HK54 cents and a special final dividend of HK46 cents
per ordinary share to the Shareholders on the register of members of the
Company on 17 June 2025, being the record date for determining the
entitlement of the Shareholders to the proposed final dividend, amounting to
HK$1,108,311,000 in aggregate, and the retention of the remaining profit in
the Company.

For the final dividend and special final dividend in respect of year ended 31
December 2024 proposed by the Directors and subject to the approval by
the Shareholders in the forthcoming annual general meeting, please refer to
Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

E BB )

HERBARATNEERE
ARARAHERE B RUEEER R
& - SARTH A VS DA R Ak e e R
RigmE  BAEEE -

ARRIAEREREGEERREENEE -
REBRERR  HBEE  FEEEHER
RENFHHEBIEE - BRTEMSRE -
AEETFHRERWETER  EENALFELER
MR AR - REEBRMEETEEANERRE
AEBERREETZHREIZHHERE - L
HEBEFEIRRE -

ARRIEEF REREERFRTOREE  BA
SEAREEREEBNE - ARAEENS
RERERNIREBERP MBI R ERIE
D XARRERP RHEEREEAEEN R
AR - BRTHEEN - AEBKAEFR
HEEZXNERMNRTE

FRAEEERERES  BEPRUMHERLES
R o

FERkDIK

AEBEHE-Z-_NMF+_A=+—HIEFE
CHEBHNETSEZRAIBRRN o

FRN - ANAREMARFRR (MR SIRP
HIRR B B AR mAR40B I - £%8/48443,325,000
B -cE=ECEEARN T -_AFA++LH
(NETRREREERREREERNIIA
HR) 25 AR R R & 2 B FR T R A 8=
% AR 54N R A R R BAR B B AR AR 46
Bl £FAEA1,108,311,0008 7T + WIRE
FIAESH TR AR AF] o

EEEZEREAGREREERRBFRY
FHENEBEE T -_NF+ A=+ —HLF
ERRRE KRR EFE  F2HR
BT RERMIFEI2 o



&

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEgWRE

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has a dividend policy, the objective of which is to allow
the Shareholders to participate in the Company’s profits whilst retaining
adequate reserves to sustain the Group’s future growth. The declaration,
form, frequency and amount of dividend paid by the Company must be in
accordance with relevant laws and regulations and subject to the articles of
association of the Company. In deciding whether to declare any dividend,
the Board will take into account a number of factors, including the financial
results, the distributable reserves, the operations and liquidity requirements,
and the current and future development plans of the Company. The Board
will review the dividend policy of the Company as appropriate from time to
time.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in investment properties of the Group during the
year are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

INVESTMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group held in aggregate HK$9,330 million
(2023: HK$11,987 million) investments in securities instruments, representing
approximately 10% (2023: 12%) of the total assets of the Group as at 31
December 2024. These securities investment consist of mostly shares listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) and bonds issued mainly by companies listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange. The Group acquired these securities instruments
through on-market purchases. The Group will from time to time monitor
the price movement of prices in securities and bonds and may adjust its
investment portfolio as and when appropriate.
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| NVESTM ENTS (continued)

The following table sets out the securities investments held by the Group
in respect of the same issuer which the Group considers to be relatively
important as at 31 December 2024. None of the value of the following (or
any other) securities investments of the Company, on a standalone or (where
applicable) aggregate basis reached 5% or more of the total assets of the
Company as at the end of the reporting period:

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

BRE =)

TR AKER T -_WFE+_—_A=1—~H
RA—FTARAENAEERREHEENE
FRE - BEREHR - ARRAT (HAEFME
) BEHFRENEEEFK(WER)EFHERNE
KRB EEERISRTIA L

*Accumulated
Fair value fair value loss
as at % to the up to
Number of % of Investment 31 December Group’s 31 December
Name of investments bond held bonds held cost 2024 total assets 2024
R=%-0%F ‘BE-RCRE
i=: =
KhR2ES KRZES =t-Ak hAEE =+-Bi
REER HE] BAl RENA AYE  BEEESM  RFATERR
'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Th Tén Tén Tén
Bond listed on Singapore Exchange Securties = EhERGERAT (mggx
Tradingv Limited (*SGX") by Guangzhou R&F i BORE : 777 R A
Properties Co., Ltd. (HK stock code: 2777): e (55 ) L %
() fired coupon rate of 6.5%/7.5% Payment-n- ) BEEEEMEM(EMLA])
kind (‘PIK’) per annum and maturity date in 658/7. SF LETEE 3
July 2025 (‘Group A Notes) BHATTCRFCA(ME
gl 116,012 8.3% 87,129 14,461 0.01 (773,268)
(i) fied coupon rate of 6.5%/7.5% PIK per () EEESENEH65E,/T. 5F
annum and maturtty date in July 2027 JETES HHHAZEC
(‘Group B Notes') ELA([BAZE]) 155,304 10.0% 1,026,572 42,745 0.04 (983,827)
(i) fived! coupon rate of 6.5%/7.5% PIK per (i) AEFSEMTM6SE /75F
annum and maturity date in July 2028 CEERE HHRAZEC
(‘Group C Notes”) FHACHEEE]) 73,216 4.7% 469,140 19,531 0.02 (449,609)
2,283,441 76,737 0.07 (2,206,704)
* Including the impairment loss recognised in profit or loss with gross amount of * BEREHEAD N ERPER 2 REEBEE

HK$702,158,000 during the reporting period, and the accumulated impairment loss
recognised in profit or loss with gross amount of HK$2,283,441,000.

In terms of bond investments, the Group retained a certain number of listed
bonds in order to generate stable and fixed interest income. The Group’s
bond portfolio (including those as set out in the above table) totalled a fair
value of approximately HK$705 million as at 31 December 2024 (and the
corresponding total investment cost was approximately HK$2,874 million).
During the year, interest income from bond investments amounted to
approximately HK$62 million representing an increase of approximately 59%
compared to approximately HK$39 million in 2023.
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I NVESTM ENTS (continued)

Guangzhou R&F Properties Co., Ltd (stock code: 2777) (“GRFP”) is principally
engaged in the properties sector.

Based on the announcements of GRFP dated 17 June 2022, 30 June 2022,
11 July 2022 and 14 July 2022, GRFP conducted the Consent Solicitations
in June 2022 to seek waivers of existing and potential consequential Defaults
or Events of Default under the Notes and to extend its debt maturity profile.
GRFP offered Eligible Holders of each Series of the Notes an opportunity to
consent to, among others, the extension of the maturity date of such Series
of the Notes, which will allow GRFP to improve its overall financial condition
and maintain a sustainable capital structure. In July 2022, GRFP completed
the above debt restructuring scheme.

During the year, the Group did not acquire or sell the above GRFP debt
instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income.

According to above announcements and the announcement of GRFP dated
12 August 2024, GRFP were not able to pay the bond interests due to its
adverse financial condition. Also, according to the announcement of GRFP
dated 19 December 2024, GRFP has announced its debt restructuring
plan for the above GRFP debt instruments. The Group had performed an
impairment assessment on the debt instruments held under the lifetime
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model. Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will
result from all possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default
and loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default),
with the assessment of the probability of default and loss given default being
based on historical data and forward-looking information. The estimation of
ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the weights, and also with
reference to the time value of money. In determining ECL on the Group’s
debt instruments for the period, the management had taken into accounts
factors including the downgrading of credit rating of the debt instruments by
the credit rating agencies, the defaults of the bond issuer in making payments
of interest and principal for its indebtedness, and forward-looking information
including the future macroeconomic conditions at places where the bond
issuer is operating.

The Group recognised impairment loss in profit or loss under ECL model
of HK$702,158,000 (2023: HK$2,283,000) on the above GRFP debt
instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income by reference
to exposures at default, recovery rate and adjustments for forward-looking
information.
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Based on the announcements of GRFP dated 17 June 2022, 30 June 2022
and 11 July 2022: (i) The Group A Notes consisting of the 2022 Notes, the
July 2022 Notes and the November 2022 Notes (“GRFP 6.5% cash/7.5%
PIK senior notes due 2025”) were issued by GRFP in July 2022, and due in
July 2025. The GRFP 6.5% cash/7.5% PIK senior notes due 2025 are listed
on the SGX and carry an interest of 6.5% cash/7.5% PIK per annum and
interests are payable semi-annually. The net proceeds from the GRFP 6.5%
cash/7.5% PIK senior notes due 2025 were mainly for refinancing medium
to long-term debt that will be due within one year and offshore refinancing;
(i) The Group B Notes consisting of the 2023 Notes, the February 2023
Notes and the August 2023 Notes (“GRFP 6.5% cash/7.5% PIK senior
notes due 2027”) were issued by GRFP in July 2022, and due in July 2027.
The GRFP 6.5% cash/7.5% PIK senior notes due 2027 are listed on SGX
and carry an interest of 6.5% cash/7.5% PIK per annum and interests are
payable semiannually. The net proceeds from the GRFP 6.5% cash/7.5%
PIK senior notes due 2027 were mainly for refinancing debt and for general
corporate purposes of GRFP and offshore refinancing; (i) The Group C Notes
consisting of the February 2024 Notes, the March 2024 Notes, the July 2024
Notes and the September 2024 Notes (“GRFP 6.5% cash/7.5% PIK senior
notes due 2028”) were issued by GRFP in July 2022, and due in July 2028.
The GRFP 6.5% cash/7.5% PIK senior notes due 2028 are listed on SGX and
carry an interest of 6.5% cash/7.5% PIK per annum and interests are payable
semiannually. The net proceeds from the GRFP 6.5% cash/7.5% PIK senior
notes due 2028 were mainly for refinancing medium to long-term debt that
will be due within one year and offshore refinancing.

According to the 2024 annual results announcement of GRFP, the net debt
to total equity ratio of GRFP increased to 348% at 31 December 2024 from
262% at 31 December 2023.
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I NVESTM ENTS (continued)

For further information of the business and financial performance of the above
company, please refer to the report and announcements referred in the above
paragraphs. Please also refer to the respective publications of the above
company from time to time for updates on their prospects and performances.
The report and announcements referred above do not form part of this annual
report and do not constitute any publication issued by, or any opinion, advice
or view of, the Company or any of the Directors.

The Company’s equity instruments consist primarily of listed shares of a
cluster of wide-ranging primarily blue-chip listed issuers as at 31 December
2024. During the Period, the dividend income from equity instrument at fair
value through profit or loss is HK$490,637,000, and the amount of loss on
fair value changes of equity instruments at fair value through profit or loss
is HK$43,826,000. The Company’s investment strategy of these equity
investment is to make mid- to long-term investments in the prospects of
primarily reputable sizeable issuers on recognisable stock exchange for
creating values for the Group and its shareholders, with the risks involved
balanced and moderated by the diversity of the portfolio and the corporate
governance and disclosures of such issuers. There was no equities securities
investment in an investee company with a value of 5 per cent. or more of the
Group’s total assets as at 31 December 2024.

The Group’s Investment Strategy for These Investments

Our investment portfolio is comprised mainly of listed securities of a variety
of blue-chip listed companies and debt securities issued by creditable
listed companies in Hong Kong. Our investment objective is to generate
stable interest and dividend income and create value of the Group and its
shareholders.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in Note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements during the year in the issued share capital of the
Company are set out in Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.
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TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of Company’s shares.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SHARES

During the year, there was no purchase, sale or redemption by the Company
or any of its subsidiaries of their listed securities on the Stock Exchange.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

The Company'’s reserves available for distribution to the Shareholders as at
31 December 2024 comprised the retained profits of HK$124,116,000 (2023:
retained profits of HK$109,158,000).

In addition to the retained profits of the Company, the share premium of the
Company is also available for distribution to the Shareholders provided that
the Company will be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business immediately following the date on which any such
distribution is proposed to be paid.

At 31 December 2024, the sum of the retained profits and the share premium
of the Company amounted to HK$6,743,633,000 (2023: HK$6,728,675,000).
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing (Chairman)

Mr. Chang Wing Yiu (Managing Director)
Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan

Mr. Ho Yin Sang

Mr. Cheung Ka Shing

Ms. Ho Kin Fan

Mr. Chen Maosheng

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Mr. Cheung Ming Man

Dr. Chong Kin Ki

Mr. Chan Wing Kee

Mr. Stanley Chung Wai Cheong

At the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, each of Mr.
Cheung Kwok Wing, Mr. Ho Yin Sang and Ms. Ho Kin Fan, being executive
directors and Mr. Cheung Ming Man, being independent non-executive
directors, will retire from directorship by rotation and will be eligible for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company in
accordance with Article 82 and Article 92 of the Company’s articles of
association. Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing, Mr. Ho Yin Sang and Ms. Ho Kin Fan,
being executive directors, and Mr. Cheung Ming Man, being independent
non-executive directors, will offer themselves for re-election.

Biographical details of the above Directors are set out in the section “Directors’
and Senior Management’s Biographies”.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company has a service contract which is not terminable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

At 31 December 2024, the interests of the Directors and their associates
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFQO”)), as recorded in the register maintained by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, were as follows:

Long position

(a)

rRE

Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each of the Company (“Shares”) (a)

Name of Director

EEHR

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing (Note 1)
SR B9 8 4 A (B EE)

Mr. Chang Wing Yiu (Note 2)
B RS A (M5E2)

Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan
REBLE

Mr. Ho Yin Sang (Note 3)

A A 5 A (FFES)

Mr. Cheung Ka Shing

RE L

Mr. Cheung Ming Man
SRERGUE A

Dr. Chong Kin Ki (Note 4)
EEREHE A (H5T4)

Mr. Chan Wing Kee
BROKILSE A4

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Capacity

REEME

Beneficial owner/interest of spouse
EnlEAA TR

Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse
EnlEAA TR

Beneficial owner

BnEBA

Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse
EnlEAA TR

Beneficial owner

BnEBA

Beneficial owner

BnEBA

Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse
EnlEAA TR

Beneficial owner

BnEBA

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

ESzROER

W-Z-NE+-f=+—H B=ERFS2
BtEe A LR ANA &) R EARH
HRE &) ([ 5 R EAEIE0I]) EXVER) 2 Bt »
R M EREST  BERRARIRIEES R
ERHIE21ETFE 2 B MATEC 8k 2 s
BIE E BT AEBRITES
EAg AR R KR ST

Number
of issued
Shares held

FRiGE 81T
igny-4=

10,267,405

9,670,228

5,136,500

1,003,200

1,085,500

35,000

110,000

285,000

EE(EERESFR

%
L HHIREST A

XA EREEIIBRIZEER(TR
% 1)

Approximate
percentage of
the issued
share capital

of the Company
EARRH
ERITREZ
BABEDH

0.926

0.863

0.463

0.091

0.098

0.003

0.010

0.026
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

(continued)

Long position (continued)

(a)

Notes:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each of the Company (“Shares”)
(continued)

Out of the 10,267,405 Shares, 9,981,905 Shares were held by Mr. Cheung Kwok
Wing and 285,500 Shares were held by his spouse.

Out of the 9,570,228 Shares, 8,899,488 Shares were held by Mr. Chang Wing Yiu
and 670,740 Shares were held by his spouse.

Out of the 1,003,200 Shares, 655,000 Shares were held by Mr. Ho Yin Sang and
348,200 Shares were held by his spouse.

Out of the 110,000 Shares, 90,000 Shares were held by Dr. Chong Kin Ki and
20,000 Shares were held by his spouse.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

(continued)

EECRDER

Long position (continued) RE@®)

(b)

Share options of the Company (“Share Options™)

(b) FARBRE(HERED

Approximate
percentage of

Interest in the issued

underlying share capital

Shares of the Company

pursuant as at the

to the end of the

Name of Director Capacity Share Options Reporting Period

EARRAH

REBREIRE RIREER

REBRGH ERITREZ

EEpR ERMtE Ew BHEDH

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing Beneficial owner 4,000,000 0.361
SREIER BnEBA

Mr. Chang Wing Yiu Beneficial owner 4,000,000 0.361
kBt BnEBA

Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan Beneficial owner 4,000,000 0.361
REELE Em=EAA

Mr. Ho Yin Sang (Note) Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse 7,350,000 0.663

fa A 5 A (B EE) EnlEAAN/ Bk

Mr. Cheung Ka Shing Beneficial owner 4,000,000 0.361
SRR EE BnlEBA

Ms. Ho Kin Fan Beneficial owner 3,440,000 0.310
25+ BnlEBA

Mr. Chen Maosheng Beneficial owner 660,000 0.060
PRIX R e BnlEBA

Mr. Cheung Ming Man Beneficial owner 300,000 0.027
SREABI AL BnlEBA

Dr. Chong Kin Ki Beneficial owner 300,000 0.027
GTERIEEE A BnEBA

Mr. Stanley Chung Wai Cheong Beneficial owner 300,000 0.027
EEERE BEanlEBA

Mr. Chan Wing Kee Beneficial owner 300,000 0.027
PR SE A BanEBA

Note: Out of the 7,350,000 Share Options, 4,000,000 were held by Mr. Ho Yin MEE © RE%7,350,00010 B REE E & - E.th 4,000,000

Sang and 3,350,000 Share Options were held by his spouse. FERRHE YR ) R A SE E AR A BB ¢ 13,350,000

BRI AR A -
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

(continued)

Long position (continued)

(c)

Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each (“KLHL Shares”) in KLHL, a

non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company

Name of Director

EEpR

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing
SREIER

Mr. Chang Wing Yiu
ERK RS A

Mr. Ho Yin Sang

fal A e A

Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan
REE A

Mr. Cheung Ka Shing
SRR A

Ms. Ho Kin Fan
25+

Dr. Chong Kin Ki
HTERIEEE A

Capacity

EmEitE

Beneficial owner
Em=EAA
Beneficial owner
Em=EAA
Beneficial owner
Em=EAA
Beneficial owner
Em=EAA
Beneficial owner
E=EAA
Beneficial owner
Em=EAA
Interest of spouse
iRt

BEHEERRAH

EECRDER

RE®)

() FARF2EHAMEAIRRTBEER
EREEIBRI2EER(EEEE

AR )

Number of
issued KLHL
Shares held
e 817
EEERENR
ROEE

1,741,500

11,820,000

809,000

5,000,000

379,000

200,000

50,000

Approximate
percentage
of the issued
share capital
of KLHL
IHEEERER
ERITREZ
BHEDH
0.056

0.379

0.026

0.160

0.012

0.006

0.002
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

(continued)

Long position (continued)

(d) Share options of the KLHL (“KLHL Share Options”)

Name of Director

ESpR

Mr. Ho Yin Sang
fa] A e A

Capacity

e

Interest of spouse
BB

(e) Non-voting deferred shares of HK$1 each in the share
capital of Kingboard Laminates Limited, a non-wholly owned

subsidiary of the Company

Name of Director

EEHR

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing
SREIE e A4

Mr. Chang Wing Yiu
xRS

Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan
REE A

Mr. Ho Yin Sang

Al B S A4

Capacity

Rt E

Beneficial owner
E=EAA
Beneficial owner
EnEEA
Beneficial owner
E=EAA
Beneficial owner

BHEBEBA

Note:  None of the non-voting deferred shares of Kingboard Laminates Limited are
held by the Group. Such deferred shares carry no rights to receive notice
of or to attend or vote at any general meeting of Kingboard Laminates
Limited and have practically no rights to dividends or to participate in any

distribution on winding up.

Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors nor their
associates had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
as at 31 December 2024. Further details of the share options of the
Company and its subsidiaries and the Directors’ interests in them are
available in the section headed “Share Options” in, and note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements of, this Report.
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SHARE OPTIONS

Particulars of the share option schemes of the Company and KLHL (including
their vesting and exercise period) are set out in Note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The following table discloses movements in the Share Options under the
Scheme during the year:

BEHEERRAA

BRAE

ARBRRBREERBRE SIS (REER
BEARATES) SR ER A MBS MRMES2 -

TREEZEATERENFRZEE

Outstanding Outstanding
as at Granted Exercised as at
1 January during during 31 December
2024 the year the year 2024
R-E-mF R-B-NF
-B-A +=A=t-8
e RATHE RERRH RERTTHRE fel RATHE

Category 1: Directors F1EER
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing REKSE 4,000,000 - - 4,000,000
Mr. Chang Wing Yiu S 4,000,000 - - 4,000,000
Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan REERE 4,000,000 - - 4,000,000
Mr. Ho Yin Sang fAIRAAE 4,000,000 - - 4,000,000
Mr. Cheung Ka Shing SRR E 4,000,000 - - 4,000,000
Ms. Ho Kin Fan RSt 3,440,000 - - 3,440,000
Mr. Chen Maosheng BRI S 660,000 - - 660,000
Mr. Cheung Ming Man Eﬂﬂ@(?ﬁi 300,000 - - 300,000
Dr. Chong Kin Ki TR B A 300,000 - - 300,000
Mr. Chan Wing Kee ﬁmﬁ%i 300,000 - - 300,000
Mr. Stanley Chung Wai Cheong BEREXE 300,000 - - 300,000
25,300,000 - - 25,300,000
Category 2: Employees (Note) $288 - BE(FH:E) 7,110,000 - - 7,110,000
32,410,000 - - 32,410,000

Note:  Including 3,350,000 share options held by Ms. Cheung Wai Kam, who is an
associate of Director by virtue of her relationship with several executive Directors of
the Company. In addition to being the spouse of Mr. Ho Yin Sang, a Director of the
Company, she is also the mother of Ms. Ho Kin Fan and the sister of Mr. Cheung
Kwok Wing. During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023, an aggregate of
3,760,000 share options were granted to employees who are neither a Director, chief
executive nor substantial shareholder of the Company nor their respective associates.

BIERES L 135 A #3,350,00017 BEALHE - 3R
FEELTERARQAETHTESNERMAE
EOBHBA - BRANARESMARELENTRSE
N WIRAMRZZTHNEERRELELEEN
ik e REE-T - —FR=-FT-=F+=A
=+—HIFE - & F£3,760,0001 B A& e T 1%
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SHAR E O PT'O N S (continued)

The following table discloses movements in the KLHL Share Options during
the year:

Outstanding
as at

1 January
2024
R-ZE-mE
o

e RATHE

BEREREELEE
GES

Directors and employees of KLHL 72,800,000

(Note)

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

B

TREEZEEERBEENFN2EE

Outstanding

Granted Exercised as at
during during 31 December

the year the year 2024
R-B-NE

t=A=+-H”

RERRH RERTTHRE iel RATHE
- - 72,800,000

Note: Including the spouse of Mr. Ho Yin Sang, a Director of the Company, in respect of
10,800,000 KLHL Share Options. The spouse of Mr. Ho Yin Sang is an employee of
KLHL.

Save as disclosed, no share option was granted, exercised, cancelled or had
lapsed under the Company’s or its subsidiaries share option schemes during
the year under review.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Other than the options as disclosed above, at no time during the year was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENT OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected Transactions” in this
report and in Note 43 to the consolidated financial statements, (a) there is no
transaction, arrangement or contract of significant subsisting during or at the
end of 31 December 2024 in which a Director or a an entity connected with
a Director is or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly; (o) there
is no contract of significance between the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
and the controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries;
(c) there is no contract of significance for the provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries by the controlling shareholder of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 December 2024, the register of substantial Shareholders maintained
by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows that, other than
the interests disclosed above in respect of certain Directors, the following
Shareholders had notified the Company of relevant interests or short positions
in the issued share capital of the Company.

Name of shareholder Capacity

REREMH EEtE

Hallgain Management Limited (“Hallgain”) (Note) ~ Beneficial owner
Hallgain Management Limited ([Hallgain ) (Fi{3%) BB A

FMR LLC Investment manager
WEKE

Fidelity Puritan Trust Investment manager
WEKE

(] The letter “L” denotes a long position.

Note:  As at 31 December 2024: (i) no shareholder of Hallgain was entitled to exercise, or
control the exercise of, directly or indirectly, one-third or more of the voting power at
general meetings of Hallgain, and Hallgain and its directors were not accustomed to
act in accordance with any shareholder’s direction; and (i) Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing,
being a Director, was also a director of Hallgain.

Other than as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified of any
other relevant interests or short positions in the issued share capital of the
Company as at 31 December 2024 which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company had adopted and complied with the code provisions as set out
in Part 2 of Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31
December 2024.

For further information on the Group’s corporate governance practices during
the year, please refer to the Corporate Governance Report in this annual
report.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

In 2024, the Group had the following non-exempt continuing connected
transactions (which are also related party transactions) within the meaning of
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:

(@)

(b)

KHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework Agreement

On 31 October 2023, the Company and Hallgain entered into
a supply framework agreement (the “KHL/Hallgain Purchase
Framework Agreement”) pursuant to which the Group agreed to
purchase certain materials of the production of PCBs such as copper
balls, drill bits and machineries for production of PCBs from Hallgain
Group from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2026. Under the KHL/
Hallgain Purchase Framework Agreement, the amount of materials or
machineries to be purchased is not fixed but is to be determined and
agreed between the parties from time to time. The actual quantity,
specification and price (with reference to the prevailing market
price) of the products under the KHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework
Agreement will be subject to the individual orders placed by the Group
with the Hallgain Group. The proposed annual cap for the three years
ending 31 December 2026 are HK$884,000,000, HK$911,000,000
and HK$938,000,000, respectively. Please refer to the Company’s
joint announcement dated 31 October 2023 for further information.

The transactions contemplated under the KHL/Hallgain Purchase
Framework Agreement constituted continuing connected transactions
for the Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on
the basis that Hallgain is a substantial Shareholder and hence a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.

KLHL/Hallgain Supply Framework Agreement

On 31 October 2023, KLHL and Hallgain entered into a supply
framework agreement (the “KLHL/Hallgain Supply Framework
Agreement”) pursuant to which the Group agreed to supply copper
and laminates to the Hallgain Group from 1 January 2024 to 31
December 2026. Under the KLHL/Hallgain Supply Framework
Agreement, the amount of copper and laminates to be supplied is
not fixed but is to be determined and agreed between the parties
from time to time. The actual quantity, specification and price (with
reference to the prevailing market price) of the products under the
KLHL/Hallgain SFA will be subject to the individual orders placed
by the Hallgain Group with the Group. The proposed annual cap for
the three years ending 31 December 2026 are HK$563,000,000,
HK$580,000,000 and HK$597,000,000, respectively. Please refer
to the Company’s joint announcement dated 31 October 2023 for
further information.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)

(c)

KLHL/Hallgain Supply Framework Agreement (continued)

The transactions contemplated under the KLHL//Hallgain Supply
Framework Agreement constituted continuing connected transactions
for the Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on
the basis that Hallgain, through its interests in KHL, is a substantial
shareholder of the Company, and hence a connected person of the
Company under the Listing Rules.

KLHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework Agreement

On 31 October 2023, KLHL and Hallgain entered into a purchase
framework agreement (the “KLHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework
Agreement”) pursuant to which the Group agreed to purchase and
machineries from the Hallgain Group for a term of three years from
1 January 2024 to 31 December 2026. Under the Hallgain Purchase
Framework Agreement, the amount to be purchased is not fixed
but is to be determined and agreed between the parties from time
to time. The actual quantity, specification and price (with reference
to the prevailing market price) of the machineries under the KLHL/
Hallgain Purchase Framework Agreement will be subject to the
individual orders placed by the Group with the Hallgain Group. The
proposed annual cap for the three years ending 31 December 2026
are HK$249,000,000, HK$256,000,000 and HK$264,000,000,
respectively. Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 31
October 2023 for further information.

The transactions contemplated under the KLHL/Hallgain Purchase
Framework Agreement constituted continuing connected transactions
for the Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on
the basis that Hallgain, through its interests in KHL, is a substantial
Shareholder, and hence a connected person of the Company under
the Listing Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The annual caps and actual transaction amounts of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed above for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set
out in the table below.

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

BERXF @)

TR EXFABRBEZBE—_T_MNE+ A
=t REFENBERERZ2FELERR

e A
BERR ST -

Amounts Annual caps
X FELR
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHER FHET
() Purchase of copper balls and drill bits from (i) ZA&EEREEIEEME,HallgainiE E1E 851,667 884,000
the Hallgain Group by the Group under e {5 MIHallgain £ [ 5% B R Bk & i
the KHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework Uzl
Agreement
(i) Sales of coppers and laminates to the (i) BEEEEREEBEEEEE 421,333 563,000
Hallgain Group by the KLHL Group under 1R Hallgaintt FEAEZE #7557
the KLLHL/Hallgain Supply Framework Hallgain &< [ $4 & £ [z 7 i E R
Agreement
(i) Purchase of machineries from the Hallgain (i) EEEER EERBEREERE 83,841 249,000
Group by the KLHL Group under the 1R Hallgainis B 1E2E %7
KLHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework Hallgain s B % B # 8%
Agreement

The amounts of the above transactions did not exceed the corresponding
annual caps for the financial year ended 31 December 2024 as announced
by the Group.

The independent non-executive directors had reviewed the above continuing
connected transactions and confirmed that the transactions have been
entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group, on
normal commercial terms and that the terms thereof and the relevant annual
caps thereto are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and
the Shareholder as a whole.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an
unqualified letter containing the auditor’s findings and conclusions in respect
of the continuing connected transactions for the year ended 31 December
2024 disclosed by the Group from pages 40 to 42 of this annual report in
accordance with Listing Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the
auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.
The auditors has confirmed that nothing has come to its attention that causes
it to believe that the continuing connected transactions entered into by the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024

(@) have not been approved by the board;

(b) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Group;

() were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the
relevant agreements governing the transactions; and

(d) have exceeded the cap.
The Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the disclosure

requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect
of transactions during the year ended 31 December 2024.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group does not have any plans for material investments and capital assets
as at the date of this report.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merits, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
Directors and eligible employees. Details of the scheme are set out in Note 32
to the consolidated financial statements.

The remuneration paid to a senior management (excluding the directors)
during the year ended 31 December 2024 was within the following band:

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

HENBUR

FHEZBEaREAREREZRE  EELT
YEBE NI B T2 HBeR -

FIEZEQE2ZARAKEEE EES
ZREARAEBRZ TSR BRERREEEZ
B -

RARIERMBRESE  EREHEENEE
BiEE 2 52E) - FHEIFBE N R A M ISk
2332
HE-Z-_WF+-_A=+—HLFE  Zft
TaREBRE(TBEESE) 2HFMNFUTEH
:

Number of senior

Bands management
gHE SREEEAH
HK$2,000,001 or above 2,000,001 T3k A 1

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any other material
acquisitions and disposal of subsidiaries, associated companies or joint
ventures for the year ended 31 December 2024,

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles
of association although there are no restrictions against such rights under
company laws in the Cayman Islands.

PLEDGE OF THE GROUP’S ASSETS

The Group pledged certain of its assets as securities for banking facilities.
As at 31 December 2024, the pledged assets of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$6.7 billion.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the knowledge
of the Directors, as at the date of this annual report, there was a sufficient
public float of the Company’s issued shares as required under the Listing
Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

According to the articles of association of the Company, every Director,
agent, auditor, secretary or other officer for the time being and from time to
time of the Company (and the personal representatives of those persons, as
the case may be) shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets
and funds of the Company against all actions, proceedings, costs, charges,
expenses, losses, damages or liabilities incurred or sustained by him in or
about the conduct of the Company’s business or affairs or in the execution or
discharge of his duties, powers, authorities or discretions, including, without
prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, any costs, expenses, losses or
liabilities incurred by him in defending (whether successfully or otherwise) any
civil proceedings concerning the Company or its affairs in any court whether
in the Cayman Islands or elsewhere.

Appropriate insurance covering for the Directors’ and senior management’s

liabilities arising out of activities of the Group has been arranged by the
Company.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate sales or purchases attributable to the Group’s
five largest customers combined or suppliers combined were less than 30%
of the Group’s sales or purchases respectively.

SUBSEQUENT EVENT

There is no important event affecting the Company that has occurred since
31 December 2024.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Group, or existed during
the year under review.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting to re-appoint
Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Cheung Kwok Wing
CHAIRMAN

24 March 2025
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The Board recognises the importance of corporate governance practice of a
listed company. It is in the interest of the stakeholders and shareholders for
a listed company to operate in a transparent manner with the adoptions of
various self-regulatory policies, procedures and monitoring mechanisms and
a clear definition of accountability of directors and management.

The Company had adopted and complied with the code provisions as set out
in Part 2 of Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31
December 2024.

In addition to applying the principles in the CG Code, which is mandatory
in nature, the Board also observes certain recommended best practices
(“Recommended Best Practices”) contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules and has adopted certain Recommended Best Practices which are
suitable to the Company’s current situation. The Board will continuously
enhance the corporate governance standard of the Company by reference to
the Recommended Best Practices whenever suitable and appropriate.

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules (the*Model Code”).
Having made specific enquiry of all directors, each director has confirmed that
he or she had complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
and the code of conduct regarding director’s securities transactions adopted
by the Company throughout the year ended 31 December 2024.
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DIRECTORS

The Board

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Group
and is entrusted with the responsibility to supervise the management
of the business and the affairs of the Group. The Group has adopted
internal guidelines in setting forth matters that require the Board'’s
approval. Apart from its statutory responsibilities, the Board approves
the Group’s strategic plan, annual budget, key operational initiatives,
major investments and funding decisions. It also reviews the Group’s
financial performance, identifies principal risks of the Group’s business
and ensures implementation of appropriate systems to manage these
risks. Daily business operations and administrative functions of the
Group are delegated to the management.

The Board meets regularly and as warranted by particular
circumstances. Notices and agendas are prepared by the Company
Secretary as delegated by the Chairman of the Board and distributed
to the Board members within reasonable time before the meetings.
Relevant meeting papers are also sent to Directors well before the
meetings, informing them of the background and giving explanation
on matters to be brought before the Board. All Directors are given the
opportunity to include matters in the agendas for Board meetings. To
ensure the Directors make decisions objectively and in the interests of
the Company, the Company’s articles of association provide that any
Director shall abstain from voting on any resolutions in which he or his
associates is/are materially interested nor be counted in the quorum
of the meeting. Draft and final versions of the minutes of Board
meetings are sent to all Directors for their comment and records
respectively within a reasonable time after the Board meetings and
are kept by the Company Secretary.
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DI RECTO RS (continued)

The Board (continued)

During the year under review, the Board had held four meetings
and the Company held an annual general meeting. The Directors’
attendance at Board meetings, Board committees’ meetings and the
general meeting was as follows:

Board

Meeting

£

]

Number of Meeting R EE 4

Executive Directors BITES

Cheung Kwok Wing (Chaiman) RER(FE) 4

Chang Wing Yiu (Managing Director) OkER(EEEE) 4

Cheung Kwong Kwan REE 4

Ho Yin Sang fRAE 4

Cheung Ka Shing RHRK 4

Ho Kin Fan s 4

Chen Maosheng 531 4
Independent non-executive Directors B FHTES

Cheung Ming Man KA 4

Chong Kin Ki e 4

Chan Wing Kee Bk 4

Stanley Chung Wai Cheong ERE 4

Note:

General meeting refers to the Company’s annual general meeting held on 27 May
2024.

A.

Audit
Committee
Meeting
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DI RECTO RS (continued)

The Board (continued)

The Directors have observed the importance of directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs at a more regular interval. After
consulting all Directors, Board meetings have been preliminarily
scheduled to be held at quarterly interval and no less than four times
in the coming year.

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in code
provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

During the year under review, the Board met once to review the
Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training
and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance with the
Model Code and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

Division and responsibilities

During the year under review, the Board was headed by the Chairman
whose role differs from that of the Managing Director of the Company.
The roles of the Chairman and Managing Director were segregated
and are not exercised by the same individual.

The duties of the Chairman include (but not limited to) the following:

o scheduling meetings that enable the Board to perform
its duties and responsibilities and to ensure all key and
appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely
manner without interfering the Company’s operations;

o preparing meeting agenda after consultation with the
Managing Director;

° exercising control over quality, quantity and timeliness of the
flow of information between Management and the Board and
to ensure decisions are made on a fully informed basis by the
Directors; and

o assisting in ensuring compliance with the Listing Rules and
the Company’s guidelines on corporate governance.

The Managing Director was mainly responsible for the overall strategic
planning and day-to-day management of the Group.
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DI RECTO RS (continued)

Board composition

The Board currently comprises eleven members, seven of whom are
executive Directors and four of whom are independent non-executive
Directors who are expressly identified in all corporate communications
that disclose the names of the Directors. One of the independent non-
executive Directors possesses appropriate professional qualifications
(or accounting or related financial management expertise) as required
by the Listing Rules. The composition of the Board as of the report
date is as follows:

Executive Directors

Cheung Kwok Wing (Chairman)
Chang Wing Yiu (Managing Director)
Cheung Kwong Kwan

Ho Yin Sang

Cheung Ka Shing

Ho Kin Fan

Chen Maosheng

Independent non-executive Directors
Cheung Ming Man

Chong Kin Ki

Chan Wing Kee

Stanley Chung Wai Cheong

Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan is a cousin of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing.
Mr. Chang Wing Yiu and Mr. Ho Yin Sang are brothers-in-law of
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing. Mr. Cheung Ka Shing is the son of Mr.
Cheung Kwok Wing, the nephew of Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan and
the nephew-in-law of Mr. Chang Wing Yiu and Mr. Ho Yin Sang. Ms.
Ho Kin Fan is the daughter of Mr. Ho Yin Sang, niece of Mr. Cheung
Kwok Wing, Mr. Chang Wing Yiu and Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan and
the cousin of Mr. Cheung Ka Shing.

Save as disclosed, no member of the Board shares any relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material or relevant
relationships) with another member of the Board.

All directors shall be subject to retirement by rotation at the annual
general meetings of the Company.

During the year under review, the independent non-executive
Directors were not appointed for specific terms but are subject to
retirement by rotation and are eligible for re-election.
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DI RECTO RS (continued)

Board composition (continued)

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
as required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board also
considers that the independent non-executive Directors remain
independent.

The Board comprises Directors who collectively provide core
competencies, sales and marketing experience and technical
knowledge in laminates, printed circuit boards, property developments
and chemical products, administration and management experience
in the PRC factories, financial and accounting skills. The Company
believes that the current Board with a balance of skills and experience
is appropriate for effective decision making, taking into account the
nature and scope of the operations of the Company.

Appointment, re-election and removal

The Company’s articles of association set out a formal, considered
and transparent procedure for the appointment of new Directors to
the Board. Any Director appointed by the Board either to fill a casual
vacancy or as addition to the Board, shall retire and be eligible for
re-appointment at the next following general meeting (in the case
of filing a casual vacancy) or annual general meeting (in the case of
an additions to the Board) after appointment. The appointment of
Directors are not fixed for a specified term, but at every annual general
meeting one-third of the directors, including the Chairman, shall be
subject to retirement by rotation and re-appointment by Shareholders.
The Directors appointed by the Board who are subject to retirement
and re-appointment as mentioned above shall be taken into account
in calculating the total number of Directors for the time being but shall
not be taken into account in calculating the number of Directors who
are to retire by rotation. All Directors eligible for re-appointment shall
have their biographical details made available to the Shareholders to
enable them to make an informed decision on their re-appointment.
Any appointment, resignation, removal or re-designation of Director
shall be timely disclosed to the Shareholders by announcement and
the reasons given by the Director for his resignation shall be included
in the announcement.

Responsibilities of Directors

The Company and the Board require each Director to keep abreast of
his responsibilities as a director of the Company and of the conduct,
business activities and development of the Company. Every Director
is required to devote sufficient time and involvement in the affairs of
the Board and the material matters of the Company and to serve
the Board with such degree of care and due diligence given his own
expertise, qualification and professionalism.
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DI RECTO RS (continued)

Responsibilities of Directors (continued)

Every newly appointed Director shall receive a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment. All
Directors shall be updated and briefed on continuing professional
development as is necessary to ensure that they have a proper
understanding of the operations and the business of the Company
and that they are fully aware of their responsibilities under the
applicable laws and regulations. The Board has a procedure for
Directors, either individually or as a group, in the furtherance of their
duties, to take independent professional advice, if necessary, at
the Company’s expenses to enable and facilitate the Directors to
make well considered decisions. Appropriate insurance coverage for
Directors’ and officers’ liability has been arranged against possibility of
legal action to be taken against the Directors and the management.

According to code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, Directors should
participate in appropriate continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

During the year under review, the Directors also participated in the
following trainings:

Name of Directors =R
Executive Directors HITEE
Cheung Kwok Wing (Chairman) REIR(F/E)
Chang Wing Yiu (Managing Director) oK (EE )
Cheung Kwong Kwan REE

Ho Yin Sang A

Cheung Ka Shing RE

Ho Kin Fan 2%

Chen Maosheng 55321
Independent non-executive Directors BUFHTES
Cheung Ming Man REAH

Chong Kin Ki THERE

Chan Wing Kee BRoKIE

Stanley Chung Wai Cheong ERE

The Directors confirmed that they have complied with A.6.5 of the CG
Code on Directors’ training for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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A. DIRECTORS (continued)

Supply of and access to information

The management of the Company has an obligation to furnish the
Board with complete, adequate and appropriate information in
such form and such quality in a timely manner so as to enable them
to make an informed decision and to discharge their duties and
responsibilities as Directors of the Company. All the Directors are
given separate and independent access to the Company’s senior
management.

All the Directors are given separate and independent access to
the Company Secretary, whose role includes ensuring that Board
procedures are observed and followed, and that applicable rules and
regulations are complied with. The Company Secretary attends all the
meetings of the Board and Board committees and is responsible for
drafting minutes and keeping minutes records which can be accessed
by any Director for inspection.

Board independence

The Board reviewed and considered that the following key features or
mechanisms under Company’s governance structure are effective in
ensuring that independent views and input are provided to the Board.

Board and committees’ °
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BYFBTESEY

Independent non-executive
Directors’ remuneration

BykBTESHE
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The Company has been steered by a Board comprising more than one-
third of independent non-executive Directors. The Board comprises seven
executive Directors and four independent non-executive Directors.
AARBBUIIRTESH=9 22— U LNEEZEEE - EEFHEBHNT
EEREOEHEIIENTESTEX -

Members of all board committees are independent non-executive Directors.

EESZEENBHRBEIIFRITES

The directors’ nomination policy of the Company sets a maximum tenure of
nine consecutive years for independent non-executive Directors unless the
Board determines that such Director is still independent.
RATINEFRBBERTE - BN TESNTNERAREENT - RIE
EEERRAESNMEEIAL -

Independent non-executive Directors receive fixed fee(s) for their role as
members of the Board and Board committee(s) as appropriate.
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DI RECTO RS (continued)

Board independence (continued)

Appointment of independent
non-executive Directors

ZEEBUFHITES

Annual review of independent
non-executive Directors’
independence

BUFHITESB UM 2 FERH

Conflict management

BRER

Professional advice

BEHEERRAH

A. BEEy
EEenNBIME)

In assessing suitability of the candidates, the Nomination Committee will
review their profiles, including their qualification and time commitment, having
regard to the Board’s composition, the Directors’ skill matrix, the list of
selection criteria approved by the Board, its nomination policy and the board
diversity policy.

R ERE AN G BN  REZESHREBEESSNENX  ESMREE
B EERIENTERERNEE  HREEBEREFEXNEZTIBER - &
ERENERE  BRERENERERIRANRR -

The Board assessed the annual independence confirmation received from
each independent non-executives Director, having regard to the criteria under
Rule 3.13 of the Main Board Listing Rules.
EZGEAEEMEMRAEIASGNEL - FHESEIIFNTEZNFE
B HERE -

The Articles of Association of the Company and internal guidelines of the
Company provide guidance to the Directors on avoiding conflicts of interest
and on the circumstances under which appropriate action(s) shall be taken by
the director in conflict.
RATHEEERBRIRA AR RISl R =B o R B EERD
BER T ESEEIUEETEMESRMEIES

To facilitate proper discharge of their duties, all Directors are entitled to seek
advice from the company secretary or the in-house legal team as well as from
independent professional advisers at the Company’s expense.
RESRITERE  2REFHARMARNERXNIEZEBIARB IR
¥EMSkER  BRBADRIRE

o

The quality and efficiency of discussions at Board meetings are assessed
during the annual evaluation of the Board’s performance.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure
The Board has set up a remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) which comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Dr. Chong Kin Ki (Chairman), Mr. Stanley Chung
Wai Cheong and Mr. Cheung Ming Man as at the date of the report.
The role of the Remuneration Committee is to formulate policies
and procedures for determining the remuneration of Directors and
senior management and other remuneration related matters. The
Remuneration Committee is set up with written terms of reference
which set out clearly its duties and authorities delegated by the Board,
including the following duties:

° formulate the framework or Board policy for determining
the remuneration of the Company’s Board and senior
management. The objective of such policy should ensure
that members of the senior management of the Company are
provided with appropriate incentives to encourage enhanced
performance and are, in a fair and reasonable manner,
rewarded for their individual contributions to the success of
the Company;
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure

(continued)

° recommend specific remuneration packages including, where
appropriate, allowances, bonuses, benefits in kind, incentive
payments, and share options, if any, for each executive
Director and the Managing Director and such other members
of senior management as it is designated to consider;

° recommend targets for any performance-linked pay schemes
operated by the Company, taking into account remuneration
and employment conditions within the industry and in
comparable companies; and

° recommend to the Board the remuneration of independent
non-executive Directors (including non-executive Directors,
if any), taking into account factors such as effort, time spent
and responsibilities.

When recommending the remuneration package for each individual
Director, the Remuneration Committee will consider his qualification
and experience, specific duties and responsibilities assigned to
him by the Board and the prevailing market packages available for
similar position. The emoluments of the Directors on a named basis
for the year under review is set out on pages 155 to 159 in Note
11 to the financial statements. Review and comparison in terms of
Directors’ emoluments package and net profits of the Group are
made from time to time with comparable listed industrial companies
with similar capitalisation to the Group. Considering all such factors,
the Remuneration Committee would make recommendation on the
remuneration package for each Director after consultation with the
Chairman.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee had
convened one meeting during which the Remuneration Committee,
among other things, assessed the performance, determined the
remuneration policy and packages for all Directors and senior
management.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure

(continued)

The purpose of the grant of share options is to provide the participants
with an opportunity to have a personal stake in the Company, and
motivate the grantees to optimize their performance and efficiency,
having considered the grantees’ experience, length of service to the
Group and contribution to the Group’s overall business performance.
The Remuneration Committee is of the view that performance targets
are not necessary as (i) the value of the share options is subject
to the market price of the shares, which, in turn, depends on the
business performance of the Group, to which the Grantees would
directly contribute, and the grantees will benefit more from the Share
Options if the Company’s share price increases; (ii) the number of
share options granted to each grantee was determined after taking
into account their contribution for the past financial periods, such
that relevant performance targets have already been met before any
grant is decided to be made. The share options are also subject
to the terms of the Scheme which provides that the share options
will lapse automatically if the grantee ceases to be an employee or
director of the Group. In addition, the Remuneration Committee is of
the view that a clawback mechanism is not necessary considering the
lapse of share options upon cessation or termination of employment
already been provided for under the Scheme, which could adequately
safeguard the Company’s interests. Notwithstanding the absence
of the performance target and clawback mechanism to recover,
the Board and the Remuneration Committee believe that without
additional performance target and clawback mechanism, the grant
of the share options could align the interests of the grantees with
that of the Company and its shareholders, provide the grantees with
an opportunity to have a personal stake in the Company, incentivize
the grantees to contribute to the future continuous competitiveness,
results of operation and growth of the Company, reinforce their
commitment to long term services of the Company, and motivate the
grantees to optimize their performance and efficiency, which is in line
with the purpose of the Scheme.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
Company’s account which gives a true and fair view of the financial
position of the Group. The Company deploys appropriate and
sufficient resources to prepare unaudited half-yearly account and
audited yearly account. Senior management is required to present
and explain the financial reporting and matters that materially
affect or may have material impact on the financial performance
and operations of the Company to the Audit Committee and the
Board and respond to the queries and concerns raised by the Audit
Committee and the Board to their satisfaction. The statement of the
auditor of the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on
pages 70 to 77 of this annual report.

Risk Management, Internal Control and Responsibility
of the Board

The Board acknowledges its accountability to the risk management
and internal control systems and its responsibility to review the
effectiveness of the systems. The Board also clarifies that the systems
are purported to manage, but not eliminate, the risk of failure to
fulfil business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Management is responsible for setting the appropriate tone from
the top, performing risk assessment, and owning the design,
implementation and maintenance of internal control. Essential to such
risk management and internal control systems are well defined policies
and procedures that are properly documented and communicated to
employees.

The Group has in place a system of internal controls, the key elements
of which are as follows:

° formal policies and procedures are in place, including the
documentation of key processes, procedures and rules
relating to the delegation of authorities. These allow the
monitoring of controls and restrict the unauthorised use of the
Group assets;

o experienced and suitably qualified staff take responsibility for
important business functions. Annual appraisal procedures
have been established to maintain standards of performance;

° monthly business and financial reports are prepared, providing
relevant, timely, reliable and up-to-date financial and other
information; budget variances are investigated as appropriate;
and

° an internal audit function, which reports directly to the Audit
Committee, is in place to determine whether the above
procedures are properly carried out.

C.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Risk Management, Internal Control and Responsibility
of the Board (continued)

The Group has established an internal audit department to review
the financial condition, operational condition, risk management,
compliance control and internal control of the Group. For 2024, the
Board has conducted a review on the effectiveness of the above
internal control system of the Group including financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management and will conduct
such review at least once a year, so as to ensure the Shareholders’
investment and the Group’s assets are properly safeguarded. The
Board is satisfied that, based on the information supplied, coupled
with its own observations and with the assistance of the Audit
Committee, the present internal controls and risk management
systems are satisfactory, effective and adequate for the nature and
size of the Group’s operations and business.

In addition to the internal control system, the Board has established
an internal audit team that reports directly to the Audit Committee.
The internal audit team will independently audit various functions,
operations and systems that exist in the Company according to
their weight of significance to the Company as well as the priority
list recommended by the Audit Committee. The internal audit team
will prepare an internal audit report highlighting the deficiencies and
weaknesses in existing audit functions, operations and systems for
discussion by the Audit Committee and the Board, and based on
these findings the Board will instruct the senior management to take
appropriate corrective and improvement actions.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Audit Committee

The Board has established the Audit Committee with specific written
terms of reference setting out duties, responsibilities and authorities
delegated to them by the Board. The major duties and responsibilities
of the Audit Committee include the following:

o review with the external auditor, the audit plan;

° review with the external auditor, their evaluation of the system
of internal accounting controls;

o review the scope, results and effectiveness of the internal
audit procedures;

° review the statement of financial position and statement of
profit or loss of the Company and the consolidated statement
of financial position and statement of profit or loss of the
Group and submit them to the Board;

o nominate persons as auditor;

° review with the internal and external auditors their findings on
their evaluation of the Company’s system of internal controls
for the purpose of assisting the Board in developing policies
that would enhance the controls and operating systems of the
Company; and

o review connected transactions and examine the adequacy
of internal controls of the Group as part of the standard
procedures.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

The Audit Committee assists the Board to fulfil its oversight role
over the Group’s risk management and internal control functions
by reviewing and evaluating the effectiveness of our overall risk
management and internal control systems at least annually.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems is
embedded within our business processes so that it functions as
an integral part of the overall operation of the Group. The systems
comprises a comprehensive organisation structure with assignment
of definite accountabilities and delegation of corresponding authorities
to each post. Based on our organisation structure, a reporting system
has been developed including reporting channels from division heads
of business units to the Board.

The risk management and internal control systems and accounting
system of the Group are aimed at identifying and evaluating
the Group’s risk and formulate risk mitigation strategies, and to
provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against
unauthorised use or disposition, transactions are executed in
accordance with management’s authorisation, and the accounting
records are reliable for preparing financial information used within the
business for publication, maintaining accountability for assets and
liabilities and ensuring the business operations are in accordance with
relevant legislation, regulations and internal guidelines.

The Group has a defined organisational structure with clearly defined
lines of responsibility and authority. Each department is accountable
for its daily operations and is required to report to executive Directors
on a regular basis. Policies and procedures are set for each
department, which includes establishing and maintaining effective
policies to enhance risks identification to which the Group is exposed
and taking appropriate actions to manage such risks, establishing a
structure with defined authorities and proper segregation of duties;
monitoring the strategic plan and performance; designing an effective
accounting and information system; controlling price sensitive
information; and ensuring swift actions and timely communication
with our stakeholders.

Procedures and Controls over Handling and Dissemination of
Inside Information

With respect to the procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information, the Group has internal policy
and procedures which strictly prohibit unauthorised use of inside
information and has communicated to all staff; the Board is aware
of its obligations to announce any inside information in accordance
with the Listing Rules and conducts the affairs with reference to
the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission in June 2012. In addition, only
Directors and delegated officers can act as the Group’s spokesperson
and respond to external enquiries about the Group’s affairs.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

The duties of the Audit Committee include reviewing the scope and
results of the audit and its cost effectiveness, and the independence
and objectivity of the Company’s auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.
The Audit Committee will review the independence of the Company’s
auditor, the resources and adequacy of the internal audit function,
at least once a year. Where the auditor also supplies non-audit
services to the Company, the Committee will keep the nature and
extent of such services under review, seeking to balance between the
maintenance of objectivity and value for money. During the year under
review, the fees paid/payable to the Company’s auditor in respect of
audit and non-audit services provided by the Company’s auditor to
the Group were as follows:

Nature of services RIEME
Audit services ZEPRTS
Non-audit services FERZEIRTS

()  Tax services () MBRS
(i)  Other services (comprising compliance review, (i)

internal control review and ESG report)

The Audit Committee has undertaken a review of all the non-
audited services provided by the Company’s auditor and concluded
that in their opinion such services did not affect the independence
of the auditor. The Board has appointed an accountant to be
responsible for the accounting and financial matters of the Group
and the Audit Committee has free access to the accountant and
senior management of the Group and to any financial and relevant
information which enables them to discharge their audit committee
function effectively and efficiently. Besides internal assistance being
available, the Audit Committee may request for assistance and
advice from external auditor as and when it considers necessary
at the expenses of the Company. The Audit Committee shall meet
with external auditor without the presence of executive Directors to
discuss the Group’s financial reporting and any major and financial
matters arising during the year under review at least once a year.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)
In addition, the Audit Committee is authorised:

. to investigate any matter within its written terms of reference;
o to have full access to and co-operation by the management;
° to have full discretion to invite any Director or executive officer

to attend its meetings; and

. to have reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its
functions properly.

The Board will ensure that the members of the Audit Committee
are appropriately qualified to discharge their responsibilities and at
least one member has accounting and related financial management
expertise or experience. The Audit Committee comprises three
independent non-executive Directors as at the date of this report,
namely Mr. Stanley Chung Wai Cheong (Chairman), Dr. Chong Kin Ki
and Mr. Cheung Ming Man.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee had performed the
following works:

o review of the scope of audit work;

° review and discussion of the annual financial results and
report in respect of the year ended 31 December 2023 and
interim financial results and report for the six months ended
30 June 2024 and discussion with the management of the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group;

° discussion and recommendation of the re-appointment of the
external auditors; and

. review of the internal control, financial reporting and risk
management systems of the Group.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee had convened four
meetings.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

Management function

The Company’s articles of association set out matters which are
specifically reserved to the Board for its decision. Executive Directors
normally meet on an informal basis every month and participate in
senior management meetings on a regular basis to keep abreast of
the latest operations and performance of the Group and to monitor
and ensure the management carry out the directions and strategies
set by the Board correctly and appropriately. The Board delegates
day-to-day activities to the management with department heads
responsible for different aspects of the business. Clear instructions
are given to the management as to the matters which should bring
to the attention and be determined by the Board on behalf of the
Company.

Board committees

The Board has set up three Board committees, namely Audit
Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee,
each chaired by a different independent non-executive Director, to
assist the Board in discharging functions specific to each committee.
Each Board committee has its own written terms of reference
setting out the principles, procedures and arrangements which are
substantially the same as those for the Board.

The Nomination Committee comprises three members who are
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Ming Man
(Chairman), Dr. Chong Kin Ki and Mr. Stanley Chung Wai Cheong as
at the date of this report. According to the written terms of reference
of the Nomination Committee, the major responsibilities of the
Nomination Committee include:

. regularly review the structure, size and composition of the
Board and make recommendations to the Board with regard
to any adjustments that are deemed necessary;

o review whether or not an independent non-executive Director
is independent for the purpose of the Listing Rules on an
annual basis;

o identify and nominate for the approval of the Board,

candidates to fill board vacancies as and when they arise;

o assess the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the
contribution by each individual Director to the effectiveness of
the Board; and

o re-nominate a Director as an independent non-executive
Director, if applicable, having regard to his contribution and
performance.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD (continued)

Board committees (continued)

When recommending suitable candidates to the Board, the
Nomination Committee will take merits of the candidates into
consideration, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service.

During the year under review and up to the date of this report, the
Nomination Committee had convened one meeting during which,
among other things, considered which should retire by rotation
pursuant to the Company’s articles of association and the CG Code.
The Nomination Committee had resolved that Mr. Cheung Kwok
Wing, Mr. Ho Yin Sang and Ms. Ho Kin Fan, being executive Directors
and Mr. Cheung Ming Man, being independent non-executive
Directors, shall be subject to retirement by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company and offer themselves for re-
election. As Mr. Cheung Ming Man has served as an independent
non-executive Director for more than nine years, a separate resolution
will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting to further
appoint Mr. Cheung Ming Man as an independent non-executive
Director. During the meetings of the Nomination Committee, it had
considered the policy for the nomination of Directors, and the process
and criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee to select and
recommend candidates for directorship.

It had also reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board
to ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills and experience
appropriate to the requirements of the business of the Company and
assessed the independence of all the independent non-executive
Directors. All the above-named Directors were nominated by the
Nomination Committee to stand for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy in accordance with
the CG Code. The policy aims to achieve diversity on the members of
the Board. In designing the Board’s composition, a number of aspects
would be considered, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

D.

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

EEERINER e

EEZEE®H)
REZBEENEESHBEANRE
AR BEREREANES - £FET
AR - Fie - MERBEER - &
FiZh - BBe - BT

REBEFERBEAREEHAA/L 12
2LEgAR—ReE  (APEE)Z
BERBARRR 2 HEERMA MDEE
ERTHRERECERTLE - REZE
BE@HREBITESRERESE [
A MRS 2 A S B 3R AT
EERPAPEEARARRRERRE
FREHFERENESEREMT - AN
RGO EEEB L IFNTEFC BB
NE - BEBRRBFAS LEEERSE
—IHRARR  NE—FRERBHEE
RBIYFNTES - AREZEEEH
HifE - A ZEEERRABZBR - &R
FAEEERE R BERRA RN
PRAnH)BIZ ) 2ER o

REZBENTCORITESIRE  R/R
AR BREABUAARBER
B2 B - S RERAMET
& REHMEPAE BT ER 2B
e Ll 2HEEEREZEGRS
RARBEERRBFERGEREE -

EXSCRBOEREATARMERS
ZILBE - BRENERSESEMN
BEHZTL - ERFTERENASEA
PR - BEEZELE - BIEETRR
R~ Fik - ERHBEBR - Bk
BEASR - BEE - MBNMES -



@

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEERRE

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD (continued)

Board committees (continued)

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises ten male Directors
and one female Director. The Board considers that the composition
of the Board complies with the diversity requirements under Rule
13.92 of the Listing Rules. To ensure gender diversity of the Board in
a long run, the Group will seek to identify and select several female
individuals with a diverse range of skills, experience and knowledge
in the field of the Group’s business from time to time, and maintain a
list of such female individuals who possess qualities to become the
Board members in order to develop a pipeline of potential successors
to the Board to promote gender diversity of the Board.

The workforce of the Group (including its senior management)
comprised approximately 65% male employees and 35% female
employees as at 31 December 2024. Due to the nature of work in the
industries which the Group conducts its business, the Group mainly
considers factors such as the candidates’ ability and experience,
rather than their gender, in recruiting employees.

The Company remains steadfast in its commitment to fostering
workplace diversity. This commitment is reflected in our ongoing
recruitment strategies, which are designed to attract a broad
spectrum of candidates. By prioritizing diversity in our hiring practices,
we aim to build a team that brings a wide range of perspectives,
experiences, and skills to our organization.
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COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Board endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders. All Directors are encouraged to attend the general
meetings to have personal communication with Shareholders. In
annual general meeting, Chairman of the Board and the chairman of
each committee are required to attend and answer questions from
Shareholders in respect of the matters that they are responsible
and accountable for. The external auditor is also required to be
present to assist the Directors in addressing any relevant queries
by Shareholders. The Company has also set up a public relations
website which enables the Shareholders and public to post their
questions, comments and opinions in relation to the Group to the
Board.

The Company’s annual general meeting (“AGM”) and extraordinary
general meeting (“‘EGM”) provide good opportunities for Shareholders
to air their views and ask Directors and management questions
regarding the Company. All Shareholders receive the annual
report, circulars and notices of AGM and EGM and other corporate
communications. The notices are also published on the Company’s
website at www.kingboard.com. Separate resolutions are required
at general meetings on each distinct issue. Each Shareholder is
permitted to appoint a proxy to attend and vote in his stead.

The Board has also established a written shareholders’ communication
policy setting out the multiple channels for communications with its
shareholders as disclosed in this section. The Board has conducted
a review of the implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’
communication policy during the year ended 31 December 2024. To
promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
at www.kingboard.com, where up-to-date information and updates
on the Company’s business operations and developments, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other information
are available for public access. Investors may write directly to the
Company or via email to enquiry@kingboard.com for any inquiries.
Having considered the multiple channels of communication in place,
it is satisfied that the shareholders’ communication policy has been
properly implemented during the year ended 31 December 2024 and
is effective.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolutions
are proposed at Shareholders’ meetings on each substantial issue,
including the election of individual Directors, for Shareholders’
consideration and voting. Besides, pursuant to the Company’s
articles of association, Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-tenth
of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings may request the Company to convene an EGM by
sending a written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary.
The objects of the meeting must be stated in the written requisition.

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for putting
forward any enquiries or proposals to the Board. Contact details are as
follows:
Address:  23/F, Delta House

3 On Yiu Street

Shek Mun

Shatin, N.T.

Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 2691 0445/2691 5245
Email: enquiry@kingboard.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or
enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide their
full name, contact details and identification in order to give effect
thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by
law.

On 27 May 2024, the Company adopted the new memorandum
and articles of association by way of shareholders’ approval at its
annual general meeting in order to (i) bring the existing memorandum
and articles of association up to date and in line with the revised
requirements under the Listing Rules and the applicable laws
of Cayman Islands; and (ii) incorporate certain housekeeping
amendments. Details of these amendments are set out in the circular
of the Company dated 19 April 2024.

An up to date version of the Company’s articles of association is
available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s
website. Shareholders may refer to the Company’s articles of
association for further details of their rights.

All resolutions put forward at Shareholders’ meetings will be voted
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll voting results will
be posted on the websites of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.kingboard.com)
immediately after the relevant general meetings.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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Deloitte.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Kingboard Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) set out on pages 78 to 259, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy
information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BAZBERE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

MRETER

BEHEERRAH

FREETEE )

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNFSNAHRARETSRETRE

Assessment of net realisable values of properties held for development (“PHD”)

AHEFRRME(FRRYE D WITERFE

We identified the assessment of net realisable values of
PHD as a key audit matter due to the significance of the
amount and estimation uncertainty involved in determining
their net realisable values.

The carrying value of the Group’s PHD amounted to
HK$12.2 billion as at 31 December 2024. The Group’s PHD
are all situated in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

As disclosed in Notes 4 and 26 to the consolidated
financial statements, the net realisable values of the PHD
are determined by reference to the estimated future selling
prices less estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale. The future selling prices are
estimated by reference to the recent selling prices of similar
properties in the same project or relevant locations. In
addition, the management estimates the future costs to
complete the PHD and costs necessary to make the sale
by reference to the actual development costs and selling
expenses incurred and the completion status.
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Our procedures in relation to the assessment of net realisable
values of PHD included:

Assessing the appropriateness of the estimated future
selling prices of the PHD, on a sample basis, by comparing
them to recent transaction prices of similar properties
in the same project or relevant locations, based on
our knowledge of the property markets of the relevant
locations;

Evaluating the reasonableness of the estimated future
costs to completion of the PHD and costs necessary to
make the sale, on a sample basis, based on the actual
development costs and selling expenses incurred and the
completion status of the properties of the Group with the
adjustments, taking into account the current market data
and the past history of the similar projects;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BAZBERE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued) Eﬁﬁ@%ﬁ'%lﬁ(%)

Key audit matter

HAREITER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNFNAHRARETERETERE

Assessment of net realisable values of properties held for development (“PHD”) (continued)

AEFRRME(FRRYEDNTERFEE)

When assessing the net realisable value of PHD, the e

management will also make reference to the valuations
carried out by an independent qualified valuer (the “Valuer™).

During the year ended 31 December 2024, write-down
of HK$303 million on PHD has been recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Understanding management’s process over the valuation
of PHD, including the involvement of the Valuer, the
valuation methodologies and key inputs applied on
selected PHD by holding discussion with the management
and the Valuer;

Evaluating the competence, capability, and objectivity of

the Valuer, the appropriateness of the Valuer’s valuation
methodologies and the reasonableness of valuation
methodologies and key inputs applied on selected PHD
underpinning the valuation, based on available market
data; and

° Involving our internal valuation specialists, on a sample
basis, to assist us in assessing the reasonableness of the
valuation methodologies and key inputs of selected PHD
underpinning the valuation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BAZBERE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued) Eﬁﬁ@%ﬁ'%lﬁ(%)

Key audit matter

HAREITER

Valuation of investment properties

REMEME

We identified the valuation of investment properties as
a key audit matter due to the inherent level of subjective
judgements and estimation uncertainty involved required
in determining the fair values.

The Group’s investment property portfolio comprises
commercial, residential and industrial properties located
in Hong Kong, the PRC and the United Kingdom, which
was stated at fair value of HK$26.0 billion as at 31
December 2024 with a net loss on fair value change of
HK$32 million recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss for the year then ended.

The Group’s investment properties are stated at fair
value based on valuations performed by the Valuer.
The valuation committee of the Group works closely
with the Valuer to determine the appropriate valuation
methodologies and inputs for fair value measurements.
The valuation was determined based on direct
comparison by reference to market transactions of
similar properties taking into consideration of timing of
reference transactions and property-specific adjustment
factors. Details of the valuation techniques and key
inputs used in the valuations are disclosed in Notes 4
and 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNFNAHRARETERETERE

Our procedures in relation to the management’s valuation of
investment properties included:

o Understanding management’s process over the valuation
of investment properties, including the involvement of the
Valuer;

° Evaluating the competence, capability, and objectivity of
the Valuer;

° Understanding the valuation methodologies and key inputs

applied on selected investment properties by holding
discussion with the management and the Valuer;

° Evaluating the appropriateness of the Valuer’s valuation
methodologies;

o Evaluating the reasonableness of the valuation methodologies
and key inputs of selected investment properties underpinning
the valuation, based on available market data; and

o Involving our internal valuation specialists, on a sample
basis, to assist us in assessing the reasonableness of

the valuation methodologies and key inputs of selected
investment properties underpinning the valuation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BAZBERE

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BAZBERE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BAZBERE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
units within the group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BAZBERE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Kwok Lai Sheung.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

24 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

mEEER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #E —Z &+ _-_A=+—HILFE

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

2024 2023
—E-IEF =%
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
BiaE FExT FET
Revenue e 5 43,093,252 39,712,499
Cost of sales and services rendered tHE MR IRSAOR (34,600,667) (32,120,334)
Gross profit ESA] 8,492,585 7,592,165
Other income, gains and losses Hadg A - WS Mg 7 156,272 318,934
Distribution expenses baki=b-gun (1,336,492) (1,268,398)
Administrative expenses TEE (2,102,800) (2,237,760)
(Loss) gain on fair value changes of BEAVEFABSE EmTAY
equity instruments at fair value NHEZE(EE) =
through profit or loss (43,826) 310,844
Gain on disposal of debt instruments HERAFET AR MEEKEZ
at fair value through other EBIEZ =
comprehensive income 4,930 30,009
Impairment losses under expected credit ~ FBEIEEBIBERNE T RAFE
loss model on debt instruments at FFAEMEEKE s EHIAEC
fair value through other REEE
comprehensive income (702,158) (2,283)
Impairment losses under expected credit  FEEAEEEEBIEN T EKE KD 23
loss model on loan receivable REEE (721,591) (893,907)
Net loss on fair value changes of WEWMENTEES) 2 EFI8FE8 14
investment properties (32,333) (113,434)
Finance costs BhE AR AN 8 (1,116,358) (1,124,463)
Share of results of joint ventures N NCI E 18,110 85,626
Share of result of an associate iy NI e 105,647 90,378
Profit before taxation MR RV A 2,721,986 2,787,711
Income tax expense FriSifsz 9 (618,655) (443,609)
Profit for the year REEmF 10 2,103,331 2,344,102
Profit for the year attributable to: ATATEIEREERF
Owners of the Company ZNNCIESYEDN 1,630,329 2,062,971
Non-controlling interests FEIE R A 473,002 281,131
2,103,331 2,344,102
Earnings per share FRRER 13
— Basic —HK HK$1.47138 T HK$1.86178 7T
— Diluted — s HK$1.47138 T HK$1.86178 7T
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
reEakEMAETEHRERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ —Z -4+ _-_A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—ENE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Profit for the year AREF i F 2,103,331 2,344,102
Other comprehensive income for the year AFEEZEM2EEE
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: TEWEN P EL B A -
Translation reserve: PE
Exchange differences arising from translation to ENEZ2REEmMEEZ
presentation currency I A =R (1,441,268) (536,964)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to HEREEWET SIEEBa
profit or loss: B :
Investment revaluation reserve: EE GRS
Fair value loss on debt instruments BAFEFARMEE RS ZE
at fair value through other comprehensive BITEREZNFEEE
income (32,238) (875,471)
Reclassify to profit or loss upon disposal of Hj’iifﬂiﬁéﬂ\ﬁﬁﬁi\ﬁuﬁ
debt instruments at fair value through N ERIAEmMEFEEE
other comprehensive income = (4,930) (80,009)
Impairment losses under expected credit BHEEHEREAE T RATE
loss model on debt instruments at FFAEMEEERT AR
fair value through other comprehensive ZEBT A BEEIE
income included in profit or loss 702,158 2,283
664,990 (403,197)
Other comprehensive expense for the year AFEEEMEEMAY (776,278) (940,161)
Total comprehensive income for the year REEEPENEERE 1,327,053 1,403,941
Total comprehensive income UTATEEARFEE
for the year attributable to: FHEINELRTE -
Owners of the Company ZANCIESYSDN 925,730 1,182,747
Non-controlling interests JEFERS RS 401,323 221,194
1,327,053 1,403,941
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
r e AR RE

At 31 December 2024 R —Z_—E+—-A=+—H

2024 2023
—EmEF —EC=F
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
BaE FET FAT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment properties LEME 14 25,993,955 23,801,788
Property, plant and equipment L E =Y S ] 15 21,286,847 19,404,999
Right-of-use assets FREEE 16 2,032,467 1,951,478
Goodwiill [EES 17 2,670,528 2,670,528
Intangible assets | EE 18 28,440 34,920
Interests in an associate EAH%%Q Al i 19 453,154 445,132
Interests in joint ventures REERAZ S 20 2,373,457 2,473,378
Equity instruments at fair value through iﬁ@?{ﬁcﬁr)\%@ 21
profit or loss TA 1,701,572 2,219,727
Debt instruments at fair value through BN EGF AR 2R 22
other comprehensive income BEETA 690,880 861,970
Entrusted loans RHEER 27(a) 134,740 181,352
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, BB - BE &%
plant and equipment =ANEHES 915,056 744,378
Deferred tax assets ELEFIBEE 24 2,593 3,068
58,283,689 54,792,718
Current assets BB E
Inventories FE 25 4,232,930 3,775,589
Properties held for development R 26 12,217,659 15,419,688
Trade and other receivables and B 5 N E M U BR R & 27(a)
prepayments TARFIA 8,705,769 7,975,716
Bills receivables FEUWE IR 27(b) 3,466,704 3,247,158
Loan receivable EINE R 23 - 721,591
Equity instruments at fair value through BRAFEFABR ZERSTE 21
profit or loss 6,923,437 8,905,029
Debt instruments at fair value through BAFEFAEMEERZEZ 22
other comprehensive income BEEITA 14,461 -
Financial asset at fair value through BAFEGFAERZZ
profit or loss ERMEE 11,720 -
Taxation recoverable BEEErE 31,754 32,626
Restricted bank deposits ZIREISRITIEDS 27(c) 2,207 10,089
Cash and cash equivalents B NBEEEEER 27(c) 3,894,324 4,088,322
39,500,965 44,175,808
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

FEMBMRRR
2024 2023
—EmEF —EC=F
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
BaE FET FAT
Current liabilities VEJR=NI=
Trade and other payables B 5 M H M FEBRFK 28 6,643,806 6,311,534
Bills payables = 28 628,069 661,797
Contract liabilities aHaE 28 1,259,369 1,668,243
Dividends payable FERTIE B 541,567 780,607
Taxation payable FESFLIE 1,474,227 1,352,201
Bank borrowings RITIEE 29
— amount due within one year ——FREEZFIB 8,959,874 8,145,695
Lease liabilities HEAE 30 4,266 3,044
19,511,178 18,923,121
Net current assets BB EFE 19,989,787 25 252,687
Total assets less current liabilities BEEREBERRSEE 78,273,476 80,045,405
Non-current liabilities EMBAE
Deferred tax liabilities FEEFIEE F 24 786,090 831,828
Bank borrowings H|ITEE 29
— amount due after one year — —F &R E 7 FE 12,736,225 14,776,988
Lease liabilities HEAE 30 11,914 1,967
13,534,229 15,610,783
Net assets BEFE 64,739,247 64,434,622
Capital and reserves A& A K e
Share capital R 31 110,831 110,831
Reserves i 59,713,943 59,630,530
Equity attributable to owners RAEIFFH AELERE
of the Company 59,824,774 59,741,361
Non-controlling interests PR AR 33 4,914,473 4,693,261
Total equity AR 64,739,247 64,434,622
The consolidated financial statements on pages 78 to 259 were approved FEFGNZ _£¢ AZ+mAEH
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24 March 2025 and are MR FETZE 7822508 2 AR A I 15
signed on its behalf by: Wk WA TIESREES
Cheung Kwok Wing Chang Wing Yiu
TRET & BBk R
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EE E

—E - NFEFR



KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEEnBER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #E —Z &+ _-_A=+—HILFE

Attrbutable to owners of the Company

KOTENEER
Share-
Capial based Special Property Investment Non-
Share Share  redemption  payments suplus  Statutory  revaluation ~ Goodwil  revaluation  Translaion  Retained controling Total
captal ~ premium Tesenve reseve  account fesene Tesenve Tesene fesene esenve profts  Subotel  interests equity
RaRE  RGFS  HHER nzef BEED

RE RipaE fE HHER BB iRER ik BEER B E¥RE  RERN WGt kERER  ATGE
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSOO0  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000
TR TR TER TER TR TR TEr  TEL TR TR TR TR AR TER
(Notea) ~ (Notebj ~ (Notec)  (Noted)
(W) (abo) (W) (W)

Balance at 1 January 2023

110879 6,630959 1,911 77390 10594 3377591 280,581 773838 (315414) (970,069 50079395 60,057,655 4,638,176 64,695,831
Proft for the year TEERR - - - - - - - - - - 2062971 20682971 281131 2344102
Fair valug loss on deot instruments AT EF AEM2ENE
at fairvaue through other CEBIEIDTEEE
comprefensive income - - - - - - - - 363757 - - e37en) (14 (875471

Reclassify to proft orloss upon disposal Bt ERATER AR

of debtinstuments at fairvaug through - 2B 7 EBTAR

other comprehensive income EAERER - - - - - - - -6 - - e Bie) 000
Impaiment losses under expected credt BREEBEEAETR

loss modsl on deotinstruments at far -~ AFE AL 2ENE

value through other comprehensive 7 BB TEAABE

income included in profitor loss JHEER - - - - - - - - 2212 - - 2212 il 2283
Exchange differences aising from RiEZ2RERmELL
ranglation to presentation curency B} EE - - - - - - - - - () - 9183 @512 (536,964

Total comprehensive (expense) income  A£E2 8 (B%)

forthe year iGetet:] - - - - - - - - BT (9183 2062071 1182747 221194 1403941
Issue of new shares B BREnEIHRA
from exercising options 2 134 - (90 - - - - - - - 346 - 346
Repurchase and cancelltion of shares B iE R H () (11876) - - - - - - - - - (119 - {119
Recogniton of eqty-setied BN ERE ROV
share-tiased payments (Note 32) () - - - 7528 - - - - - - - TB28 48750 124008
Final dhidend for the year ended HE-FoCE1Cf
31 December 2022 (Note 12) ST-BILFE RS

Ra (1) - - - - - - - - - -y 3y - BBy

Interim and specialinterim chidend ~~ BE-E-=F+2F
forthe year ended 31 December 2023 =B HEE 2Rk

Note 12) oS (i) - - - - - - - - - - s (348) - 131489

Dividends paid to non-controling KHFHBAT R
sharefolders of subsidiaries KEzhE - - - - - - - - - - - - 14859 (214859
Transfers to reserve EROHE - - - - - 44400 - - - - (444,005) - - -
w1144 G - s - - - - POBTA (14004) (165109 (1665,150)

Balanos at 31 December 2023 RoE-ZETCR
“t-AzER 110831 6619517 1,911 152,558 10594 3821596 280,981 773838 (103801) (1461,906) 50,136,642 59,741,361 4693261 64,434,622
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EEEEERRAF
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEEREER
Attributable to owners of the Company
RATEEARGER
Share-
Capital based  Special Property Investment Non-
Share Share redemption payments  surplus  Statutory revaluation  Goodwill revaluation Translation  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium  reseve  reserve  account  reserve  reseve  reserve  reseve reserve profits  Sub-total interests equity
RoFS  REESR NEER REER
KA RAEE RAREEE GREE BR tERE RE HERE fF EXRE REE Nt kEREE  EAEE
HKS'000  HKS000  HK$'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$000  HKS'000  HKS000  HK$'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
Thn T Thn Thn Tin T Thn Tin T Thn Thn Tin Thn Thn
(Notea) ~ (Noteb) ~ (Notec)  (Noted)
(W&a)  (Wib) (M)  (Kid)
Balance at 1 Janvary 2024 WZEZME-F-R2
533 110831 6,619,517 1911 152558 10594 3821506 280581 773838  (103801) (1461906) 50,135,642 59,741,361 4,693,261 64,434,622
Proft for the year TEEEA - - - - - - - - - - 1600329 1630320 473002 2,103,331
Fair value loss on debt instruments RATES AL 2EAE
atfa value trough other LEBIEZAVERE
comprefensive income - - - - - - - - (318 - - (318 %87 (32,23
Reclassify to proft o loss upon disposal  RAERATEF ALf
of debtinstuments at fairvaue through - 2B 7 BB AR
other comprehensive income EfEZER - - - - - - - - (490 - - (49%0) - (%)
mpaiment losses under expected credt BEEEEREAE TR
loss modelon debt instruments atfair -~ AT(ES AR 2ENE
value through other comprehensive 2 EBTESABE
income included in proft orloss LREEE - - - - - - - - 680,396 - - 680396 21762 702,158
Exchange diferences arising fiom RAEE2RERREL,
tranglaion to presentation curency  E{£E - - - - - - - - - (1348214 - (1,348,214)  (93,054) (1,441,268)
Total comprehensive (expense) TEEREFR)
income for the year e = - - - - - - - 043615 (1,348214) 1630320 925730 401,323 1,327,083
Final dhvidend for the yearended 31~ BZ-E-=%+-f
December 2023 (Note 12) Zt-RLLEE?
RERE (i) - - - - - - - - - - (398992  (398,992) - (398,992
Interim dividend for the year ended 31~ EZ=E-mET-A
December 2024 (Note 12) =t-RIHEEZ
FERE () - - - - - - - - - - (U335 (43325 - (u33)
Dividends paid to non-controling THINBRT R
sharefolders of subsidiaries hEzke - - - - - - - - - - - - (180,411)  (180,111)
Transfers to reserve ERTEE - - - - - 109,866 - - - - (109,866) - - -
. s 5 - - 109966 - 5 5 - 18 (B231T)  (8041) (1022428)
Balance at 31 Decerber 2024 i 2
SH-BIEH 1083 6619577 1911 192558 1054 301462 280581  TI388 (60186 (2810,120) 50813788 BO84TT4  49M44TS 64730247

—E - NFEFR



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REERBER

Notes:

Special surplus account represents the difference between the nominal amount of
the shares issued by the Company and the nominal amount of the issued share
capitals of the subsidiaries which were acquired by the Company under the Group
reorganisation in 1993.

Statutory reserve comprises statutory fund, which is non-distributable, represents
capitalisation of retained profits of certain subsidiaries established in the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”) for capital re-investment in these subsidiaries and funds
shall be used to (i) make up prior year losses or (i) expand production operations.

The property revaluation reserve of the Group represents the gain on revaluation of
certain properties of the Group for own use as a result of transfer of those properties
from property, plant and equipment to investment properties.

Goodwill reserve represents the effects of changes in ownership in certain
subsidiaries when there is no change in control.
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@ BEHEEERRAA

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
MERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ —Z -4+ _-_A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-IEF =%
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEH
Profit before taxation R 5 B A 2,721,986 2,787,711
Adjustments for: FHEE
Share of results of joint ventures JElEEEARIERA (18,110) (85,626)
Share of result of an associate FEIREGE AR LA (105,647) (90,378)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BEMEREITE 1,933,088 1,930,070
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 54,758 52,786
Amortisation of intangible assets mILEESE 6,480 6,480
Reversal of impairment losses under expected TEHEEEEEX T E SRR
credit loss model on trade receivables, BB R EREE - FNkRER
net of reversal (152,016) (45,977)
Finance costs BEKAK 1,150,426 1,124,463
Interest income on bank balances and deposits,  $RIT&EMRIFR - ZiEER L EK
entrusted loans and loan receivable =/ =N PN (68,745) (268,657)
Impairment losses under expected credit loss FEEEEEEEXE MRATE
model on debt instruments at fair value through SAHEMEERRZEREIAY
other comprehensive income A8 702,158 2,283
Impairment losses on under expected credit loss ~ TEEMZEEIEER TRKEZN
model on loan receivable A8 721,591 893,907
Loss (gain) on fair value changes of equity BAFEABS  EmTAY
instruments at fair value through profit or loss NEEZEEE (W) 43,826 (310,844)
Gain on disposal of debt instruments at fair value ~ HERAFESAHMEERZZ
through other comprehensive income (Ev =Sl (4,930) (30,009)
Net loss on fair value changes of investment EYENTEEE) 2 EIE S5
properties 32,333 113,434
Loss on disposal and written off of property, HERMEE - BE&
plant and equipment RiEETE 17,244 30,479
Share-based payments R AT = 124,008
Write-down of properties held for development WO iFEEREE 303,149 553,032
Reversal of write-down of inventories FEMURERE (263,078) (140,926)
Operating cash flows before HEESEHH 2K
movements in working capital Ben=s 7,074,513 6,646,236
Increase in inventories FEEN (269,095) (168,623)
Decrease in properties held for development FRREMERD 715,567 218,759
Decrease in restricted bank deposits SR SR T RO > 7,882 120,011
(Increase) decrease in trade and B 5 R E AW IR R R IEN5IE
other receivables and prepayments (3% h0) R (767,654) 148,015
Increase in bills receivables e ZEE 8N (283,905) (159,436)
Decrease in equity instruments BN ERFABE 2 #Ea
at fair value through profit or loss T AR 245,055 609,698
Increase in debt instruments at fair value through 32 AFEFF AEMEE R 2
other comprehensive income BT AN = (16,114)
Increase in financial assets at FVTPL RAT AR AEZR SR EELIN (11,720) -
Decrease in trade and other payables B 5N EMEMRTURD (49,149) (270,216)
Decrease in bills payables R ZERER (30,791) (56,492)
Decrease in contract liabilities aREaBERD (375,809) (899,599)

—E - NFEFR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

RERERER

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

2024 2023
—ENE —E-=4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Cash generated from operations KEEGEGERE 6,254,894 6,172,239
Other income taxes paid HEMEHEH (31,458) (87,958)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) paid BB ERMEH ([EMEH]) (359,358) (455,536)
PRC Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT”) paid B B i R E R ([ 8 ER ) (2,691) (152,741)
PRC withholding tax paid B ETENR (100,594) (158,841)
Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded (paid) RE (B W) BBFISH 927 (6,340)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES KETE SRS TFHE 5,761,720 5,310,823
INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETEE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEME  BENMEKE (3,158,428) (3,275,249)
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, BEYWE  BEMEREZ
plant and equipment ENE& (915,056) (744,378)
Purchase of debt investments at fair value through B E#E AT ET AR MEEKZEZ
other comprehensive income BRIEE = (698,402)
Payments for right-of-use assets EREEENK (149,887) (116,057)
Net disposal (purchase) of equity instruments MAFESABS X TA HE
at fair value through profit or loss (FBE )% 2,210,866 (4,882,533)
Proceeds from disposal or on maturity of HERNFEFTAEMEEmEZE 2
debt instruments at fair value through other B T A(KEIE) riss0E
comprehensive income 101,757 107,008
Interest received 2 UFE 77,906 263,026
Dividend received from an associate 2 —FEEE R RRE 89,136 174,202
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE  BEMRENSHE
plant and equipment 82,181 340,120
Dividend received from a joint venture B2l —HEaEa aIRE 83,920 91,448
Repayment received on entrusted loans ZRAERBUWER 65,395 76,952
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties  HEREWZEREHIE - 140,456
Repayment received on loan receivable JEWE R E WB R = 282,000
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES B EEFAReFE (1,512,210) (8,241,407)
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@ BEHEEERRAA

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GERETRER
2024 2023
—ENE —E-=4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
FINANCING ACTIVITIES RMEES
New bank borrowings raised FGIRITEE 19,018,569 20,779,552
Repayment of bank borrowings EBRITEE (20,197,508) (17,577,941)
Dividends paid on ordinary shares BT BRRS (1,081,357) (1,163,871)
Dividends paid to non-controlling S FHBARZ
shareholders of subsidiaries FEFERR IR R 7 IR B, (180,111) (288,522)
Interest paid BEAFIE (1,116,849) (1,110,908)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEBR (4,217) (4,453)
Proceeds from issue of shares BTN FT1S /08 = 346
Payment on repurchase and cancellation of shares E%@&uﬁéﬂxf’ﬁﬁr = (11,926)
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM FINANCING RESEE (FTR) T8
ACTIVITIES REFHE (3,561,473) 622,282
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN HeRELZEEY
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS EORL) B8 688,037 (2,308,302
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FEzHERES
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR Z(EER 4,088,322 6,693,336
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE ExgET
RATE CHANGES (882,035) (296,712)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FERzEESRRS
AT THE END OF THE YEAR Z@EIEA 3,894,324 4,088,322

— T FFR
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KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #E —Z &+ _-_A=+—HILFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Kingboard Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a public limited
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office and
principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the
“Corporate Information” section of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 44.

The principal activities of its subsidiaries are the manufacture and
sales of laminates, printed circuit boards (“PCBs”), chemicals,
magnetic products, property development and investments and
investment business.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”), which is different from the Company’s functional
currency of Renminbi (“‘RMB”), the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the Company operates. Because the
Company’s shares are listed on the Stock Exchange, where most of
its investors are located in Hong Kong, therefore the directors of the
Company (“Directors”) considered it is more convenient for the users
of the consolidated financial statements to present the consolidated
financial statement in HKS.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

—REH

EEEEARAR(AAR))ENSE
BRMETA L HERAR - HRHE
ERBARFHERANHLH )2
IR L AAFEMER Y bR
EBUEWHNAER ARER
IR -

RRRRREERAR - HNBARZ
T EEBRM A4

EMBARNIEXBREENHER
SR  ENRIARBEAR ([ EDRIARBEAR 1) -
fETER WAEM BHERRENI
BUARIRERR -

FaPBHRRAET(DET 2 8
TTERIRARRNNEEEARE(TA
R¥ ) BIARBRERAEN T ELE
RENER - MRAR B RE AR
£ EREOREEDUNEE
WARRREE([EEDRA/NETZS
FAMBRRET EFAMBEHRROE
A% -



©

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

PR aR M

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective

for the current year

In the current year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively

referred to as the “Group”) has applied the following amendments

to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are mandatorily

effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on 1 January 2024

for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants
Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance Arrangements

HKFRS 7

Except as described below, the application of the amendments
to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the
Group’s financial positions and performance for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective

for the current year (continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1
“Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)”
(the “2020 Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1 “Non-
current Liabilities with Covenants” (the “2022 Amendments”)

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year.

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional guidance
on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least twelve
months from reporting date for classification of liabilities as current or
non-current, which:

° specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-
current should be based on rights that are in existence at the
end of the reporting period. Specifically, the amendments
clarify that the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to settle the liability
within 12 months.

° clarify that the settlement of a liability can be a transfer of
cash, goods or services, or the entity’s own equity instruments
to the counterparty. If a liability has terms that could, at the
option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the
transfer of the entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do
not affect its classification as current or non-current only if the
entity recognises the option separately as an equity instrument
applying HKAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Presentation”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

PR aR M

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective

for the current year (continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1
“Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)”
(the “2020 Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1 “Non-
current Liabilities with Covenants” (the “2022 Amendments”)
(continued)

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from reporting
date which are conditional on the compliance with covenants, the
2022 Amendments specifically clarify that only covenants that an
entity is required to comply with on or before the end of the reporting
period affect the entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability for at
least twelve months after the reporting date, even if compliance with
the covenant is assessed only after the reporting date. The 2022
Amendments also specify that covenants with which an entity must
comply after the reporting date (i.e. future covenants) do not affect
the classification of a liability as current or non-current at the reporting
date. However, if the entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability is
subject to the entity complying with covenants within twelve months
after the reporting period, an entity discloses information that enables
users of financial statements to understand the risk of the liabilities
becoming repayable within twelve months after the reporting period.
This would include information about the covenants, the carrying
amount of related liabilities and facts and circumstances, if any,
that indicate that the entity may have difficulties complying with the
covenants.

In accordance with the transition provision, the Group has applied
the new accounting policy to the classification of liability as current
or non-current retrospectively. The application of the amendments in
the current year had no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2.
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective
The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments
to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and Amendments to the Classification
HKFRS 7 and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?®
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and Contracts Referencing Nature-
HKFRS 7 Dependent Electricity?

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets
HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture!

Amendments to HKFRS Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards Accounting Standards —
Volume 113
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in

Financial Statements*

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned
below, the Directors anticipate that the application of all other new
and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

PR aR M

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (continued)

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements”

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements”
(“HKFRS 18”), which sets out requirements on presentation and
disclosures in financial statements, will replace HKAS 1 “Presentation
of Financial Statements” (“HKAS 1”). This new HKFRS Accounting
Standard, while carrying forward many of the requirements in HKAS
1, introduces new requirements to present specified categories and
defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures
on management-defined performance measures in the notes to the
financial statements and improve aggregation and disaggregation of
information to be disclosed in the financial statements. In addition,
some HKAS 1 paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8 “Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors” and HKFRS 7.
Minor amendments to HKAS 7 “Statement of Cash Flows” and HKAS
33 “Earnings per Share” are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with
early application permitted. The application of the new standard is
expected to affect the presentation of the statement of profit or loss
and disclosures in the future financial statements. The Group is in
the process of assessing the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

PR aR MY

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 “Amendments to the
Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments”

The amendments to HKFRS 9 clarify the recognition and
derecognition for financial asset and financial liability and add an
exception which permits an entity to deem a financial liability to be
discharged before the settlement date if it is settled in cash using an
electronic payment system if, and only if certain conditions are met.

The amendments also provide guidance on the assessment of
whether the contractual cash flows of a financial asset are consistent
with a basic lending arrangement. The amendments specify that
an entity should focus on what an entity is being compensated for
rather than the compensation amount. Contractual cash flows are
inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement if they are indexed to a
variable that is not a basic lending risk or cost. The amendments state
that, in some cases, a contingent feature may give rise to contractual
cash flows that are consistent with a basic lending arrangement both
before and after the change in contractual cash flows, but the nature
of the contingent event itself does not relate directly to changes in
basic lending risks and costs. Furthermore, the description of the term
“non-recourse” is enhanced and the characteristics of “contractually
linked instruments” are clarified in the amendments.

The disclosure requirements in HKFRS 7 “Financial Instruments”
Disclosures” (“HKFRS 7”) in respect of investments in equity
instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income are amended. In particular, entities are required to disclose
the fair value gain or loss presented in other comprehensive income
during the period, showing separately those related to investments
derecognised during the reporting period and those related to
investments held at the end of the reporting period. An entity is also
required to disclose any transfers of the cumulative gain or loss within
equity related to the investments derecognised during the reporting
period. In addition, the amendments introduce the requirements of
qualitative and quantitative disclosure of contractual terms that could
affect the contractual cash flow based on a contingent even not
directly relating to basic lending risks and cost.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2026, with early application permitted. The
application of the amendments is not expected to have significant
impact on the financial position and performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1

3.2

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Material accounting policy information

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

3.2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGUSs”) (or
group of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management purpose
and not larger than an operating segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Goodwill (continued)

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more frequently
when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the
CGU (or group of CGUSs) to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment before the end of that reporting
period. If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets
on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit (or group of CGUs).

The Group policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate and a joint venture is described below.

Investments in an associate and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Investments in an associate and joint ventures
(continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of an associate and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The
financial statements of an associate and joint ventures used
for equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions
and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity method,
an investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On
acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint
venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which
is included within the carrying amount of the investment.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the
investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in
profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised
in the consolidated financial statements only to the extent of
interests in the associate or joint venture that are not related
to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the
following criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset

with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

Revenue from property investment will be accounted for
accordance with HKFRS 16, whereas dividend income and
interest income from investments will be accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 9.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods, properties or services to a customer for
which the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation
Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of
the value of the goods or services transferred to the customer
to date relative to the remaining goods or services promised
under the contract, that best depict the Group’s performance
in transferring control of goods or services.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of the
time value of money if the timing of payments agreed (either
explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the Group
with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer. In those circumstances, the contract
contains a significant financing component. A significant
financing component may exist regardless of whether the
promise of financing is explicitly stated in the contract or
implied by the payment terms agreed to by the parties to the
contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer
of the associated goods, properties or services is less than
one year, the Group applies the practical expedient of not
adjusting the transaction price for any significant financing
component.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Existence of significant financing component (continued)

For advance payments received from customers before
the transfer of the associated goods, properties or services
in which the Group adjusts for the promised amount of
consideration for a significant financing component, the Group
applies a discount rate that would be reflected in a separate
financing transaction between the Group and the customer at
contract inception. The relevant interest expenses during the
period between the advance payments were received and the
transfer of the associated goods and services are accounted
for on the same basis as other borrowing costs.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease
based on the definition under HKFRS 16 “Leases” at inception
of the contract. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is
classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases are recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term except for
investment properties measured under fair value model.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/
or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at fair values,
adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease
income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from
its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of
the property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in the profit or loss in the year in which the property is
derecognised.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

BEAEHBERER®)
BREME
REMEFHERRES R X
BARBEZYE -

BREMENERRA(BRE
ERERAX)EE - RYTHER
& REMERITVETE &
HEETERIMEMRRE
EHEWA -

AN EATEBBEE S BE
SEARE A B 3 -

BEMERLER » HEKAE
IHERZREME - RERHE
& B A R R ) 2 B 5B B
R o HIRHERZMEREL ZE
A& TR B E SRR
ZEERAERZZETE X
SRR ZMEFE 2 B
7 o



@

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Properties held for development

Properties held for development which are intended to
be sold upon completion of development are classified
as current assets. Except for the leasehold land element
which is measured at cost model in accordance with the
accounting policies of right-of-use assets, properties held for
development are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on a specific identification basis
including allocation of the related development expenditure
incurred and where appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
the properties less estimated cost to completion and costs
necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the
sale include incremental costs directly attributable to the sale
and non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to
make the sale.

The Group transfers properties held for development to
investment properties when there is a change of intention
to hold the properties to earn rentals or/and for capital
appreciation rather than for sale in the ordinary course of
business, which is evidenced by the inception of an operating
lease to another party. Any difference between the fair value
at the date of transfer and its previous carrying amount is
recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a weighted
average method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs
of completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs
necessary to make the sale include incremental costs directly
attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which the
Group must incur to make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes (other than freehold lands
and property, plant and equipment under construction as
described below). Property, plant and equipment are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Freehold lands are not depreciated and are measured at cost
less subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Property, plant and equipment in the course of construction
for production, supply or administrative purposes, are
carried at cost less any recognised impairment loss. Costs
include any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset
to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable
of operating in the manner intended by the management,
including costs of testing whether the related assets is
functioning properly and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.
Sale proceeds of items that are produced while bringing an
item of property, plant and equipment to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management (such as samples produced
when testing whether the asset is functioning properly), and
the related costs of producing those items are recognised
in the profit or loss. The cost of those items are measured in
accordance with the measurement requirements of HKAS
2. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for
their intended use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the
allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably,
interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets”
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Artwork are stated at cost less impairment loss, if any. No
depreciation is provided as the artwork are held primarily for
office aesthetics with no intention to sell and are high value
paintings with indefinite useful lives and estimated residual
values of not less than their costs.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
(other than freehold lands, artwork and property, plant and
equipment under construction) less their residual value over
their estimated useful lives using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets other than goodwill
At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that these assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the CGU to which the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are
allocated to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established.
The recoverable amount is determined for the CGU or
group of CGUs to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the relevant CGU or
group of CGUs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a CGU) for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets other than goodwill
(continued)
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to
a CGU, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group
of CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that
group of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group
of CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset
is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit or the group of CGUs. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUs) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a CGU or
a group of CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

3.2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(@)

cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash; and

cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value and restricted deposits arising from pre-sale
of properties that are held for meeting short-term
cash commitments. Cash equivalents are held for the
purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments
rather than for investment or other purposes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. When a fair value gain or loss on a non-monetary
item is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is also recognised in profit or loss. When
a fair value gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in other comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive
income. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group
(i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the year, in which case
the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

Exchange differences relating to the retranslation of the
Group’s net assets in RMB to the Group’s presentation
currency (i.e. HK$) are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in translation
reserve. Such exchange differences accumulated in the
translation reserve are not reclassified to profit or loss
subsequently.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sales, are added to the cost
of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. For properties under
development for which revenue recognised over time, the
Group ceases to capitalise borrowing costs as soon as the
properties are ready for the Group’s intended sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the
related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included
in the general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation
rate on general borrowings. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
state-managed retirement benefit schemes and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF”) are recognised as
an expense when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

For Long Service Payment (“LSP”) obligation, the Group
accounts for the employer MPF contributions expected to
be offset as a deemed employee contribution towards the
LSP obligation in terms of HKAS 19.93(a) and it is measure
on a net basis. The estimated amount of future benefit is
determined after deducting the negative service cost arising
from the accrued benefits derived from the Group’s MPF
contributions that have been vested with employees, which
are deemed to be contributions from the relevant employees.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit
in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries and annual leave) after deducting
any amount already paid.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to the Directors and employees of the
Group

Equity-settled share-based payments to Directors and
employees and others providing similar services are measured
at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a
corresponding increase in share-based payments reserve.

For share options that are vest immediately at the date of
grant, the fair value of the share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share-based payments reserve will be
transferred to share capital and share premium. When the
share options are forfeited after vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised
in share-based payments reserve will be transferred to
retained profits.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

BEAEHBERER®)
EHESREF
RHRE RN ERBREHREH
IR TR A BLAR T P ST B9 AR IR
FHRERER - TAERHIERTR
MERRAX @ RIER—BEB
B 75 R R A SR AT S AR )
FHABERAS o

BEMTE - HreRFREZ
BAMERNREA NS BRIER
RAE-

R H S
U BE AR EA AR S
BTrEERE=NREE ZBAE

4T EE RIE AR EA
BT FA R R
LRSI B RS TR 2
Pl -

REH BT RAAFEmISER
JGB {6k T 28 RE O ARSI T SUAS 3R
MRFEREBHAREAEE
HEEKERE CBETAZRG
it REAEXH - AREOY
AR EAE g -

FRRAR L B HA A B8 O P A
Mz CERERENDFHER
R IR

BRERITER  BERARD
AN TR ER 2 BEESE
BERARBDEE - EEkE
ISHEISEE S PE CANEN SN
RETE - ABERBRDEZAN
REFETHERZ SRRERER

A o



0

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and
deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation because
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised
for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit and at the time of the transaction does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary difference.
In addition, the deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arisen from the initial recognition of
goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
an associate and interests in joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale, except for freehold lands,
which is always presumed to be recovered entirely through
sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Taxation (continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 requirements to the lease liabilities and the related assets
separately. The Group recognises a deferred tax asset related
to lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all
taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxation entity by the same taxation
authority.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”
("HKFRS 15”). Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
and financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Interest income from debt instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) and dividend income
from equity instruments which are derived from the Group’s
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue. Interest
income from bank balances and deposits, entrusted loans
and loan receivable are included in other income, gains and
losses.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to

cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(continued)
All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as
a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

3.

PR aR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(continued)

(i) Amortised cost and interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and debt instruments
subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest income
is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired. For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the
next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(continued)

(i

Debt instruments classified as at FVTOCI

Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts for debt
instruments classified as at FVTOCI as a result of
interest income calculated using the effective interest
method, and foreign exchange gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss. All other changes
in the carrying amount of these debt instruments
are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated under the heading of investment
revaluation reserve. Impairment allowances are
recognised in profit or loss with corresponding
adjustment to other comprehensive income
without reducing the carrying amounts of these
debt instruments. When these debt instruments
are derecognised, the cumulative gains or losses
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
are reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(continued)
(ii) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated
as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and
is included in the “(loss) gain on fair value changes of
equity instruments at FVTPL”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including trade
receivables, other receivables, bills receivables, entrusted
loans, loan receivable, debt instruments at FVTOCI, restricted
bank deposits and bank balances) and financial guarantee
contracts which are subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”)
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessments are done based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and loan receivable. The ECL on these assets are
assessed individually and/or collectively based on appropriate
groupings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
° an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk of financial
assets has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than
30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

b
J
at
@
52
el

BEAEHBERER®)

SRITAEE)
SREEE)

RIBE B BRE LR FOW#E
TTREFENEREEREMIEA

BZRE(E)

() EERRBEEM(E)

BEHALEKR
M E R R IEHI
BEEE

BYEHART
HEBEBH
EENBETRDN
B AP B H BE
B BRI
REMERLIE
HIR B A &
ft-

T E T EE R
fi] » REBBREESLH
B @ EAFEA30H -
Bl Vs ERESRE
EEERKE B EHE
m:BRIERXEEFEE
MEZFER BRI IEN

I °

—E - NFEFR



&

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(0

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at
the reporting date. A debt instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default,
(i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term
and (i) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group
considers a debt instrument to have low credit
risk when it has an internal or external credit rating
of “investment grade” as per globally understood
definitions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

3.

PR aR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that
the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable
commitment is considered to be the date of initial
recognition for the purposes of assessing impairment.
In assessing whether there has been a significant
increase in the credit risk since initial recognition of
financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers
the changes in the risk that the specified debtor will
default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

(i) Definition of default
For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(ii) Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

3.

PR aR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based on historical
data and forward-looking information. Estimation of
ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined with the respective risks
of default occurring as the weights. The Group has
applied a practical expedient for the provision matrix
in estimating ECL for its financial instruments. The
provision matrix simplifies the calculation process by
utilizing predetermined probabilities of default and
loss given default assigned to different credit risk
categories.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is
required to make payments only in the event of a
default by the debtor in accordance with the terms
of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the
ECL is the present value of the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less
any amounts that the Group expects to receive from
the holder, the debtor or any other party.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are
considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant credit
information such as forward-looking macroeconomic
information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;
° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
° External credit ratings where available.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised cost
of the financial asset.

Except for investments in debt instruments that
are measured at FVTOCI and financial guarantee
contracts, the Group recognises an impairment gain
or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception
of trade receivables, where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account. For investments in debt instruments that are
measured at FVTOCI, the loss allowance is recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the investment revaluation reserve without reducing
the carrying amount of these debt instruments. Such
amount represents the changes in the investment
revaluation reserve in relation to accumulated loss
allowance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument
classified as at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is
reclassified to profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument
classified as at FVTPL, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the fair value change is recognised in
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, bills
payables, dividends payable and bank borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to
make payment when due in accordance with the terms of
a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contracts liabilities
are measured initially at their fair values. It is subsequently
measured at the higher of:

(i) the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

(i) the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee
period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

PR aR M

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3, the Directors are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if revision
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the Directors have made in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in consolidated financial
statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties (Notes 14 and 24)
For the purposes of measuring deferred tax arising from investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the Directors
have reviewed the Group’s investment property portfolios as at 31
December 2024, and concluded that the investment properties
located in the PRC with carrying amount of HK$12,964,770,000
(2023: HK$13,347,994,000) are held under a business model which
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties over time, rather than through
sale. Therefore, the Directors have determined the presumption that
the carrying amounts of such investment properties are recovered
entirely through sale is rebutted. As a result, the Group has not
recognised deferred taxes on LAT in respect of changes in fair value
of such investment.

BEHEERRAH

EXE
B RA H

at # i & (& 5T R
EZEFERRF

BHn

Ef%$ﬁlz AR (RO FE3#
) BRed - BERARENR A HM
X%Waﬁ?&ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ 1E 3
B - fEEF R o REEE RARERR
RIBELR MR ARENEME R
BT - ERERAEARNNZEMST -

AEt RIERRREFEEHN - M
Ve BB HME - BIEZH
RIRERR o AME R B IR A RORRAAR
AIFEE AR R R R RIS S #ERR o

FE A& =T BUR 2 B A3
BERMAEFH (AT AT RESRE
RAKESFBERBREFIEL - LR
BMBRRAER 2 NBEXNZEAF
BB AHE

REYME ZIEERE (HE14%24)
RAE2FAAFERANIEEMEMN
Fimﬁkﬁﬁﬁi EECH
AEER-_Z-_WF+=-A=+—H
m&§%%@A~1%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ
12,964,770,000 8 L ( Z & = = F
13,347,994,00078 7T, ) i1 A R Bl B & &
MEDNEEBEABBEZEWE - HEB
m%%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ&§%¥%@Am@ﬁ

o ERz=(MIEFBEE) - WES
ﬁm@@ﬁ% SEYEAREEN 28
FROEMBENRE - At - AEER
WESREERENAFEZSER LT
AR AIRLERIA °

—E - NFEFR



&

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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PR aR MY

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties (Notes 14 and 24)
(continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the investment properties located
in Hong Kong and the United Kingdom with carrying amounts
of HK$7,049,558,000 (2023: HK$4,076,290,000) and
HK$5,979,627,000 (2023: HK$6,377,504,000), respectively are
not held under a business model which objective is to recover the
economic benefits of the investment properties entirely through use.
No deferred tax is recognised in respect of the fair value changes in
such investment properties as the Group is not subject to any income
taxes on disposal of investment properties in Hong Kong. The Group
is subject to Capital Gains Tax on disposal of investment properties in
the United Kingdom. No deferred tax is recognised in respect of the
fair value changes in such investment properties located in the United
Kingdom as the amount is insignificant.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year.

Allowances for inventories (Note 25)

In determining the net realisable value of the Group’s inventories, the
management considers the fluctuations in price, the balance on hand
relative to sales prospect and the condition of the inventories and
estimate the net realisable value of inventories based on estimated
selling prices and market condition to the extent that such condition
exists at the end of reporting period, less the estimated cost of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Where the net
realisable value is less than the carrying amount, impairment loss will
arise. Reversal of write-down of HK$263,078,000 (2023: reversal of
write-down of HK$140,926,000) on inventories has been recognised
during the year ended 31 December 2024. As at 31 December 2024,
the carrying amount of inventories was HK$4,232,930,000 (2023:
HK$3,775,589,000).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Estimated net realisable value on properties held for development
(Note 26)

In determining whether write-down should be made to the Group’s
properties held for development, the Group determined the net
realisable values of the properties held for development by reference
to the estimated selling price less estimated costs to completion
of the properties and costs necessary to make the sale. The future
selling prices are estimated by reference to the recent selling prices
of similar properties in the same project or relevant locations. In
addition, the management estimated the future costs to complete the
properties held for development and costs necessary to make the sale
by reference to the actual development costs and selling expenses
incurred and the completion status. When assessing the net realisable
value of the properties held for development, the management will
also make reference to the valuations carries out by an independent
qualified valuer which engaged by the Group. If the actual net
realisable values on properties held for development is less than
expected as a result of change in market condition and/or significant
variation in the budgeted development cost, material write-down may
result. Write-down of HK$303,149,000 (2023: HK$553,032,000) on
properties held for development has been recognised during the year
ended 31 December 2024. As at 31 December 2024, the carrying
amount of properties held for development was HK$12,217,659,000
(2023: HK$15,419,688,000).

ECL for trade receivables (Notes 27(a) and 35)

Trade receivables that are credit-impaired are assessed for ECL
individually, and the remaining trade receivables are assessed
collectively based on shared credit risk characteristics by reference
to the Group’s internal credit ratings. The estimated loss rates
are estimated based on historical observed default rates over the
expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort. At every
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are reassessed
and changes in the forward-looking information are considered.

The ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information about
the ECL and the Group’s trade receivables are disclosed in Notes
27(a) and 35(b).

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of trade receivables
was HK$7,184,950,000 (2023: HK$6,543,486,000), net of allowance
for credit losses of HK$938,732,000 (2023: HK$1,090,600,000).

BEHEEERRAA

BEARESFTHERMAT
%%ﬁ§2$iﬂﬁ@

FERERTBUR 2 E R ()
FREUE AT TEEFE (HEE26)

RETASEFEEMERS T ZHR
B AEE2EGHGTEEREMERT
ZABETR A KB IEE RN AN - B
ERERMECIERFE - BEE
BLER—IER SERMMEAUYE
T EEEAE - o ERESE
EEENBERERNARBERSZ R
TEREE @ BEFTREERMERNR
Xﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁgmﬁmﬁﬁc%ﬁﬁ
FEREVEHABIEFER  BEEN
h EREBEIERNBY A ERGER
HEITRIE(E - mwm%#ﬁzw &/
&ﬁ%%%&$ﬁ§ﬁ RRER
%%Z,\m iﬁﬁfﬁﬁ EA%E\HJ%

%%ﬁékﬁﬂ REBEE—_Z_meE
+ZA=+—HLFE EERFLE
%%Wﬂmm«mm%nc_?_z
£ : 553,032,000/ 7T) - KT IU4F
+ZA=+—H #ERVENEEE
£12,217,659,0008 L (Z T - =4 :
15,419,688,000 7T )

BEZEWES
27(a)}.35)
BAMERFHEE 2 B EEREERER
TEEEEEIE - HAB ZRIERF 2R
KEBRIBEETNR  ERAREER
SEFEUEITERA RS - [HETBEENE
RIEU R RIE R F HA R L BIR TS 8
R WRERTLBERARSE
HENASMBTIE M ERHEL A - NG
EskE AE - HegERTEELBEM
JEOE - UEEAEEERHEL -

A2 A EEBR (M

TEHEEEEHGHTEH2HHERIE -
ERBHEEEERAEEE S EKE
REE R 7527 (@) R 35(0) I E -

RZZE-_MF+_A=+—H BH5E
U BR 32X > BR T {E /A& 7,184,950,000% 7T
(ZZE =% :6,543,486,000/87T) ' &

k= B E 18 %15038,732,000/8 T (=

T =4 1O9OGOOOOO/ETI:)
— T T UFFR



&

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY |

continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
ECL for debt instruments at FVTOCI (Note 35)

Due to the defaults of a bond issuer in making payments of interest
and principal for its indebtedness, the Directors considered there
was a significant increase in credit risk in the debt instruments at
FVTOCI issued by this issuer. The Group engaged an independent
qualified valuer to assist in the estimation of the ECL provision on the
debt instruments at FVTOCI issued by this issuer by determining an
appropriate probability of default rate, the estimated loss given default

rate of each debt instrument and forward-looking adjustments.

For the remaining debt instruments at FVTOCI issued by other
bond issuers, the Directors considered that the credit risk on these
investments is limited as the bonds securities listed on Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX”) and Irish Stock
Exchange and were issued by listed issuers in Hong Kong with good
creditability. The Directors assess ECL on these debt instruments at
FVTOCI based on the default rates published by major international
credit rating agencies that are applicable to the respective debts

instruments.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of the Group’s
debt instruments at FVTOCI was HK$705,341,000 (2023:
HK$861,970,000). Based on the assessment, the Group has
recognised impairment loss under expected credit loss model of
HK$702,158,000 (2023: HK$2,283,000) in profit or loss for the year
ended 31 December 2024, details of which are disclosed in Note

35(b).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

ECL for loan receivable (Note 35)

During the year ended 2024, due to the defaults of the borrower of
the loan receivable in making payments of interest and principal for
its indebtedness, the Directors considered there was a significant
increase in credit risk in the loan receivable to this borrower. The
Group engaged an independent qualified valuer to assist in the
estimation of the ECL provision on the loan receivable to this borrower
by determining an appropriate discount factor, exposure at default,
probability of default rate, the estimated loss given default rate of the
loan receivable and forward-looking adjustments.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of the Group’s
loan receivable was HK$Nil (2023: HK$721,591,000). Based
on the assessment, the Group has recognised impairment loss
under expected credit loss model of HK$721,591,000 (2023:
HK$893,907,000) in profit or loss for the year ended 31 December
2024, details of which are disclosed in Notes 23 and 35(b).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

Some of the Group’s assets are measured at fair value for financial
reporting purposes. The Directors have a designated team to
determine the appropriate valuation methodologies and inputs for fair
value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of the Group’s investment properties,
the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is available.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages
independent qualified valuer to perform the valuation of the Group’s
investment properties. At the end of each reporting period, the
valuation committee of the Group work closely with the independent
qualified valuer to establish and determine the appropriate valuation
methodologies and inputs for Level 2 and Level 3 fair value
measurements. The Group will first consider and adopt Level 2 inputs
where inputs can be observable, other than quoted prices in the
active market. When Level 2 inputs are not available, the Group will
adopt valuation methodologies that include Level 3 inputs. Where
there is a material change in the fair value of the assets, the causes of
the fluctuations will be reported to the Directors. Any changes in the
price per square metre with reference to recent transactions will affect
the fair value of the investment properties of the Group. Information
about the valuation methodologies and inputs used in determining the
fair value of the Group’s investment properties are disclosed in Note
14. As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of investment
properties was HK$25,993,955,000 (2023: HK$23,801,788,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Fair value measurements and valuation processes (continued)

In relying on the valuation report, the Directors have exercised their
judgement and are satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective
of the current market conditions. Changes to these assumptions,
including the potential risk of any market violation, policy, geopoalitical
and social changes or other unexpected incidents as a result
of change in macroeconomic environment, travel restrictions
implemented by many countries, increased complexity in international
trade tensions geopolitics, changes in policy direction and/or
mortgage requirements, or other unexpected incidents would result
in changes in the fair values of the Group’s investment properties and
the corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain or loss reported

in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

(ii) Revenue recognised over time represents income from hotel
accommodation.

The revenue of the Group arising from sales of laminates, PCBs,
chemicals and magnetic products is recognised at a point in time.
Under the transfer-of-control approach in HKFRS 15, revenue from
these sales is recognised when customer acceptance has been
obtained, which is the point of time when the goods are delivered
based on the agreed shipping terms and the location specified by the
customers, and when the customer has the ability to direct the use of
these products and obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits of
these products.

The revenue of the Group arising from sales of properties in the
ordinary course of business is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the respective properties.

Revenue from hotel accommodation is recognised over time, as
the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

5. REVENUE 5. EXH®
Analysis of revenue for the year is as follows: FRNEEBNOTAT -
2024 2023
—E_NE B
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&T FA&T
Revenue recognised at a point in time MNE BB S 55
Sales of chemicals SHEC TER 12,779,405 10,567,369
Sales of laminates SHEEINEIR 15,263,147 13,730,259
Sales of PCBs $HE EN Il AR BE AR 12,106,976 11,647,776
Sales of properties SHEY=E 516,698 1,281,687
Others (Note i) oA (B 5ED 282,575 339,767
Revenue recognised over time (Note ii) W& A T I SR A 2 38R (B =) 135,054 145,156
Revenue from contracts with customers BPEaHlE 41,083,855 37,712,014
Rental income el A 1,457,030 1,470,460
Interest income from debt instruments BT AR EWA 61,730 38,676
Dividend income from equity instruments Hem T AR BMA 490,637 491,349
43,093,252 39,712,499
Notes: BisE
0] The amount mainly included sales of magnetic products of 0] ZeBITELRUMEEREE
HK$274,880,000 (2023: HK$325,765,000). 274,880,000 3% 7T ( = F = = 4 :

325,765,000/ 7T) °
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REVEN U E (continued)

Transaction price allocated to the remaining

performance obligation for contracts with customers
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, all sales contracts have
an original expected duration of one year or less. As permitted
under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for these contracts is not disclosed.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” (“HKFRS 8”) requires operating
segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about
components of the Group that are regularly reviewed by the executive
directors of the Company, who are the Chief Operating Decision
Makers (“CODM”), in order to allocate resources to segments and
to assess their performance. Specifically, the Group’s reportable
segments under HKFRS 8 are organised into six main operating
divisions — (i) laminates, (ii) PCBs, (iiij chemicals, (iv) properties, (v)
investments (mainly investment income from debt instruments at
FVTOCI and equity instruments at FVTPL) and (vi) others (mainly
including service income, manufacture and sale of magnetic products
and hotel business).

The accounting policies the Group used for segment reporting under
HKFRS 8 are the same as those used in its HKFRS consolidated
financial statements. Segment results represent the profit earned
by/loss from each segment with certain items not included (share
of result of an associate, share of results of joint ventures, finance
costs, share-based payments, impairment losses under expected
loss model on loan receivable and unallocated corporate income and
expenses). This is the measure reported to the CODM for the purpose
of resource allocation and performance assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBERRME
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. /J-J\EBE*SI'(%)
(@ Segment revenue and results () DHEEBERESE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results R R SRy EE| D 2 REBE:
by reportable segments: BREEDFTIT
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_Z-_MF¥E+=-H=+—H
IHEE
Laminates PCBs  Chemicals  Properties Investments Others ~ Eliminations  Consolidated
BAER  ORSER  (IER hg R& i 3f ga
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$1000 HK$000 HK$'000
TR Tn TEn TR ThR TR T TR
(Note a) (Note b) (Note c)
(WiFa) (Wb (Ko
Seqment revenue HPesE
Extemnal sales HIEER 15,263,147 12,106,976 12,779,405 1,073,728 552,367 417,629 - 43,003,252
Inter-segment sales PEEIHER 3,638,388 - 833 - - 13,205 (4489,897) 5
Total 3 18901,535 12,106,976 13,617,709 1,973,728 552,367 430834 (4,489,897) 43,093,252
Resut 4
Segment resuits prE 2104519 1,359,544 595,165 860,954 (190,805) (2,130) 4,721,247
Unallocated comporateincome ~—— &AFLZAAMA 29,953
Unallocated comorate expenses R AFEH (321,022
Impaiment losses under expected T SEBES TREUED S
crecitloss moce on RfEEE
loan receivable (721,591)
Finance costs BERL (1,116,358)
Share of resus of joint ventures—~ FE(RASATIEE 18,110
Shareof result of anassociete B E BELARE 105,847
Proft before taxation ik 2,721,986
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. ﬁﬁgﬁﬂ(%)
(@ Segment revenue and results (continued) (@ PHKREREEE
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-ZE-_=f+=-A=+—H
LHEE
Laminates PCBs  Chemicals  Properties  Investments Others ~ Elminations ~ Consolidted
BAER OBGER  (LIEG VES e Efp H a4
HK$000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$ 000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$1000 HK$'000
T T T T T T T T
(Note ) (Note b (Note c)
(W) (W&D) (Riike)
Seqment revenue HesE
Extemal sales HigER 13730269 11,647,776 10,567,369 2,752,147 530,025 484923 - 3971249
Inter-segment sales NE HER 3452433 - 631,483 - - 5316 (4,089231) -
Total it 17182692 11647776 11,198852 2,752,147 530,025 490238 (4,089,231) 39,712,499
Resut E4
Segment resuits prE 1571625 1316141 606,765 496,585 868,864 4011 4,862,991
Unalocated comorateincome.~~ AAELZAFIMA 249,190
Unallocated corporate expenses — AARZAFIRE (338,006)
Impaiment losses under expected  EHEEBBER TENERY
creditloss model on loan receivable  HERE (893.907)
Finance costs HARK (1,124,469
Share-based payments BOFART (124,008)
Share of results of joint ventures — EIEAEREIES 8,62
Shareof resut of anassociate  FEEEENFEE 90,378
Proft before taxation RHAAR 2,787,711
Notes: Mz -
(@) The management aggregated the revenue derived from the (a) BEREERDEREEENE

sales of properties and rental income into “Properties” segment
because the financial performance of both businesses are
affected by changes in the property market.

(b) The management aggregated the revenue derived from the
interest income from debt instruments and dividend income from
equity instruments into “Investments” segment.

(@] The management aggregated the revenue derived from the sales
of magnetic products, income from hotel accommodation and
income from other businesses.

Inter-segment sales are charged on a cost-plus basis with an
arm’s length margin.
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6. SEGMENT |NFORMATION (continued)

(b) Segment assets and liabilities
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities

by reportable segments:

At 31 December 2024

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

6. DEHER @
b)) PHMEEREE
AT AR RS B85 2 AEE
BERAET SN

R-E-_mE+=-A=+—H

Laminates PCBs  Chemicals  Properties Investments Others  Consolidated
ERER  ORSER tIER nE k5 A &a
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn Thn Thn THn Thn TEn Thn
Assets g
Segment assets HHEE 18,815,664 15,940,155 9,621,958 38,837,729 9,330,350 614,771 93,160,627
Interests in an associate REENAIZER 453,154
Interests in joint ventures REENAZER 2,373,457
Unallocated assets AOLAE
-Cashand cash equivalents’ ~ -B4 REAZEER/
restricted bank deposits RBERITRR 1,673,646
- Deferred tax assets -EEREAE 2598
- Taxation recoverable - EHE 31,754
- Others -Ef 89,428
Consolidated total assets GABERE 97,784,654
Liabilities g8f
Segment libilties P8k (3404053 (2462492)  (1,100,137)  (1,483,114) 3 (47,149 (8,496,%45)
Unallocated liailties AOEZEE
- Bank borrowings -RiEE (21,696,099)
- Taxation payable -E4HA (1,474,027)
- Deferred tax iabilties -EREfERE (786,090)
- Others -Efh (592,046)
Consoldated total iabiltes FREEEE (33,045,407)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6 /]-J\%
(b) Segment assets and liabilities (continued) (b)

At 31 December 2023

Laminates PCBs  Chemicals Properties
BEER  ORgER tIEm S
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FiEn T TiEn Fin

EEHEEERAA

=100

THEERAEE)
R-B-=%+=-A=+—H

Investments Others ~ Consolidated
e -4 &8
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$000
TiEn Fin T

Assets g
Segment assets HHEE 18547282 15,360,143 6,805,028 40034621 11,986,727 640,426 93,424,207
Interests in an associate REENAZER 445,132
Interests in joint ventures REERTZfER 2473378
Unallocated assets AOMEE
-Cashand cash equivalents’ ~ -B4 REAZEER/
restrioted bank deposts RBHROER 1820532
- Deferred tax assets -ERREEE 5,068
~ Taxation recoverable -AkERE 32,626
- Others - 769,563
Consolidated total assets DRBEEE 98,968,526
Liabilities 8f
Segment labifties SaE BISLTE0 A2 (1I27820)  (1464190) - AT (3189150
Unallocated iabilties RALZEE
- Bank borrowings -BEE (22,922,683)
- Taxation payable —[ESiA (1,352,201)
- Deferred tax liabilties -EiRERRE (831,828)
- Others -t (1,238,042)
Consoldated ol lebfes ~~~ GAB{ESE (34,533904

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and
allocating resources between segments:

° all assets are allocated to operating segments other
than interests in an associate, interests in joint
ventures, deferred tax assets, taxation recoverable,
certain cash and cash equivalents and other assets;
and

° all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other
than bank borrowings, deferred tax liabilities, taxation
payable and other liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBERRME
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. ﬁggﬁ*ﬂ(%)
(c)  Other information (c) HiER
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-—s=-—_mE+=-A=+—H
IEFE
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or SFAD MBS D BB ETER
segment assets: S5
Unallocated
Laminates PCBs  Chemicals  Properties  Investments Others amount  Consolidated
BAEA  ORSER  LIER h & B AAESH &8
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HKS'000 HKS$000 HK$000 HKS'000
TAT TAn TAn Tin Tn TAn Tn Tin
Capta addifons BT 644660 1286650 2565738 588578 - 5,867 - 5001502
Depreciaton of property, plantand 112 - R RN E
equipment (043,841) (658,262) (301,362) - - (29,603) - (1,933,089
Deoreciaion of ight-fuse assels ~ EEEEENE (15,603) (8.997) (13,724) - - (16,374) - (54,758)
Losson farvalue changes ofequity AT BT A BRMERTELTE
sruments at FYTPL B EE - - - - (#3.826) g g (43,826)
Geln on disposal of debt instuments i ERAFE A2 AUER
atAToo! ERIENE - - = = 490 = 2 490
Wrte-Gown of PUD HREERE - - - (a4 = g - (814
Impaimnent losses under expected credt B EEBEER TRNEHHE
loss model onloan recelvable BE - - - > = SN 74| R (P K1)
Impaimment osses under ECL movelon BEEEERE TRATE A
debt nstuments at FVTOC A ENENER T ARE
BB - - - - (702,158) - - (102,158)
Impaimnent losses reversed (ecognised) EEEEBRES, THERENES
under ECL model on trade receivables B (%) 7 BEER 21,039 89,498 41,650 (M) - e s 152,016
Reversal of wrte-down wrte-down) S HHEE (5
of inventories 147,831 44,936 10,325 - - (14 - 263,078
Inerestmcome on bark balances, 784 B3 ERERREN
deposts, enrusted loans and ERZHEMA
[oan receivable 20,922 3,926 5,632 14,499 - 19 2,141 08,745
Gain {oss) on cisposaland writen o~ £ ERAEENE « BERFE i
of property, plant and equipment ) 575 o (17,839) (57) - 4 - (17,244)
et loss on fa value changes RENFLTER BRTE
of ivestment properties - - - (32,333 - - - (32,333
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE P BHmRMEE
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(c)

Other information (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or

segment assets:

Captal additions BRER
Depreciaton of propery, plantand 1% - BERRATE
equipment

Depreciaion ofight-ofuse assels ~ FRIEEENE
Gein on'fai veus chenges of equity ~ RATER ABANERTEATE

nstments at FVTPL polie

Galn on disposal of debt instuments £ ERAFE AL 2AAER
alAmoo! ERIENE

Wrte-Gown of PUD HREERE

Impeimment losses under expected credt B EEERES TEUETHHE
Joss model on loan receivable i

Impaimnent osses under ECL movelon BEEEEREX TRATE A
debt nstuments at FVTOC EhRENENER T ARE

Impiment losses reversed (ecognises) BEREEEEER THESRNES
under ECLmodel on taderecelvables £ (%652) 7 HIEE

Reversa of wite-down (wrte-dowr) of - KIS AR ()
nventories

Inerest mcome on bark balances, 784 B ERERREN
deposts, entrusted oans andloan~~ BEZFIEMA
receivable

(Loss) gain on cisposal and written offof HERiENE - RERZEZ
property, plant and equipment (BR)M&

Netloss onfairvalue chenges of ~ REMEATEZH BETE
nvestment properties

Laminates
BIER
HKS 000

T
1,196,103

903414
(1019

70990

121,267

3,643

)

PCBs
HIRAR
HKS'000
ThrL
1951222

69,251
6863

2423

612

5126

(&)

6.

Chemicals
LIER
HKS'000

Tén

2303307

(274669
(1599

50

(10599

11864

09759

i
4
b
Jo
at
a
)
al

ANIZRIE] L,
D EBE B )
(c) HtER@
BE-ZE-_=f+=-A=+—H
LHFE
FFADEEEmE D B EEFEX
R
Unallocated
Properties  Investments Others amount  Consoldatedt
S A i AIEeE a8
HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000
T Tin Tin T Tin
846,203 - 10793 - bJ076r8
2508 - 51,218) - 1980070
- - (19042 - (52,786)
- 310844 - - 310844
- 30,009 - - 30,009
(553,03 - - - BB
- - S BN R
- 23 - - 0283
(175) - 4 - Har
- - (305) - 140926
16002 - 115 200907 268,657
(60 - 1 5 30479
(113434 - - - (13

The Group operates principally in the PRC (country of

domicile).
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (ontinued) 6.

(c)  Other information (continued)
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from
external customers by geographical location of the customers
or tenants or in the case of interest income and dividend
income, the principal place of business of the debtor or

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

DEPEE )

()

Hitp &R ()
REEREBEEPHEPHIHE -
o fid 8 ) S U A R BB A RIAR
BEBATRRETH T EE?
WEH NI P R TN

investee: T
Year ended 31 December
BE+-ZA=1+—HLEE
2024 2023
t 1123 —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET BT
The PRC (country of domicile) PR (FTERIZ) 37,597,197 34,652,221
Other Asian countries (including Thailand, — EfSMEIR (BIEREH -

Japan, Korea and Singapore) B« 88E KETh) 2,528,278 2,531,228
Europe BOM 1,930,716 1,853,185
America EM 1,037,061 675,865

43,093,252 39,712,499

No single external customer of the Group contributed over
10% of the Group’s revenue for each of the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

6.

7.

SEGMENT |NFORMATION (continued) 6.

(c)  Other information (continued)

The geographical analysis of the Group’s non-current assets
other than entrusted loans, deferred tax assets, equity
instruments at FVTPL and debt instruments at FVTOCI by

location of assets is presented as follows:

BEHEERRAA

DEPE R

) HtbER(E
BERER  ETRRAE | &
ATER A B OME TA R
AFER AR AR FRES TS
TR AREFRDEERE
EBHEHHLIIT

At 31 December

A+=-—BA=+—H
2024 2023
—E U B =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
The PRC (country of domicile) PR (FTERZ) 46,843,213 42,303,392
United Kingdom HEH 8,117,143 8,576,209
Thailand B 766,694 647,000
Vietnam W 26,854 -
55,753,904 51,526,601

OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES 7.

HtA ~ KSR EE

2024 2023
—E-NE —E=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET

Other income, gains and losses includes: HEaUA - W REIERE
Interest income on bank balances and deposits $R7T4% 842 R 1F3X 2 F 848 A 59,584 112,456
Interest income on entrusted loans ZREFRZFBWA 9,161 11,939
Interest income from loan receivable U E R Z T E WA - 144,262
Government grants (Note) BUsaERL () 74,910 59,612

Loss on disposal and written off of property, HERMEME - BE R

plant and equipment KRR (17,244) (30,479)
Others Hih 29,861 21,144
156,272 318,934

Note:  Government grants are related to unemployment insurance premium
refunds, import of high technology products, development support and
support for stabilising employment received by the Group from relevant
government departments. There are no unfulfilled conditions attached to
these grants.

MiaE - BUTHEBEAAEEEBBGFIES
MAERBRBRE  SHBRMERER
YR BRIXEMIBEREIR - RE
EAIZ SRR I R RIER 2 ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. MEMAE
2024 2023
—E-MEF ZEZ=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET TET
Interest on bank borrowings RITEEFRE 1,149,935 1,148,839
Interest on lease liabilities HESEFNE 491 329
Less: Amounts capitalised in the properties B ETARFERYENETN R
held for development (13,040) (13,170)
Amounts capitalised in the construction TEIENERLERE
in progress (21,028) (11,535)
1,116,358 1,124,463
Bank borrowing costs capitalised during the year include bank FERNEBNMEZBITEERABIE—RK
borrowing costs arising from the general borrowing pool which were EEMNELEZRTEEKAK  LLEERE
calculated by applying a weighted average capitalisation rate of 4.84% BERSINERHEREENZRL84%
(20283: 5.04%) per annum to expenditure on qualifying assets. “E = 5.04%)5HE o
9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9. FEBEX
2024 2023
—T-mE —E-=%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TET
The amount comprises: SR
PRC EIT RS 509,873 312,617
PRC LAT R SR E R 2,151 40,468
Hong Kong Profits Tax FEEMER 11,169 12,485
Taxation arising in other jurisdictions MR AR 2 FiIE 46,368 50,470
Withholding tax in the PRC TR 100,594 158,841
Under(over) provision in previous years BEFERETT (B BB 43,852 (1,479
714,007 573,402
Deferred taxation credit (Note 24) JEIEF A 2 (M1E24) (95,352) (129,793)
618,655 443,609
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

9.

PR aR M

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation
Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%
for both years.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax of 5% — 10% is
imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by
subsidiaries in Mainland China from 1 January 2008 onwards.

Pursuant to the EIT Law, a High-New Technology Enterprise shall be
entitled to a preferential tax rate of 15% for three years since it was
officially endorsed. Certain subsidiaries of the Company in the PRC
obtained official endorsement as a High-New Technology Enterprise
(“Tax Concession”) and with the expiry dates on or before 2026 (2023:
2025).

The provision of LAT is estimated according to the requirements
set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. LAT has
been levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the
appreciation of land value, represented by the excess of sales
proceeds of properties over prescribed direct costs. Prescribed
direct costs are defined to include costs of land, development and
construction costs, as well as certain costs relating to the property
development. According to the State Administration of Taxation’s
official circulars, LAT shall be payable provisionally upon sales of
the properties, followed by final ascertainment of the gain at the
completion of the properties development.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong Profits
Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity will
be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at
16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of
16.5%. Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying group
entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of the estimated
assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits
above HK$2 million.

The Group is operating in UK where the Pillar Two Rules are effective,
and Thailand where the Pillar Two Rules are enacted but not effective.
However, as the Group’s estimated effective tax rates of all the
jurisdictions in which the Group operates are higher than 15%, after
taking into account the adjustments under the Pillar Two Rules based
on management’s best estimate, the management of the Group
considered the Group is not liable to top-up tax under the Pillar Two
Rules.

BEHEERRAH

B e

IR PEAEMEIE]([REMEHR
EDRBHGD - MESERT BB
RAZEFTEHB R R25%

BIEPECEMERE BZTSNF
—A—HE pEFERANKER A
Fr BB 89 F B AT S R /9 IR B B 5% =
10% M TEIRES ©

BIBDEMBRE SRt ETE
HEEARAIRZEE AP =FN15%H
REE - ARABTHEHENBAREE
FRERBTRIMCE(HBESR]D
EEBAAZSTZAFH (==
FoZT-RF) -

FHELHIRER B E R BT EBA
MR BRMEE - B ESR(R
BEMEHERANEEEERKRA) A
REBIEI0%ZE60%FEEH A + HIRE
B o HEBRKATE BLHKA - B
REEERA - REMEAREEZERN
KA - RREZRGERZETRE -
HEMERETH T HEESN - JEE
BRTRE A RS -

REF SRR B ERESBHE
AEREERERNE 8BS
1#8.25% M - BB — 8 EAETAF
HRIZEIZ16.5%EF o TFFE FEBMA
BHEBETEMNFE G EEIL16.5%
MEEHEED - Al - 6 EKEE
ERE B &S b ERBE S
RB25% MM EHMMBBFEH - M
ZEBBILU 2 AT ERBE M AE
16.5% )Tt AL ©

REBRRE(EZRAEER) RFE
B (A — AR B AR E s R A 20 #8
BER - R > AR AEERHBEEE
PERDEER ZHABRBEIR
15% * EE EREBEE R BHRKEMETH
EHMHE R THRRR - A%E
EEERR/AEEHARBE R
B R TR o

—E - NFEFR
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KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 9

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates

prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

Income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the profit before
taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows:

rEHAX e

Bt A AR 2 BB TIZA @R EER

ZERMETE -

REZZFBHAX G BaRRHR
AN 2 SRR T

2024 2023
—E -4 —Eo=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FAT
Profit before taxation MR R R A 2,721,986 2,787,711
Tax charge at the domestic income tax LABI 1 P iSHi % 25%
rate of 25% (2023: 25%) (Note) (ZE=F 1 25%)5tE 2
FiTE R 2 (PH5E) 680,497 696,928
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for A FE R 2 B
tax purpose o 374,979 225,535
Tax effect of income not taxable for BERBU S 2 BT
tax purpose ol (78,812 (82,857)
Tax effect of share of results of joint ventures I & &R R ¥EE 2 G E (4,528) (21,407)
Tax effect of share of result of an associate JEMEEE DR B2 (26,412) (22,594)
PRC LAT lEi bz b =h ) 2,151 40,468
Tax effect of PRC LAT B+ ER RS2 (538) (10,117
Effect of withholding tax on dividend income ~ F1EIHIB A TR AR B UA
from PRC subsidiaries BRAMNTERN R 100,594 158,841
Tax effect of Tax Concession BGEEIMBEE (239,063) (423,634)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised R ERHIEEE HETE 45,915 118,288
Utilisation of tax losses previously AT RERZBHIEEE
not recognised (235,374) (301,994)
Effect of withholding tax on undistributed TEINRE BB A R R
profits attributable to the PRC subsidiaries R IR F ) 5o 28 99,673 151,753
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries BREIAREE RN - REMENE
operating in other jurisdictions/areas other R RSB AR
than the domestic income tax rate TRMEZ & (56,575) (84,122)
Overprovision in previous years BAFERERE (43,852) (1,479)
Income tax expense for the year REE 2 SRR 618,655 443,609
Note:  The domestic income tax rate of 25% (2023: 25%) represents the PRC EIT BAE - NEEMEMBE2BB(ZT ==

of which the Group’s operations are substantially based.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBEmRME
10. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 10. NEERF
2024 2023
—EmEF e S——
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FH&T BT
Profit for the year has been arrived AR R 2 AR (BT A)
at after charging (crediting): LARIER -
Auditor’s remuneration ZBETEN & 8,000 8,000
Amortisation of intangible assets WA EE 6,480 6,480
Cost of inventories sold BEEFEZKAR 33,900,690 30,417,477
Cost of properties sold [BA/Ed %N 417,015 1,050,265
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  ¥1% - = M EITE 1,933,088 1,930,070
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE 54,758 52,786
Direct operating expenses in relation to T EYEERANERESERY
investment properties (included in cost of (G ASEE IR HARTER )
sales and services rendered) 242,891 240,486
Reversal of impairment losses under FEHEEEEER TESEK
ECL model on trade receivables, net of BRRARERE B[ - 0Bk
reversal o] (152,016) (45,977)
Net exchange loss FEE 3 E518 %58 71,921 22,349
Total staff costs, including directors’ BTKALE  BEESHE
emoluments (Note 11) (MIsE11) 3,840,308 3,862,264
Reversal of inventories (included in cost of sales) 17 & # @ (5t A S5 A Z< ) (263,078) (140,926)
Write-down of properties held for development 3R 5 MUR - 5T AR E KA
(included in cost of sales) 303,149 553,032

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 11, £%  FRAREES
AND EMPLOYEES EMOLUMENTS [
(@  Directors’ emoluments (@ E=E#MS
The emoluments paid or payable were as follows: RS EN ST
2024 2023
—E-lEF —ZT-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Fees we 1,380 1,380
Other emoluments: HibE4 -
Salaries and other benefits T ERIFIERA B I8 18,244 17,388

Contributions to retirement benefits scheme R ki@ F| 5T 2 it 2% 737 705
Performance related incentive TERIFIERE RE I8

payment (Note i) (B3I 84,064 85,514
Share-based payments (Note ii) 84 7 A R (Bt i) - 59,354
Other Hith = 11,200

104,425 175,541

—E - NFEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

11.

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(continued)

(b)

(c)

Chief Executive’s emoluments

Mr. Chang Wing Yiu is also the Chief Executive of the
Company and his emoluments disclosed above include those
for services rendered by him as the Chief Executive.

Neither the Chief Executive nor any of the Directors had
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Employees’ emoluments

For the year ended 31 December 2024, three (2023: four) of
the five highest paid employees are Directors and the Chief
Executive.

Details of the emoluments of the remaining two (2023: one)
highest paid individual(s) were as follows:

11.

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

B THEABKREE
M€ )

(b) THRAZME
PN ) - RN EG 1
B HMER EXE - &t
NE & RATIRABE TR 2 RS
Z3REH o

BE-_ZT-_MER-_T_=F
+ZA=+—RALFE - BET
BN EENERREHET
A& -

) EEM=
BHE-ZT-_WF+=-A=+—H
IEFE  AfsaieRERER=
H(ZEZ=F B AEEM
TTHBUHEE, -

BTME(ZE-_=%F: —%)&
BEATHBE BRI

2024 2023

—E U4 —E=F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHET FHIT

Salaries and other benefits e REAMER 6,373 3,192
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme R K t&F|zHEI{H X 319 160
Performance related incentive payment T{ERIF BRI LERIFRIA 33,515 20,266
Share-based payment R AT = 8,147
Total emoluments < 4B 58 40,207 31,765
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

1. B
)

BEHEERRAA

= THRASBREES
CAC)

=

(continued)
(c) Employees’ emoluments (continued) () REEME@E
The number of the highest paid employees who are not the FEENRSHEET  FNE
Directors whose remuneration fell within the following bands is RIATRARBAZNT :
as follows:
2024 2023
—E-E o=
No. of No. of
employees employees
EEAE EEAH
HK$10,000,000 to HK$20,000,000 10,000,000 7t 220,000,000/ 7T 1 -
HK$20,000,001 to HK$30,000,000 20,000,001 7T 230,000,000/ 7T 1 -
HK$30,000,001 to HK$40,000,000 30,000,001 7T 240,000,000/ 7T = 1
During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no HE-_ZT-_NFER-_FT-_=F
emoluments were received to or receivable by the Directors or +—A=1+—HIFE EFE3
the Group’s five highest paid individuals, including Directors, NEBREAESHFAT(BIEE
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as F)Ee ek ER TS -
compensation for loss of office. YEBWS| R EMBAREE R
B2 RE S ERBER 2
B
(d) Directors’ material interests in transactions, d EERXRZ - THHEH

arrangements or contracts

As disclosed in Note 43, the Group entered into sale and
purchase transactions with the Directors and subsidiaries of a
shareholder with significant influence on the Group. The price
is to be determined and agreed between the parties from time
to time with reference to the prevailing market price.

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing, Mr. Chang Wing Yiu, Mr. Cheung
Kwong Kwan and Mr. Ho Yin Sang, the executive directors,
are interested in these transactions to the extent that they
have beneficial interests in these companies.

Save for the aforementioned transaction, no other significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts to which the
Company or the Group was a party and in which a director
of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

ZEKEHS

WM REABFTIREE - AEEEE
EUR—BHAEBEEATE
NHBERMBARIETEER
5 o BRBEFE T TR2RER
Z TS ERMEE NFETE

HITERRESREE - BKRE
& REFELERMAHRELER
ZENRTHE Batkas - B
RILERZ S AR °

Br LR BN - MERKERE
AR R R EERERAAT
IAREERET T ZHEMER
X5 BHEREHNTHERENE
RNEZLFEEER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

12. DIVIDENDS 12.
2024 2023
—E -4 B
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&T T
Dividends declared and/or paid EiRE, HEIRARE
2024 Interim dividend of HK40 cents —E-NFFHR SR
(2023: HK16 cents) per ordinary share TRRA0B (=T =4 :
1678() 443,325 177,330
2023 Final dividend of HK36 cents fjf_iiﬂﬁﬁt%
(2022: HK75 cents) per ordinary share BARSEBN(Z T4 -
75,%1UJ) 398,992 831,234
2023 Special interim dividend of HK50 cents == :_E’hﬁquﬂﬁ,ﬁﬂﬁ S &K
per ordinary share (2024: Nil) BARSOEN(ZE M4 -
ﬂ%) - 554,155
842,317 1,562,719
2024 2023
—BCoMmE —Fo=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT
Dividends proposed EERE
2024 Final dividend of HK54 cents (2023: HK36 — = — PUF AR HiA% 8 &%
cents) per ordinary share TRRB4BIN( =T ==F ¢
36781 598,488 398,992
2@4&@mMmMmmMoﬂmwomems_?_mi%%iﬁﬁ SRET e
Nil) per ordinary share TmR4eBIN(ZZE==F :
=) 509,823 -
1,108,311 398,992

The final dividend of HK54 cents per ordinary share and the special
final dividend of HK46 cents per ordinary share amounted to
HK$598,488,000 and HK$509,823,000 in respect of the year ended
31 December 2024 (2023: final dividend of HK36 cents per ordinary
share amounted to HK$398,992,000 in respect of the year ended
31 December 2023) have been proposed by the Directors and are
subject to the approval by the shareholders of the Company in the
forthcoming annual general meeting.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I IRARMIEE

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

BEHEERRAA

13. BREF

RRRFHE AR BRERREEE R

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable
to owners of the Company is based on the following data:

Earnings for the purpose of basic and
diluted earnings per share

BREARR#E RN Z

parl

BT BIETE

2024 2023
—ECmE T =4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHxT FBT
1,630,329 2,062,971

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
for the purpose of basic earnings per share

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares
arising from share options

BRERBN 2 BB INE
T

R EERe AT E

ZERB2 S

Number of shares

BHEE
2024 2023
—EWE T4

1,108,311,736 1,108,464,448

- 2,412

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
for the purpose of diluted earnings per share

SRR ARV
T8

1,108,311,736 1,108,466,860

Note:  The Company'’s certain share options can potentially dilute basic earnings
per share in the future, but are not included in the calculation of diluted
earnings per share because they are antidilutive for the year presented.

2y
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

14,

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

BREW=

HK$’000
FAET
FAIR VALUE AEE
At 1 January 2023 RZZE-_=F—H—H 23,449,630
Exchange adjustments PE 5, 152,064
Disposals e (140,456)
Transfer from properties held for development EE O FERYE 453,984
Net loss on fair value changes (Note) N EEEEIEFRE (M) (113,434)
At 31 December 2023 NW_E-_=F+_F=+—H 23,801,788
Exchange adjustments PE = (409,301)
Disposals HE -
Transfer from properties held for development EROFEREDE 2,633,801
Net loss on fair value changes (Note) N EZEEEFEMR) (32,333)
At 31 December 2024 W_T_WFE+_HA=+—H 25,998,955

Note: Certain properties held for development were reclassified to investment
properties upon changing in use as evidenced by inception of operating
leases to independent third parties (see Note 26). There is an increase
in fair value of HK$406,199,000 (2023: HK$263,296,000) recognised in
profit or loss upon the transfer from properties held for development to
investment properties and this amount is included in net gain (loss) on fair

value changes.

The Group leases out various offices under operating leases with

rentals payable monthly. The leases typically run for a fixed period of

1 to 30 years (2023: 1 to 30 years).

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the

lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the respective

functional currencies of group entities. The lease contracts do not

contain residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to purchase

the property at the end of lease term.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Mzt : REBVE-HFBCEHEMEZR
BREH ETHFERVESENSESR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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14.

PR aR M

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

In determining the fair value of the relevant properties, the Directors
have set up a valuation committee, which is headed up by the
persons in charge of financial matters of the Group, to determine
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value
measurements.

The Group engages an independent qualified valuer to perform
its valuations. The valuation committee works closely with the
independent qualified valuer to establish the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs to the model. The persons in charge of financial
matters report the valuation committee’s findings to the Directors
every quarter to explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of
the assets.

The Group’s investment properties were classified as Level 3 of the
fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31 December
2024 and 2023 had been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried
out by Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory Limited, an independent
qualified valuer not connected to the Group. Ravia Global Appraisal
Advisory Limited is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors.
The valuation was determined based on direct comparison method
by reference to the market transactions of similar properties taking
in consideration of timing of reference transactions, and property-
specific adjustment factors. There has been no change from the
valuation technique used in prior years.

The following table gives information about how the fair values
of these investment properties are determined (in particular, the
valuation technique and inputs used), as well as the fair value
hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are categorised
(Level 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements is observable.

BEHEERRAH

14, BEWE »

RETHBENENLTE  EEEKRT
MEZES  AAEAEEWBELN
ALTHE URATEAEETEEN
HERM R AR -

AEBREBE LA ERMGEMGE - 4
BEZESHBUYABEREHEMERS
1E - HKEBIERE 2 EE G ERM R
ABIE - WBEEEBBEASTRAERE
BHEEZEGZ%R  MABEQATE
KBz EH -

REEBREMER S -_MER T
—=HF+ A=+ BoBEAE=ZAR
FEZRERT -

REBRENER_ZB-_NFR-ZF
TEF+Z A=+ B2 AFETRE
REBLEBE 2B S ERAER
LRRFEFABRARETREZE
BEW - MERMHAERERAF R
BRRNEMBEEE - HEDNRERL
BRESEZRUMEZTHERZLEES
ER GBS ENRERRE
BE - RBEFEMAZAERITLE

= °

TREJZEREDFEATFENETH
A (R ATE B E BT R AEE)
AR IE A BT 28 A SRR AT B
B AFEFEDEZ A FEEBERT
(F—ZE=M) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14, BEWE =

Investment properties
held by the Group in the

consolidated statement Fair value
of financial position hierarchy
FEERNRRIBIAZT ATE
REZREME BRI
Hong Kong

BB

Industrial properties Level 3
in Hong Kong

REBR IR F=1
Commercial properties Level 3
in the New Territories,

Hong Kong

REB AN RYE E=M

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Valuation techniques
and key inputs
HERM &
FERAZR

Direct comparison
method based on market
transactions of similar
properties taking into
consideration of timing

of reference transactions
and property-specific
adjustments factors,
such as location, road
frontage, size of property
and facilities
BELETE  BEMS
BRMENR S - TEE
2ELZ SRR R E
FENHERE - 215
B BTN - MERE
HEARIRE

Direct comparison
method based on market
transactions of similar
properties taking into
consideration of timing

of reference transactions
and property-specific
adjustments factors,
such as location, road
frontage, size of property
and facilities
EELETE  RETS
HRMENR S  WEE
LEZFHREARE
HENRERE - 2iEt
B - BRATER - MERR
MRS

Significant
unobservable inputs

ERTABEHABE

Price per square metre, using
market direct comparable
properties and taking into
account location and other
individual factors such as

road frontage, size of property
and facilities, etc., which is
ranged from HK$37,122

to HK$51,064 (2023: HK$
HK$39,676 to HK$51,064)
per square metre.
KRAMGEZENLBYERE
BB A K E A E R E =%
(MRERATIERE - M3 RakieiR
SE)NFTHRER N
F¥J5K37,12278 L E51,064
BIL(ZT =% :39,676/&
JLES51,06487T) °

Price per square metre, using
market direct comparable
properties and taking into
account location and other
individual factors such as

road frontage, size of property
and facilities, etc., which is
ranged from HK$50,549 to
HK$63,695 (2023: HK$58,631
to HK$63,280) per square
metre.
RATSEEATLEMERE
AR AR E A E 5 E =1
(MERATIERR - M KRR
BE)NGFHKRER N
FF75K50,54978 L £63,695
BIL(ZE =% : 58,6317%
JUE63,280/57T) °

Sensitivity

B
5

&
it

A significant increase in

the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the fair
value measurement of the
investment properties, and vice
versa.

BIHARERARE LS
KEMEN R THEFERRE L
Tt R2ZI% -

A significant increase in

the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the fair
value measurement of the
investment properties, and vice
versa.

BYTAERAE LIS
REMENATEFTEXNRL
Tt RZIAR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14, BEWHE =

Investment properties
held by the Group in the

consolidated statement Fair value Valuation techniques Significant
of financial position hierarchy and key inputs unobservable inputs Sensitivity
AEERFEIBHRRE ATE RERM &
RAEZREN% BB TEHAHRE BRTNATEHZRE AR BRE
Commercial properties Level 3 Direct comparison Price per square metre, using A significant increase in
in Hong Kong Island, method based on market  market direct comparable the price per square metre
Hong Kong transactions of similar properties and taking into used would result in a
propgr’ties 'taking 'intlo account location and other significant increase in the fair
consideration of timing I value measurement of the
) individual factors such as . ) )
of reference transactions ) investment properties, and vice
o road frontage, size of property
and property-specific o o versa.
adjustments factors, and facilities, etc., which is
such as location, road ranged from HK$150,758
frontage, size of property  to HK$160,016 (2023:
and facilities HK$175,269 to HK$220,681)
per square metre.
REBEEEHNEANE 5 BEMEFE  REDTS RATSEZEALEYER  BFOREERRE KSR

Residential properties

BRNENR S LEE
S2EZ SR EARYE
HENRERR 2t
B lRETEE - MERRR
HREE

Direct comparison

ZEME AR EAM AR E X
& (MERATIER - W13 Rk
BRE)NETTAKER N
FHFE 7 K150,758BLE
160,016/ L(Z 2 =4 :
175,269/8 7L E220,681/87T) ©

Price per square metre, using

KEMENATEFERE L
o RZIR -

A significant increase in

in Hong Kong method based on market market direct comparable the price per square metre
transactions of similar properties and taking into used would result in a
properties taking into account location and other significant increase in the fair
consideration of timing individual factors such as value measurement of the
of reference transactions  road frontage, size of property  investment properties, and vice
and property-specific and facilities, etc., which is versa.
adjustments factors, ranged from HK$158,240
such as location, road to HK$236,806 per square
frontage, size of property metre.
and facilities

REBOETYE BEELEE  BEME KEMSEEITLEMER BT HKBEAELABER

BRNENRS  TEE
S2EZSHREARYE
BENBRRR - 81
B REER  MERRE
MRS

ZEMNBAREMERNEE
& (MNERATIER W3 NERHE
BEE)NFEHTKER N
T&F/5K158,2408 L E
236,806/ 7T ©

KEMEN R TEFERE L
Tt RZI% -

—E - NFEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R I IRARMIEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the

consolidated statement Fair value
of financial position hierarchy
AEERFEIBHAR ATE
RAEZREN% BB
The PRC

HE

Commercial propertiesin -~ Level 3
Shanghai

REsNERYE E=H
Residential properties in Level 3
Shanghai

REBREEYE B=M

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Valuation techniques
and key inputs
RERM &
TEHABR

Direct comparison
method based on market
transactions of similar
properties taking into
consideration of timing

of reference transactions
and property-specific
adjustments factors,
such as location, road
frontage, size of property
and facilities
BELHTE  BEWS
HRYMENRS - TERE
2ELZZNREARYE
HENAERRZ - 2iEt
B ERETER - MENE
MRS

Direct comparison
method based on market
transactions of similar
properties taking into
consideration of timing

of reference transactions
and property-specific
adjustments factors,
such as location, road
frontage, size of property
and facilities
BELHTE - BETS
HRMENRS - TEE
LEZFHRBARE
HENAERZ - 2iEt
B - BRATER - MERR
MRS

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

14, BEWE »

Significant
unobservable inputs

BERATABEGHABE

Price per square metre, using
market direct comparable
properties and taking into
account location and other
individual factors such as
road frontage, size of property
and facilities, etc., which is
ranged from RMB21,500

to RMB28,000 (2023:
RMB25,000 to RMB27,368)
per square metre.
KRAMSEZET LR R
ERAE N REMERNER
e (AERETIER - W3 KR
REZ)NEEIRER N
FHFARARE21,5007T
= ARK28,000T( =T ==
F: AR#25000L2 AR
27,3687T) °

Price per square metre, using
market direct comparable
properties and taking into
account location and other
individual factors such as

road frontage, size of property
and facilities, etc., which is
ranged from RMB123,077

to RMB127,471 (2023:
RMB111,733 to RMB134,043)
per square metre.
KRAMSEZEANLBYERE
BALE A K EoA B R A = 1%
(MNERETIBRE - M3 RakiniR
BE)NGFHKRER N
BYARARBE123,077TE
AREA27 4TI L( T ==
F: ARB111,738TEAR
#134,0437T) °

Sensitivity

BRE

A significant increase in

the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the fair
value measurement of the
investment properties, and vice
versa.

ST KERABLI SR
RANENATEBAREL
o B2

A significant increase in

the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the fair
value measurement of the
investment properties, and vice
versa.

BIHARERAE LTS
REMENATEEREL
Tt RZI% -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14, BEWHE =

Investment properties
held by the Group in the

consolidated statement Fair value Valuation techniques Significant
of financial position hierarchy and key inputs unobservable inputs Sensitivity
AEERFEIHBHRR ATE RERM &
RAEZREN% BB TEHAHR BRI B RE AR R BRE
Commercial propertiesin -~ Level 3 Direct comparison Price per square metre, using A significant increase in
Guangzhou method based on market market direct comparable the price per square metre
transactions of similar properties and taking into used would result in a
properties taking into account location and other significant increase in the fair
consideration of timing individual factors such as value measurement of the
of reference transactions  road frontage, size of property  investment properties, and vice
and property-specific and facilities, etc., which is versa.
adjustments factors, ranged from RMB14,400
such as location, road to RMB25,000 (2023:
frontage, size of property, RMB13,400 to RMB23,000)
and conditions of the per square metre.
property
REMEERME E= EELETE  BEME RAMSZEEILEYMER BFEFREERRELIABER
HRMENRS  WEE ZEUBARHEMERNEEZ KREVMENLTEFEAREL
ZEZXGNRENARYME BOREEE  MERRE 7 RZIFA -
HENRERZ - Et RRS)NGTHRER 0
B RETER  MERKR TETIRARE14,4007T
KRS = ARKE25,000m(ZE ==
F: ARMA13,400TEARE
23,0007T) ©
Commercial propertiesin -~ Level 3 Direct comparison Price per square metre, using A significant increase in
Shenzhen City method based on market market direct comparable the price per square metre
transactions of similar properties and taking into used would result in a
properties taking into account location and other significant increase in the fair
consideration of timing individual factors such as value measurement of the
of reference transactions  road frontage, size of property  investment properties, and vice
and property-specific and facilities, etc., which is versa.
adjustments factors, ranged from RMB12,000
such as location, road to RMB15,000 (2023:
frontage, size of property, RMB12,000 to RMB15,911)
and facilities per square metre.
RIRYIT 9 R E=R BELEE BEME KEMSEZEILEMER BT AKEBEAELABER

BRNENRS  TEE
SELZ GBI R
HENRERR 2t
B lRETEE - MERRR
RN -

ZEMNBAREMERNEE
& (MERATIER - W3 RakHE
BRE)NETTAKER N
T&FFRARE12,0007T
= ARKE15,000T(ZE ==
F: ARE12,000EARE
15,9117T) °

KEMEN R TEFERE L
o RZIR -

—E - NFEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R I IRARMIEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the

consolidated statement Fair value
of financial position hierarchy
FEERNGEIBIAER ATFE
REZRENE BERR
Commercial propertiesin -~ Level 3
Qingyuan

P EIR R A Y2 F=H
Commercial propertiesin =~ Level 3

Kunshan City

RELMHOERYR F=R

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Valuation techniques
and key inputs
RERM &
TEHABR

Direct comparison
method based on market
transactions of similar
properties taking into
consideration of timing

of reference transactions
and property-specific
adjustments factors,
such as location, road
frontage, size of property,
and facilities
ERLETE  BETS
BRMENRS  TEE
LEZFHREARDE
HENRAERR - BiEt
B BRATEH - MERR
HER/NE o

Direct comparison
method based on market
transactions of similar
properties taking into
consideration of timing

of reference transactions
and property-specific
adjustments factors,
such as location, road
frontage, size of property,
and facilities
BELHTE - BETS
HRYMENRS  TEE
2ELZGNREIARYE
FENHERE - 215
B ERETER - MERE
FER/NE o

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

14, BEWE »

Significant
unobservable inputs

BERATABEGHABE

Price per square metre, using
market direct comparable
properties and taking into
account location and other
individual factors such as
road frontage, size of property
and facilities, etc., which is
ranged from RMB7,000 to
RMB9,330 (2023: RMB7,594
to RMB8,042) per square
metre.
RATSEETLEMERE
JEALE DA K EoA (B R R = 1%
(MERATIERE - M KRR
BE)NGFHKRER N
F¥RARET,000CEA
R#930T(ZE_=F: A
RE7 504t E AR 8,042
JT) °

Price per square metre, using
market direct comparable
properties and taking into
account location and other
individual factors such as
road frontage, size of property
and facilities, etc., which is
ranged from RMB6,230 to
RMB13,200 (2023: RMB6,681
to RMB11,500) per square
metre.
KRS EZE LR YE K
ERAEAREMEREZ
e (AERETER © W3 KR
FEZ)NEERRER N
TEHERARARKE,2307T2
AREA3,200(ZF ==
F: AR¥EBBBITEARYE
11,5007T)

Sensitivity
BURE

The higher the capitalisation
rate, the lower the fair value,
and vice versa.

The higher the market rent, the
higher the fair value, and vice
versa.

EACEE - ATEWE -
R2IVA - s - 2
TEES - K2 -

A significant increase in

the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the fair
value measurement of the
investment properties, and vice
versa.

BIHARERARE LTS
REWMENRFETENRL
Tt RZI% -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14, BEWHE =

Investment properties
held by the Group in the

consolidated statement Fair value Valuation techniques Significant
of financial position hierarchy and key inputs unobservable inputs Sensitivity
AEERFEIHBHRR ATE RERM &
RAEZREN% BB TEHAHR BRI B RE AR R BRE
The United Kingdom
#E
Commercial propertiesin ~ Level 3 Direct comparison Price per square metre, using A significant increase in
London method based on market market direct comparable the price per square metre
transactions of similar properties and taking into used would result in a
properties taking into account location and other significant increase in the fair
consideration of timing individual factors such as road  value measurement of the
of reference transactions  frontage, size of property and  investment properties, and vice
and property-specific facilities, etc., which is ranged  versa.
adjustments factors, from Great British Pond
such as location, road (“GBP”) 5,673 to GBP14,327
frontage, size of property  (2023: GBP5,741 to
and facilities GBP14,585) per square metre.
SCEGITEREES E=R BELEFZE  RETS RATSEZALENERE SFRBEREABEEH

BRNENRS  LEE
S2EZ SR EARYE
HENRERR Bt
B lRETEE - MERRR
HERES

There were no transfer into or out of Level 3 during both years.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use

of the properties is their current use.

As at 31 December 2024, certain investment properties with a
carrying value of HK$4,056,844,000 (2023: HK$1,848,899,000) have

been pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group.

BB REMERNREE
(ANFEEBE « MERRES
BE)NFTHKER N T
FEKE,673FE([3EE])
F14,327HEF(ZT==F :
5,741 HEEE 14,5855 4E) o

KEMEN R TEFERRE L
o RZIR -

MIEFER - WEANE=FANEANE

H oo

RIEFHIRZ AFER - R &R R

RERZABRTARE -

R-ZT-WE+—-A=+—0H K&
B & = T Bk ® A A 4,056,844,000

BRI REWHE(ZZZ=ZF -
1,848,899,0007 7T ) + A ERIR1T &

& o

—E - NFEFR



KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. 1% - BMEREE

Property,
plant and
Furniture, equipment
Freehold Leasehold Plantand fixtures and Motor under
lands Buildings  improvements machinery equipment vehicles Artwork  construction Total
KAER BENZ i 2ER i 2/E 8
i BF 5B BERES HE Bt Biip  HRRE &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TR ThT T TiEn TR ThL T TiEn TR
00ST A
At 1 January 2023 WZZ-=%-A-A 50,283 4,741,306 1190019 27,045,114 2,429,167 154,433 23,033 3436426 39,069,781
Exchange adjustments EREE 5204 (36,317) (8,557) (457,.217) (39,706) (1,639) 986 (96,783) (634,029)
Addttions HE - 2,858 97,088 674,951 38,829 15,945 7,659 4,105,791 4,943,121
Disposals and write off HER#E - - (20,101) (925,377) (130,543) (8,433) - (12,123 (1,196,677)
Reclassffications EXim] - 13,342 59,069 1,200,085 715,010 2,902 - (1,990,408 -
At 31 December 2023 RZE==F+-A=1-H 55,487 4,721,189 1,317,518 27,587,556 3,012,757 163,208 31,678 5342903 42,182,296
Exchange adjustments ERBE (368) (65,973 43165 (708,177) (70,005) (2,250) 433 (118,445) (911,620)
Addttions RE - - 154,437 1,343,114 60,769 6,146 - 2,805,274 4,369,740
Disposals and write off HE R - (427) (67,166) (529,089 (27.879) (8,444) - (22,662) (655,667)
Reclassifications BNAR - 242,347 330,962 2,475,252 111,076 175 - (3159812 -
At 31 December 2024 RZZZRE+ZA=1-8 55,119 4,907,136 1778916 30,118,656 3,086,718 158,836 32,11 4847268 44,984,749
DEPRECIATION &
At1 January 2023 W=Z-=%-A-A - 1,147,803 533901 18,739,871 1,466,744 126,165 - - 22014484
Exchange adjustments ERas - (14,649) (3,782 (304,817) (21,794) (912) - - (345,954)
Provided for the year KEERE - 74792 72,321 1,535,462 233,443 9,052 - - 1,930,070
Eliminated on disposals and HERTEREH
write off - - (20,101) (719,110) (73,904) (8,189) - - (821,303)
At 31 December 2023 RZZZ=F+-A=1-H - 1,207,946 582,339 19,251,406 1,609,489 126,117 - - 2717297
Exchange adjustments ExEE - (11,427) (829) (403,183) (41,499) (2,750) 267 - (459,421)
Provided for the year TERRE - 68,666 62,823 1,565,844 226,838 8917 - - 1,933,088
Impairment loss recognised MNEERERZ
in profit or loss HEEE - - - - - - 2,117 - 17
Eliminated on disposals and bR
write off - (#14) (67,166) (455,898) (23,257) (8,444) - - (655,179)
At 31 December 2024 RZZZRE+ZA=1-8 - 1,264,771 577,167 19,958,169 1,771,571 123,840 2,384 - 23,697,902
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2024 RZZZRE+ZA=1-8 55,119 3,642,365 1,201,749 10,160,487 1,315,147 34,995 29,721 4847268 21,286,847
At 31 December 2023 REEZ=E+ZA=1-H 55,487 3,513,243 735,179 8,286,150 1,403,268 37,091 31,678 5342903 19,404,999
ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment (other than those
under construction or artwork) are depreciated on a straight-line basis
after taking into account their residual values at the following rates per

annum:

Freehold lands Nil

Buildings Over the remaining unexpired
terms of leases ranging from
twenty to seventy years

Leasehold improvements 10-20% or over the term
of the lease, whichever is
shorter

Plant and machinery 10-20%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 10-33"/,%

Motor vehicles 10-20%

At 31 December 2024, the Group’s freehold lands of HK$55,119,000
(2023: HK$55,487,000) are situated outside Hong Kong.

15.

BEHEERRAA

M- BERRE=

BERYE - BFERREREMRIN
L% - BERREREBERT REF
HERRNABEREER TIIFELEE
RITE

KAERELM
BF REBAHARIRRTTH

FHIR20FE270F
FAEWHEREE 10-20%sFE H (AR
HRLE)

BERKZE  10-20%

B - RER 10-33/%
B

RE 10-20%

R-Z-_WFE+_-_A=+—8 » K&
B #£4555,119,0008 L (ZE==F :
55,487,000/ 7 ) K A ERE T AL A&
LRI o

—E - NFEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

16. EFFAEEE

Leasehold Leased Plant and
land properties machinery Total
FAE i HENE BERKSS #mst
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
At 31 December 2024 R-E-NE
+=ZHA=+—H
Carrying amount BRE(E 2,016,778 15,356 333 2,032,467
At 31 December 2023 R-ZB-=F
+=A=+—H
Carrying amount BRHEE 1,946,895 3,909 674 1,951,478
For the year ended Bzr-—E—-mE
31 December 2024 +TZA=1+—HLEE
Depreciation for the year REERE 50,467 3,957 334 54,758
For the year ended BE-ZT—-=%
31 December 2023 +=A=+—HLHE
Depreciation for the year REEHE 48,454 3,571 761 52,786
2024 2023
—T-mEF ZEZ=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET BT
Expense relating to short-term leases g AR S AR MR S 342 337
Total cash outflow for leases HERenHEE 154,937 119,812
Additions to right-of-use assets FEREEERNE 166,423 117,820

The Group leases various leasehold land, leased properties and plant
and machinery for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into
for fixed term of 1 year to 50 years (2023: 1 year to 50 years). Lease
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range
of different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and
assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies
the definition of a contract and determines the period for which the
contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for leased
properties. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the portfolio of short-
term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the
short-term lease expense disclosed in this note above.
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16.

17.

PR aR M

RIG HT'O F- USE ASS ETS (continued)

Restrictions or covenants on leases

In addition, lease liabilities of HK$16,180,000 are recognised with
related right-of-use assets of HK$15,689,000 as at 31 December
2024 (2023: lease liabilities of HK$5,011,000 and related right-of-use
assets of HK$4,583,000). The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that
are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

GOODWILL

Carrying value REE
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and

31 December 2024

BEHEERRAA

16. FAEEE .

T & PR =k 25

AN R=ZE-_WF+=-—A=+—H "
ERERMTEE & 1&16,180,000/8 T Ty £
i I # & E 15,689,000 LB R (= F
— =% : HEAE5011,0008TEE
A P #E & 7 4,583,000/8 7T) - HE W
BIEHBNERRZE - EAARER
EEEMERERSRI - HEEETS
{EEBFIRIRAE -

17. &

HK$'000
TAT

RZZE-_=F—HA—H -Z%==%F
+-—A=+—BR-ZT_mE
+=-—A=+—8

2,670,528

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill has been allocated

REAEMS  AECAEGUATH

to the following groups of CGUs: SELSBMNA
2024 2023
—E-lEF e S——
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Laminates B HRER 390,781 390,781
PCBs ENRI 4R EE AR 2,099,898 2,099,898
Chemicals IEIER 179,849 179,849
2,670,528 2,670,528

The recoverable amounts of the laminates’, PCBs’ and chemicals
CGUs have been determined based on value in use calculations.
Cash flow projections were extrapolated based on a five-year (2023:
five-year) period financial budgets approved by the Directors.

FERER - BRI IR R TER 2R
SEABM 2 AJRE e EEERERR
HEETE - AAtREREBNERESH
ENAFR(ZT-=F : AFH) MK
BHEMGE -

—E - NFEFR



©
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R I IRARMIEE

17. GOODWILL (continued)

The key assumptions for the value in use calculations for the CGUs of
laminates, PCBs and chemicals business segments are as follows:

Laminates
RER
2024 2023
“BoME  —ZC=F
Pre-tax discount rate HABE = 14% 14%

17.

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

[EES0)
BINER © EIRIARIEIR R TERES
DERESELBNZEREBATE L
FEREZWOT :
PCBs Chemicals
RIS AR tIER
2024 2023 2024 2023
—E-ME -T-=F ZE-NE -S-=F
15.7%  12%-15.7% 12% 12%

12% -

The key assumptions are determined based on the unit’s past
performance and the management’s expectations for the market
development and the growth rates used to extrapolate cash flow
projections beyond the first five-year (20283: five-year) period do
not exceed the long-term average growth rates for the relevant
industries and growth rates ranging from 0% to 3% (2023: 0% to
3%). The cash flow projections, growth rates and pre-tax discount
rate have been reassessed as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 taking
into consideration higher degree of estimation uncertainties in the
respective year due to how the recovery of industry and economy.
The growth rates covering a five-year period of 2% (2023: 2%) for
Laminates, 0% to 8% for PCBs and 0% (2023: 0%) for Chemicals.

Since the recoverable amounts of each group of CGUs were above
their carrying amounts, no impairment loss was recognised.

The management believes that any reasonably possible changes in
any of these assumptions would not cause the carrying amount of
each group of CGUs to exceed their respective recoverable amount.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHRME
18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. BEE
Customer
base
BB
HK$'000
FHT
COST B
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and 31 December R_E_=F—HF—H  —ZT_=%F
2024 TZA=T—BARZZTZMF
+=—A=+—H 64,800
AMORTISATION i3
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-_=F—HF—H 23,400
Charge for the year AREF 6,480
At 31 December 2023 R-E-_=%+-_A=+—H 29,880
Charge for the year REEHH 6,480
At 31 December 2024 RZZZNFE+=A=+—~H 36,360
CARRYING VALUE BREE
At 31 December 2024 RZE_WNF+_A=+—H 28,440
At 31 December 2023 R-Z-_=%+—-A=+—H 34,920
The customer base is amortised on a straight-line basis over a period BEEIMOE NI E GRS -
of 10 years.

“ENFFR



@

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

19. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE 19. REfE QT2 e
2024 2023
—ECmE —E-=%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FHT
Cost of investments in an associate unlisted i~ AR BEIFE_FTBZ AR
the PRC LB 185,066 185,066
Share of post-acquisition profits and other FEIE U IE 1B S T R H 2 E
comprehensive income, net of dividends (IR EWARE)
received 268,088 260,066
453,154 445,132
At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group had interests in the RZE_MFR_Z_=F+2A
following associate: =+—R  REBEHEEATEE QTR
Place of
establishment Equity interest Proportion of voting
Name of an associate and operation held by the Group rights held by the Group  Principal activities
BENTER B REELH KB FiShRE AKERENREEBAIL FEEH
2024 2023 2024 2023
SECNE —T-=F ZBC@E O —T-=F
CNOOC Kingboard Chemical PRC 40% 40% 40% 40%  Manufacture and distribution
Limited# H of methanol
RERBRELIBRARY BUER DT
# The company was established in the PRC in the form of Sino-Foreign # WARTIARINE BAEATIFRER
Equity Joint Venture. BRCST ©
ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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19. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)

The associate is accounted for using the equity method in these
consolidated financial statements.

CNOOC Kingboard Chemical Limited

EEHEEERAA

REENT 2 R

RZELREVB®RE
=ERESIER -

N

FERREE(CTERAR

AR

2024 2023
—ECE —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET TET
Current assets BB E 486,584 536,895
Non-current assets IERBEE 773,255 737,561
Current liabilities nREEE (126,954) (161,626)
2024 2023
—E-mE —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR FET
Revenue X 1,441,759 1,406,937
Profit for the year IREEHF 264,118 225,946
Other comprehensive expense for the year AEEEM2EM Y (21,222) (7,758)
Total comprehensive income for the year REE2HEN A 242,896 218,188
Dividends received from the associate REFEIEERATIRE
during the year 89,136 174,202
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the T B AR A A B RS AN
carrying amount of the interest in the associate recognised in the DR (RS N TIE RS 7 BEE A M
consolidated financial statements. 85 o
2024 2023
—E-mF —To=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET
Net assets of CNOOC Kingboard Chemical Limited  Ar§ A mE &t TARE A TIEE
FE 1,132,885 1,112,830
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in 7 & Fr{5 8 A MRS T
CNOOC Kingboard Chemical Limited BREATIRERES Y HE 40% 40%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in NEFEF GRS hESLT
CNOOC Kingboard Chemical Limited AR AT EEE 453,154 445132

-

e
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20. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

Details of the Group’s investments in joint ventures are as follows:

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

20. REE QTN REZR

AEERAERRNREFBNT

2024 2023
—T-mE ZEZ=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FAT

Cost of investment in joint ventures REERAZREKAK 2,503,655 2,503,655
Share of post-acquisition losses and other FEE iR R R IR R 2

comprehensive expense, net of dividends (IR E AR E)

received (130,198) (80,277)

2,373,457 2,473,378

Details of the Group’s joint ventures at the end of the reporting period
are as follows:

RBERERFAEERS L RAINKR
BRI

Country of Principal Proportion of Proportion of
incorporation/ place of ownership interest voting rights held
Name of entity registration business held by the Group by the Group Principal activity
BaliANe
ERLE ERHER IZEENY rRERENEREL rRERENRZEEA  TEEH
2024 2023 2024 2023
SECmE “ECcF 0 ZBI@E TR
Lucky Yuen Ho\ding Limted ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong 50% 50% 50% 50%  Property holding and
[EZTERERAR B Bl business management
NEERREHER
Smart Source Management  British Virgin Islands  United Kingdom 50% 50% 50% 50%  Property holding and
Limited AERIES =5 business management
BRERERLA NEERREBER
Summarised financial information of joint ventures SE N T BERME

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s
joint ventures is set out below. The summarised financial information
below represents amounts shown in the joint ventures’ financial
statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

The joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method in these
consolidated financial statements.
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20.
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MRk et
INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 20. REERARINER )
(continued)
Information of joint ventures SERFNER
Lucky Yuen Holding Limited JEE TiERERAT
2024 2023
—EyE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Current assets TRENVEE 268,640 273,652
Non-current assets (Note) EmehE E (M) 596,100 676,100
Current liabilities BB S (233,410) (240,082)
The above amounts of assets T EESBEEE
include the following: LARE&IE
Cash and cash equivalents Re RS FMEIER 9,731 6,797
Smart Source Management Limited BEREEERAT
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHIT
Current assets TREVAE 70,778 6,023
Non-current assets (Note) B E E (M) 4,116,188 4,251,338
Current liabilities BB E (71,381) (20,276)
The above amounts of assets include i EESBERRE
the following: PAT&IE -
Cash and cash equivalents HeMReEEER 12,302 6,023

Note:  The amount mainly represents investment properties located in Hong Kong

and United Kingdom.

MiEr . SRIEBRUNEERABNRED

o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBERRME

20. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 20. REENTINER =)
(continued)
Information of joint ventures (continued) EERTNER (B
The two joint ventures are individually material in relation to the cost ZMRAEERNAMEER AR EEFE
of the investments and net assets of the joint ventures, but the profit ME=EARBEKX  HZREEEN A
or loss and other comprehensive income of each of the two joint BREkEMEPERETTAEKX - Btz
ventures are not material respectively and hence disclosed on an B EERE -

aggregated basis.

2024 2023

—E-IEF ZTE=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FAT

Revenue e 217,359 213,741

Profit for the year AR A 36,219 171,253
Other comprehensive (expense) income AFFEME2E(FS)RE

for the year (68,222) 219,001
Total comprehensive (expense) income AEE2ME(FAX) WA

for the year (32,003) 390,254

Dividend received from a joint venture FREREENFRE
during the year 83,920 91,448
The above profit for the year includes the following: AR EREHEFEEATIER -

2024 2023

—E-IF ZEZ=F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FET FET

Income tax expense FriSFif X 19,759 27,685
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBEmRME
20. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 20. REERARINER )
(continued)
Information of joint ventures (continued) ERNTANERE)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the J:X*E{Lé’jﬁﬁ?éﬂgﬁi FA B IRERA
carrying amount of the interest in two joint ventures recognised in the BRI EE N Es 2 REE
consolidated financial statements: HYETER -
2024 2023
—Z—gE —TE-=4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Net assets of Lucky Yuen Holding Limited B TR BR AR EEFE 631,330 709,670
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest  ZNEEEFT{LIES TR AR A T
in Lucky Yuen Holding Limited HHEERZLE 50% 50%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in REEMGIES TTIERAER A
Lucky Yuen Holding Limited 27 REE 315,665 354,835
Net assets of Smart Source Management BREEBERAFEEFHE
Limited 4,115,585 4,237,085
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in  AEE TGS REEAR QT
Smart Source Management Limited HHEERZHE 50% 50%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in REEEEREEAR AR
Smart Source Management Limited 2 BREE 2,057,793 2,118,543

—E - NFEFR
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1. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

21. BAFEHARE2H

2024 2023
—EME —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong REE T2 #EREH 8,619,647 10,880,796
Equity securities listed in United States RER 7 #ERES 5,362 224,998
Equity securities listed in Shanghai REBEmZERFS - 18,962
8,625,009 11,124,756

Analysed for reporting purposes as: BRERERMONA
— Current assets —REEE 6,923,437 8,905,029
— Non-current assets —IEmENEE 1,701,572 2,219,727
8,625,009 11,124,756

For those financial assets measured at FVTPL of which the
management’s intention is to hold at short-term trading purpose are
classified as current assets. The remaining financial assets measured
at FVTPL which are held for long-term investment purpose are
classified as non-current assets.

At 31 December 2024, the fair values of the listed equity securities
held by Group, determined by reference to the quoted market
bid prices available, amounted to HK$8,625,009,000 (2023:
HK$11,124,756,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

22. DEBT INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 22. RAFEFAREMEE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Uk

INCOME
2024 2023
—ENE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Listed bond securities at fair value: EWESHES - RAFE -
— listed on SGX and issued by listed issuers — BB EMEIT AT A
in Hong Kong with a fixed coupon RETET - EEREFF
interests of 6.5% cash/7.5% PIK K AE$6.5E/EW I
(2023: 6.5% cash/7.5% PIK) per annum 7TEE(ZZE-_=F : B%
and maturity dates from 11 July 2025 to 6.5E/BEWMZ7.5E) -
11 July 2028 (2023: 11 July 2025 to WHR-—E-RELA+—
11 July 2028) HE-Z-NFtA+—
BRE(— =% —
TRFEA+—REZ
ZNFELA+—H) 76,737 116,357
— listed on the Irish Stock Exchange and — BB LEMEITAETIR
issued by listed issuers in Hong Kong EREEERZA LT
with fixed coupon interests of 8% EFEREFHELRE%
per annum and perpetual subordinated X A& (ES A A E i
contingent convertible securities 3 628,604 745,613
705,341 861,970
Analysed for reporting purposes as: ABRERBRMANA -
— Current assets —REEE 14,461 -
— Non-current assets —IEmBEE 690,880 861,970
705,341 861,970
At 81 December 2024 and 2023, the fair values of the listed bond R-ZF-_MER-ZF-_=F+=A
securities are determined by reference to quoted prices in the over- =+—H ELTEHFEHFHNLFERR
the-counter markets at the end of each reporting period. ZMEHRNGINT SREETE -

— T FFR
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DEBT INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
|NCOME (continued)

Included in debt instruments at FVTOCI are the following amounts
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the
group entities to which they are held:

US dollars (“US$”) EVAE V),

22.

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

BAVERAREZERE ZEFTA
BRETIINEEERAM 2N
SNEEEEHEZ SRR

2024 2023
—E-ME T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
705,341 861,970

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, due to the
defaults of a bond issuer in making payments of interest and principal
for its indebtedness, the Directors considered there was a significant
increase in credit risk in the debt instruments at FVTOCI issued by
this issuer. The Group engaged an independent qualified valuer to
assist in the estimation of the ECL provision on the debt instruments
at FVTOCI issued by this issuer by determining an appropriate
probability of default rate, the estimated loss given default rate of each
debt instrument and forward-looking adjustments.

The investments in listed bonds are held by the Group within a
business model whose obijective is both to collect their contractual
cash flows which are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding and to sell these financial assets.
Hence, the investments in listed bonds are classified as at FVTOCI.

An impairment loss of HK$702,158,000 (2023: HK$2,283,000) was
recognised in profit or loss during year ended 31 December 2024.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 35(b).
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23. LOAN RECEIVABLE

Fixed-rate loan receivable at carrying amount  1ZBEE{E5 R > B S fEULE 2%

Within one year —F RN

BEHEERRAH

23. EWER

2024 2023
—ECmE T =4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FBT

= 721,591

The unsecured loan receivable was advanced to an independent third
party and carries interest at 8.5% per annum and was repayable in

December 2023.

During the year ended 2023, due to the defaults of the borrower of
the loan receivable in making payments of interest and principal for
its indebtedness, the Directors considered there was a significant
increase in credit risk in the loan receivable to this borrower. The
Group engaged an independent qualified valuer to assist in the
estimation of the ECL provision on the loan receivable to this borrower
by determining an appropriate probability of default rate, the estimated
loss given default rate of each debt instrument and forward-looking

adjustments.

During the year ended 2024, without any further payments of interest
and principal for its indebtedness, the Directors considered there
was a significant increase in credit risk in the loan receivable to this
borrower. The Group engaged an independent qualified valuer to
assist in the estimation of the ECL provision on the loan receivable to
this borrower by determining an appropriate probability of default rate,
the estimated loss given default rate of each debt instrument and

forward-looking adjustments.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of the Group’s
loan receivable was HK$Nil (2023: HK$721,591,000). Based
on the assessment, the Group has recognised impairment loss
under expected credit loss model of HK$721,591,000 (2023:
HK$893,907,000) in profit or loss for the year ended 31 December

2024, details of which are disclosed in Note 35(b).

ERRERER BN F—RBIES
B BEMRSSEFEAR-ZT-_=
F+—AEE-

BE_T_=-FILFE - ARNERERK
ZIERAREREBEH A B KA
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EREBRARIEN - ARBREE LA
RGER - BBEESENEOE
EEBTANGBTEOBRERATENE
HE - BB R ERAZ BRE R
BEHEEEERE

BE_T_MFILFE - ARKREE
BE-—TINNEREE  EEZRR
ZREFAZ BREFRNEERR AR
me REBERBBLAERMERM 3B
BETSENEORE  SEBLTAN
EHROBRERATEIEHE - HEfh
ARERAZREERNFEREERE
B

RZZE-_WE+—_A=+—8 - K&
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KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

24. DEFERRED TAXATION 24, EIEMHIE
The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets TRARFENBEFEANCDHERZE
recognised and movements thereon during the current and prior EBREHRIBABENEENRER 2 &
years: g -
Fair value
change
Fairvalue ~ of assets
Accelerated Write-down ~ Write-down ~ changeof  arisingfrom  Undistributed  Undistributed
tax Tax of of investment acquisition of profits of - profits of PRC
depreciation losses PHD  inventories  properties  subsidiaries anassociate  subsidiaries Total
YEKELT -f L
e His REfzz  EEMEE  BENEz  MEDAR
SHE  BEBE BENE  MERE OTESD QTESE RAEEAM AR il
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS 000
Tén Tn Tn Tn Tén Tn TEn TEn TR
At January 2023 W-E-=fF-F-A (46,501) 12522 - 252,642 (613,980) 80318 (1,908) (498,000) (675,549
Exchange adjustments El5E 504 - - (321 7810 - L 11,845 16,99
(Charge) credt to consolidated satement (318 )it \REEE AR
of poftorloss fortheyear (Note 9~ (3tzzg) (4.040) - 138259 (18,855 4,284 3067 - 7088 129703
At 31 December 2023 il st ([29.947) 12522 138269 230510 (601,892) (m.261) (1,684) (479,067) (628,760)
Exchange adjustments B (3,009) - - 8865 (28797 - (107) r04) (50,089)
(Charge) creaitto consolidated satement (3118 )5t \RE BB AR
of proftorloss for e yeer (Note 9~~~ () (.24 - 75787 (73.269) 0% 3057 - o1 %352
At 31 December 2024 WNZEZRETZAZT-R (56,199) 12522 214,046 166,106 (538,591) (74204) (1,991) (505,187) (183.497)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial

VAT 8051 A 5 75 B R T AR B 2 IR AE R IR

reporting purposes: RO
2024 2023
—EmEF —EC=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FET
Deferred tax assets RETIBE E 2,593 3,068
Deferred tax liabilities BEBHIEARE (786,090) (831,828)
(783,497) (828,760)

ANNUAL REPORT 2024



&

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

24.

25.

BEHEERRAA

B SRR MIEE
DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 24. ﬁﬁﬁ;ﬁ(%)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses of RRERR - AKEBEHA ] EINAKF
HK$376,189,000 (2023: HK$785,423,000) available for offset against S Y 7 B FB 7 I8 5 18.376,189,0003% 7T
future profits. A deferred tax assets has been recognised in respect — T~ =4 :785,423,00087T) ° Bt
of HK$50,088,000 (2023: HK$50,088,000) of such losses. No %% E51850,088,0008 T ( — T - =4 :
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining 50,088,0007& 7t ) E ERIELILEE
HK$326,101,000 (2023: HK$735,335,000) due to the unpredictability = o AR ARRFE A IER - d A s
of future profit streams. All tax losses will be expired gradually within FLER T 326,101,000 T (B - =4 :
five years to year 2029 (2023: within five years to year 2028). 735,335,000/ 7T ) HER (L (IR AE R 1H &
E o 2HBIAFBIBER AFRE T EH]
BEZ-NE(ZE-=F: REE
RNEE-ZT-)\F) -
Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax of 5% or 10% (2023: WIETEMEMRSRLE B2ZEZEN
5% or 10%) is imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits F—H—H#E BETPHNERQ A
earned by PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Based Fr R ER 22 ) 5 R 2 B B 78 B 41 5% 3%
on the dividend distribution plan of the management, retained profits 10%(ZZF == : 5%810%) A FEHN
as at 31 December 2024 amounting to HK$7,912,022,000 (2023: i BIEBEEEEBMNKREDIKETE - ©
HK$8,094,551,000) will be distributed as dividend in the foreseeable TE-NME+ A=+ —-HHREE
future, while the remaining retained profits has been set aside for local F17,912,022,000 B L ( Z T == F :
operation and business development. 8,094,551,0007%8 7T ) 4 72 A] B SR VE 7
REDIK - MR NMRE &2 BIERH
EEREBER -
INVENTORIES 25. &
2024 2023
—ZTF T =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FAT
Raw materials Bt 2,255,716 1,915,682
Work in progress TR 1,009,439 929,017
Finished goods BURK G 967,775 930,890
4,232,930 3,775,589

During the year ended 31 December 2024 reversal of write-down
of inventories amounting to HK$263,078,000 (2023: reversal of
write-down of inventories amounting to HK$140,926,000) has been
recognised and included in cost of sales.

HE-_Z-_NF+-_A=+—HIEF
£ - B BRI 7 E263,078,0008 7T (=
T =F : [FE MR R 140,926,000
BT ERERRET A ERA ©

—E - NFEFR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

26.

PR aR MY

PROPERTIES HELD FOR

26. 1FHEYHE

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

DEVELOPMENT

Movements of properties held for development are as follows: RFERYEZSEBWOT -
HK$’'000
FET
At 1 January 2023 R-E-_=%—AF—H 16,896,546
Exchange adjustments P 57, B (264,253)
Additions NE 844,676
Write off i (553,032)
Transfer to investment properties (Note 14) EEREIEYE(MTFE14) (453,984)
Transfer to cost of sales ERHENRA (1,050,265)
At 31 December 2023 MN-E-_=F+-"HA=+—H 15,419,688
Exchange adjustments RIS (429,460)
Additions INE 581,396
Write off i 5H (303,149)
Transfer to investment properties (Note 14) EREEYE(ME14) (2,633,801)
Transfer to cost of sales HEIHEMA (417,015)
At 31 December 2024 RZEZNE+=—A=+—H 12,217,659

Analysis of leasehold land included in properties held for development

AARBERMENEE LD

is set out below: T

HK$’000
FET

At 31 December 2024 R-E-_NF+-A=+—H
Carrying amount BREE 7,123,081

At 31 December 2023 R-E-_=F+=-HA=+—H
Carrying amount FREE 8,501,798
2024 2023
—E 4 —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FABT FET
Total cash outflow B RHR5E = -

Additions
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

26.

PR aR M

PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT

(continued)

The carrying amount of leasehold land is measured under HKFRS 16
at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The residual values are determined as the estimated disposal value
of the leasehold land component. No depreciation charge is made on
the leasehold land taking into account the estimated residual values as
at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, properties held for
development with carrying amount of HK$417,015,000 (2023:
HK$1,050,265,000) were completed and sold to third parties.
Included in the properties held for developments, the construction
of properties with carrying amount of HK$8,679,874,000 (2023:
HK$12,171,744,000) are completed.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, write-down of properties
held for development amounting to HK$303,149,000 (2023:
HK$553,032,000) has been recognised and included in cost of sales.

One of the Group’s properties development projects with a carrying
amount of HK$2,609,584,000 (2023: HK$2,259,253,000) has been
pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group.

In the opinion of the Directors, the properties held for development
were classified as current assets as the properties were held for
sale purpose after the completion of construction under the Group’s
normal operating cycle.

26.

EEHEEERAA

FEREYEw

HELMREEREREMHRELE
Q165 IR AR AR (] R 5H T 8 R AT
EBEE - SRMEREE T IMAERE
Mz EEHEEEREE - KAARZE
TER-FE_=Ft-_HA=1—HK
EETERE - TERBH LA RITE -

HE-_Z-_M&F+-_A=+—HIEHF
€ BRE{E417,015,0008 0 (2 ==
% 1 1,050,265,000/870) 2 R E
ERIETE=F o EFERYES
BR M {8 8,679,874,000/ T (—E = =
1 12,171,744,00058 7T ) 2 WS S
TRE®ET -

HE_Z-_MF+-_A=+—HIEF
&+ WU BB Y 3£303,149,0007 7T
:jf_ﬁ 553,032,000 7T ) T &
RMEFASEERA -

AEBEHRER -—BHEEDEA
2,609,584,0008 L MEZHREBEE (=
L — = 1F : 2,250,253,000/870) * LAE
FARITRE -

EER/HTERMEDBR/RDEE -
THRERAEENETSEERE 58
ZEMENBENRN IR TREE -

—F

— T FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

27. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

(@) Trade and other receivables and prepayments
and entrusted loans

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

27. Htt S MEE

@ EBEZRAMEWERARE
NHRERETER

2024 2023
—T-mEF ZTE=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
3T FET
Trade receivables 5 KRR 8,123,682 7,634,086
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEBERE (938,732) (1,090,600)
Trade receivables, net B S AR F R 7,184,950 6,543,486
Advance to suppliers TR HEE A 204,025 202,419
Entrusted loans (Note) HEEFR (M) 148,066 199,287
Prepayment and deposits ENRERES 344,389 318,147
Value added tax (“VAT”) recoverables AR B E R ([ EFR ) 744,227 713,472
Other receivables H AR 214,852 180,257
8,840,509 8,157,068

Less: Non-current portion of entrusted loans & : ZrEE R IETRBILH
(Note) (Mt3E) (134,740) (181,352)
8,705,769 7,975,716

As at 1 January 2023, the gross carrying amount of trade
receivables from contracts with customers amounted to
HK$7,989,399,000 with allowance for credit losses of
HK$1,176,760,000.

Note:

The entrusted loans of HK$148,066,000 (2023: HK$199,287,000)
are due from certain purchasers of properties developed by the
Group in the PRC through four (2023: four) commercial banks in
the PRC (the “Lending Agents”). The entrusted loans carry interest
at variable rates ranging from 3.43% to 4.9% (2023: 3.43% to
4.9%) per annum, payable on monthly basis and the principal wil
be payable on or before 2034 (2023: 2034). The purchasers of
the Group’s properties has pledged to the Lending Agents the
respective properties purchased. These properties are located in
Kunshan, PRC.

As at 31 December 2024, entrusted loans amounting to
HK$134,740,000 (2023: HK$181,352,000) are in respect of
repayments due after 12 months from the end of the reporting
period and are classified as non-current assets.
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R-ZZE-_=F—HF—H " KAT
FPAEAKE S EWERFEEDRE
/47,989,399,000/8 7T * ZE &
1ERE51,176,760,000/8 7T °

sk : BRPENR(ZZE==F:
MR)AERT(THERE
ADERETFAEEBHMER
Y% 1) B 5 148,066,000 7T
—Z — =4 : 199,287,000
BILIZETER - ZEER
ZIEFBFERNTFI43ER
49B(ZE =% : HF3.43
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

27. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

(@

Trade and other receivables and prepayments

and entrusted loans (continued)

The Group allows credit periods of up to 120 days (2023: 120
days), depending on the products sold to its trade customers.
The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables net of
allowance for credit losses based on invoice date at the end
of the reporting period:

EEHEEERAA

HitSmEE

(@

BEZREMERERR &ﬁ

NREREFRER(E

REE R %T%%ﬁZ@ﬁ,

BERA/120B(ZE =% :120
B) BYMHEERME 1

WEMMERRBLL - ENREE

R R - ERRKRR R

BREREFEAMHHMT :

2024 2023

—Z—gE —TE-=4

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHIT Fi#IT

0-90 days 0&90H 6,101,162 5,568,742
91-120 days 91&120H 832,632 736,458
121 -150 days 121&2150H 163,310 145,090
151-180 days 151&180H 22,168 23,904
Over 180 days 180H A E 65,678 69,292
7,184,950 6,543,486

As at 31 December 2024, included in the Group’s trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of HK$2,045,284,000 (2023: HK$2,262,870,000)
which are past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past
due balances, HK$133,153,000 (2023: HK$200,406,000)
which has been past due over 90 days or more and is not
considered as in default based on good repayment records
for those customers. The Group does not hold any collateral
over these balances.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables, entrusted loans and bills receivables are set out
in Note 35(b).

RZZEZWFE+=—A=+—
H AEENE SRR S
HEENREE B HEBBHNER
T 42162,045,284,000/8 7L ( — &
— = :2,262,870,000% T )
MW ARS - MEiLE R E T+
133,153,000/ o(Z 2= =4 :
200,406,000/ 7T ) B @ #§90 H
B L WIRIBEZERFRT®
B  MEERIT AR AE
4 o REEWERZSEBIER
IR -

5 MEMERIER - ZFEER

LA Rz FE U 2 iR R (B R A R B AR
T EE35(0) °

—E - NFEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

27. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSET (continuedq)

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

27. EE®MEE »)

(@) Trade and other receivables and prepayments @ EBEZkRHEMEKERERKRTE
and entrusted loans (continued) RREREXER(E)
Included in trade and other receivables are the following g5 MEMREIRFEIE TFIA
amounts denominated in a currency other than the functional SEEREM e EEIAINE
currency of the group entities to which they relate: BEHE 2 5

2024 2023
—BCoWmEF —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FAT
Us$ ETT 1,963,829 1,956,778
HK$ BT 581,240 493,348
Euro dollar (“Euro”) BoT([BoTl) 114,221 125,499
(b)  Bills receivables b) EREE

Bills receivables of the Group are all aged within 90 days (2023:
90 days) based on invoice date at the end of the reporting
period, and are with a maturity period of less than one year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

27. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSET (continued)

(c)

Cash and cash equivalents/restricted bank
deposits

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash held by the Group
and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three
months or less. At 31 December 2024, the Group’s bank
balances and deposits carry interest at the prevailing market
interest rates which range from 0.01% to 5.5% (2023: 0.01%
to 5.5%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2024, bank balances that are placed in
restricted bank accounts in accordance with the applicable
government regulations amounting to HK$2,207,000 (2023:
HK$10,089,000), such balances can only be applied in
the designated property development projects, of which
HKS$NIl (2023: HKS$NIl) are held for meeting short-term cash
commitments and are included in cash and cash equivalents.
The balances carrying interest at variable interest rate at 1.25%
(2023: 1.25%) per annum.

At 31 December 2024, the Group had bank balances
and cash that were not freely convertible or were
subject to exchange controls in the PRC, amounting to
HK$1,725,467,000 (2023: HK$2,237,427,000).

Included in the bank balances and cash are the following
amounts denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the group entities to which they relate:

uss$ ETT
HK$ BT
Euro Bt
GBP R
THB FER

BEHEERRAH

27. EhE®MEE »)

()

BeRBELEEER 2
PREISRITER

ReMASEEERBEAEE
HEEZRSREFHAAZEA
BIA T ZEERITTER - RZF
—WE+-A=1+—8  K£E
RIRTTREB R FFIRRITMES
FRENF0.01ERS5EB(-F

—=F : N F0.01EES5E )5t
B o

RZZEZMFE+=—A=+—H"
RIEEBBITERF AR R
TER P MR 1T 45 #4 52,207,000
BT (=ZZT==4 : 10,089,000
BT REEHETRERNEE
MERRIER  HRTEL(Z
To=F TEL)AREE
HIRSREMEE - Wit ARS
MESEEEE - £HEEFS
WEBFENERIBE(ZE-=
& 125E)ETE -

RZZEZMFE+=—A=+—H0"
AEETEHLBRBETHEH
HNEE B I BT IR PR 2 SRIT 48R Ik
B4 A1,725,467,0008 7L ( =
T =% :2,237,427,000&7T) °

RITREBRIRSBIE TIIALE
ERAE 2 e BB IAINE R
B2 58

2024 2023
—E_NE - fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FiT
430,958 922,395
200,498 544,496
3,841 8,806
123,046 137,838
71,735 61,112

—E - NFEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 28. B REMENERR

BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT E{{I‘%%&é,ﬂﬁ{i
LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables and bills payables ESREMENSRARENSERE
2024 2023
—E-EF —E-=fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&T BT
Trade payables B REMNERR 2,767,704 2,790,530
Accrued expenses FBIEE A 1,315,293 1,305,255
Payables for acquisition of property, plantand B Y% - BE RBE
equipment TERTBERX 1,084,485 640,772
Other tax payables H AR 620,531 673,662
VAT payables FEHEETR 308,876 147,294
LAT payables FERT £ I AT 33 572
Other payables H{thET IR 546,884 753,449
6,643,806 6,311,534
Bills payables (Note) FET 5 (HIRE) 628,069 661,797
7,271,875 6,973,331
Note:  Included in bills payables as at 31 December 2024 was payables for MizE: W-ZE-OF+—A=+—H EBHE
acquisition of property, plant and equipment of HK$107,380,000 (2023: BERBIEEEME  BE RRENER
HK$109,343,000). #IE 107,380,000 70 ( =2 — =4 :

109,343,000/87T)

The following is an aging analysis of the trade payables based on the R|EHEGERRBL - BHEMNERZ
invoice date at the end of the reporting period: IRECENER BT

2024 2023
—ECmE —T=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FAT
0-90 days 0290H 2,080,291 2,082,362
91-180 days 91£&180H 377,978 369,882
Over 180 days 180H A £ 309,435 338,286
2,767,704 2,790,530
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 28.

BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

Trade and other payables and bills payables (continued)

The average credit period on purchase of goods is 90 days (2023: 90
days). The Group has financial risk management policies in place to
ensure that all payables are settled within the credit time frame.

Bills payables of the Group related to trade payables in which the
Group has issued bills to the relevant suppliers for future settlement of
trade payables, which are aged within 90 days (2023: 90 days) at the
end of the reporting period.

Included in trade and other payables and bills payables are the
following amounts denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the group entities to which they relate:

USs$ ET
HK$ BT

BEEZREMENRRAREMNRE
(&)

BEERNTHEEMROA(ZE
Z=%:90R) - AEERITHMEE L
BEBRRERAAENEFIRNEERA

£
=g

AEERBESENERBEENENE
& BB ARGt ER L AR A
RRGEEE SHEMNTE - BRI ARS
HMARBHOBE(ZE=_=4F : 90R)
ZA e

B NEMENRALENRBERET
JIASEEBRIAE 2T BB IAINER
FHEZ U

2024 2023
—E-mEF B F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FiT
1,613,010 1,324,573
412,964 360,070

—E - NFEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 28.

BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

Contract liabilities SEHEE
2024 2023
—ECE - fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET Tt
Sales of properties HEWE 41,702 314,489
Sales of chemicals HELTEM 635,135 740,542
Sales of laminates HEE IR 291,650 341,222
Sales of PCBs $HEE BN AR BE AR 290,882 271,990
1,259,369 1,668,243

As at 1 January 2023, contract liabilities amounted to
HK$2,601,532,000.

The significant decreases in contract liabilities in both years are mainly
due to the recognition of the advances received from customers
when the properties are completed and transferred to the customers
in both years.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, certain amount of contract
liabilities arising from sales of properties are expected to be realised
within one to two years at the end of the reporting period. The
entire amount of contract liabilities of sales of laminates, PCBs and
chemicals are expected to be realised within one year at the end of
the reporting period.

The following table sets out the revenue recognised relates to carried-
forward contract liabilities at 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 28. B REMENERR
BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT BEREEREHNEE
LIABILITIES (continued)

Contract liabilities (continued) =¥ S-LEE
Sales of Sales of Sales of Sales of
properties chemicals laminates PCBs
HEME HELIER HEFEER HEORRER
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
TR TR FTET FET
For the year ended BZE-_T_MF
31 December 2024 -I-: E-I- HIEEE
Revenue recognised that was ~ 5f A — =F
included in the contract -i-_ﬂ _‘1‘ |
liabllity balance SRBEAERD
at 31 December 2023 EERE X 314,489 740,542 341,222 271,990
For the year ended BE-ZE-=%
31 December 2023 +=BA=+—H
LtEFEE
Revenue recognised that was 5t A —Z - —4
included in the contract +-A=+—~H
liability balance BRIBELERE
at 31 December 2022 ERE X 1,049,107 1,201,291 351,134 -

—E - NFEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND

BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

Contract liabilities (continued)
Typical payment terms with which impact on the amount of contract
liabilities recognised are as follows:

Sales of properties

The Group typically receives 30% to 50% of the contract
value as deposits from customers on entering of a sale
and purchase agreement of properties and will receive the
remaining contracted sum prior to customers obtaining
control of the respective properties. The deposits and
advance payment schemes result in contract liabilities being
recognised throughout the property contract period until the
customer obtains control of the completed property.

In addition, the Group considers the advance payment
schemes contain significant financing component and
accordingly the amount of consideration is adjusted for the
effects of the time value of money taking into consideration
the credit characteristics of the relevant group entities during
the year ended 31 December 2023. As this accrual increases
the amount of the contract liability during the period of
construction, it increases the amount of revenue recognised
when control of the completed property is transferred to the
customer.

Sales of laminates, chemicals and PCBs

When the Group receives a deposit before the production
activity commences, this will give rise to contract liabilities
at the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised when
control of the goods has transferred, being when the goods
have been delivered. The Group typically receives a 30% to
50% deposit on acceptance of manufacturing orders.
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NOTES

TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I IRARMIEE

29. BANK BORROWINGS

BEHEERRAA

29. $R1TEE

2024 2023
—E -4 B
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&T T
Bank loans IRITE X 21,663,751 22,890,426
Trust receipt loans B E R 32,348 32,257
21,696,099 22,922,683
Secured BER 2,345,418 1,643,802
Unsecured (R 19,350,681 21,278,881
21,696,099 22,922,683
2024 2023
—EmE —EI=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT
Carrying amounts repayable*: AR T EIREEE 2 BREE" :
Within one year —FR 8,959,874 8,145,695
Within a period of more than one year but not ~ —#fF A HE BB
more than two years 3,944,430 6,442,813
Within a period of more than two years but not A _HBBE R F
more than five years 7,498,611 7,672,944
Within a period of more than five years BB RF 1,293,184 661,231
21,696,099 22,922,683
Carrying amount repayable within one year RIEREBEER FNERBEF
based on repayment schedules dates HMEMBRERKBE
set out in the loan agreement shown under R—FREENERRE
current liabilities 8,959,874 8,145,695
Add: Amounts shown under non-current 3 AEREAaEZIE
liabilities 12,736,225 14,776,988
21,696,099 22,922,683

*

The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the
respective loan agreements.

BN ERIZARESR B AANTREEE
HEIFIH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

29. BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

As at 31 December 2024, bank borrowings amounted to
HK$14,673,751,000 (2023: HK$18,382,212,000) are variable-rate
borrowings which carry interest ranging from Hong Kong Interbank
Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) + 0.65% to HIBOR + 1.0% (2023: HIBOR
+ 0.78% to HIBOR + 1.25%) per annum and bank borrowings
amounted to HK$3,732,988,000 (2023: HK$3,946,163,000) are
variable-rate borrowings which carry interest ranging from Loan Prime
Rate (“LPR”) — 1.2% to LPR - 0.90% (2023: LPR - 1.0% to LPR -
0.55%) per annum. The remaining bank borrowings amounted to
HK$3,289,360,000 (2023: HK$594,308,000) carry fixed interest rates
ranging from 2.3% to 3.5% (2023: 0.89% to 4.14%).

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, certain bank loans and trust receipt
loans of the Group are covered by corporate guarantees given by
Kingboard Investments Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

29. BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

The range of effective interest rates per annum (which are also equal
to contracted interest rates) on the Group’s bank borrowings are as
follows:

Effective interest rates BERF|=
Variable-rate borrowings mEEE

BEHEERRAA

29. HRITRE )

AEBERTEEZEFERMNE(RE
RERTHIFE)GEEMT

2024
—BomE

2.20% to 5.6%
2.20E£5.62

3.1% 10 6.3%
31[EE6.3E

Included in bank borrowings are the following amounts denominated
in currencies other than the functional currency of the group entities
to which they relate:

HK$ BT

RITEERBETIASEERREZY
REEREAINE R EHE 2 FRER -

2024
—E-mE
HK$°000
FH&T

2023
—E-=F
HK$’000
Tt

30,000

—E - NFEFR
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30. LEASE LIABILITIES

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

30. HEAE

2024 2023
—E -4 B
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Lease liabilities payable: ENHEEEE
Within one year —FR 4,266 3,044
Within a period of more than one year but not ~ —4 A HB BB E
more than two years 2,647 1,106
Within a period of more than two years but not "4 _H{ET#B:8 h4E
more than five years 6,209 33
Within a period of more than five years BidmAF 3,058 828
16,180 5,011
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 B RBB AR 218 A R E A
months shown under current liabilities HEENEEE (4,266) (3,044)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months SEmE B AR 218 A & 2 H
shown under non-current liabilities EENDE 11,914 1,967

No extension options are included in any of the lease agreements
entered by the Group. The incremental borrowing rates applied by the
relevant group entities range from 4.75% to 5.37% (2023: 2.49% to
5.24%). These lease liabilities were measured at the present value of
the payments that are not yet paid.

Lease obligations are denominated in currencies which are same as
the functional currencies of the relevant group entities.
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e I IRARMIEE

BEHEERRAA

31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. B
Authorised Issued and fully paid
EE ERTREBELE
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
ROHE &8 RIEE &8
HK$’000 HK$°000
THEx FERT
Ordinary shares of FREEIETY
HK$0.10 each: Tk
At 1 January 2023 R-E-=F—F—H 2,000,000,000 200,000 1,108,791,736 110,879
Exercise of share options ~ 1T{& AR 4
(Note 32) (BI5E32) - - 20,000 2
Repurchase and cancellation B 0] & 7+ $5 A% (D
of shares (Note) (M33E) - - (500,000) (50)
At 31 December 2023, R-ZE-_=%+-A4
1 January and =+t—8 —ZT-mF
31 December 2024 —A—BRT=A
=+—H 2,000,000,000 200,000 1,108,311,736 110,831
Note:  During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company repurchased its Wex: BE_Z-_=F+_-_A=+—HILtHF
own ordinary shares through the Stock Exchange as follows: R NN ) R g A = N == R
kT
2023 —m——g
Price per share
FRE®K
Aggregate
Month of consideration
repurchase No. of Shares Highest Lowest paid
e A5 RHEE BS BIE ENRERRE
HK$ HK$ HK$’000
BT BT FET
April 2023 350,000 24.60 22.95 8,368
May 2023 150,000 24.15 23.40 3,558
11,926

All shares issued pari passu with the existing shares in all

respects.

FBERORE THEREENZFERE
TR -

—F

— T FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHmRMEE
32. SHARE OPTIONS 32. IBRHE
(a) Employees’ share option scheme of the (@) ARATFESEKREE

Company
The Company adopted the New Share Option Scheme (the RATEERNFTEBARE 81([ %
“Scheme”) which was approved by the shareholders at the &) - ZEFEIRARRESE
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 27 —NERAZTHEARTHRE
May 2019. The scheme will remain in force for a period of ten RIS FERREIE - Z5TE
years from the date on which it was adopted. BBz BRTFRNER -
The purpose of the Scheme is to provide incentive or reward ZET BRI B MIER BNk 5%
to the eligible participants (the “Eligible Participants”) for their BegrauEE([AEK2HE
contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote the interests EDHESASBENGNER X
of the Group. BEZT -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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32. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(@

Employees’ share option scheme of the

Company (continued)

Under the Scheme which is valid for a period of ten years,
the Directors may, at their discretion, grant options to
subscribe for shares in the Company to Eligible Participants
who contribute to the long term growth and profitability of
the Company. Eligible Participants include (i) any employee
(whether full time or part time) of the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or any entity in which the Group holds any equity
interests (“Invested Entity”), including any executive director of
the Company, any of such subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;
(i) any non-executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) of the Company, its subsidiaries or any
Invested Entity; (iii) any supplier of goods or services to any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity; (iv) any customer
of the Group or any Invested Entity; (v) any shareholder of any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity or any holder
of any securities issued by any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity; and (vi) any person or entity who from time
to time determined by the board of directors (the “Board”) as
having contributed or may contribute to the development and
growth of the Group based on his or its performance and/or
years of service, or is regarded as valuable resources of the
Group based on his/it’s working experience, knowledge in the
industry and other relevant factors. The exercise price for the
Company’s share options shall be determined with reference
to the highest of the nominal value of the Company’s shares,
the average of the closing prices of the Company’s shares
quoted on the Stock Exchange on the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of an offer of the grant of the
options and the closing price of the Company’s shares quoted
on the Stock Exchange on the date of an offer of the grant of
the options. The Board, when extending an offer of the grant
of options to a grantee, may impose conditions as it thinks
fit, which may include minimum period for which an option
must be held before it can be exercised or other conditions
as the Board may of its absolute discretion determine. The
options must be taken up by a participant within 28 business
days from the date of grant upon payment of HK$1 and are
exercisable over a period to be determined and notified by the
Directors to each grantee, which period may commence from
the date of acceptance of the offer of the grant of the options
but shall end in any event not later than ten years from the
date of adoption of the Scheme.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

32. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(@

Employees’ share option scheme of the

Company (continued)

The total number of the Company’s shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Scheme and any other schemes of the Group (excluding
options lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Scheme
and any other schemes of the Group) must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the Company’s shares in issue as at the date
of adoption of the Scheme. The limit on the number of the
Company’s shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the Scheme and any other schemes of the Group must not
exceed 30% of the Company’s shares in issue from time to
time. The total number of the Company’s shares issued and
to be issued upon exercise of the options granted to each
grantee (including both exercised and outstanding options)
under the Scheme or other schemes of the Group in any
12-month period up to the date of grant must not exceed
1% of the Company’s shares in issue at the date of grant
unless approved by the shareholders in general meeting.
The number of options available for grant under the Scheme
was 46,405,223 as at 1 January 2024 and 31 December
2024. The number of shares that may be issued in respect
of options granted under the Scheme during 2023 (i.e.
16,040,000) divided by the weighted average number of issued
shares of the Company for 2023 and 2024 were 1.45% and
1.45% respectively. As at the date of this annual report, the
number of options available for grant under the Scheme was
46,405,223, representing 4.19% of the total number of issued
shares of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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32. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(@

Employees’ share option scheme of the
Company (continued)
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, there was no participant
with share options granted in excess of the 1% individual limit
under the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no option has
lapsed, cancelled, exercised or granted under the Scheme
(2023: 20,000 were exercised and 16,040,000 outstanding
share options were granted).

As at 31 December 2024, and as at the date of this annual
report, there were 32,410,000 (2023: 32,410,000) options
outstanding under the scheme, representing 2.92% (2023:
2.92%) of the total number of issued shares of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GARBRENE
32. SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 32. Eﬁﬂﬁ*g(%)
(@ Employees’ share option scheme of the (@) ARAFESEKREE(E)
Company (continued)
A summary of the movements of the number of share options FA - ZEIET ZBRERE
under the Scheme for the year is as follows: BERAAT
(Exercised)
granted
during the
Balance at year ended Balance at Granted Balance at
1January 31 December 31 December during 31 December Exercise price
Date of grant 2023 2023 2023 the year 2024 pershare  Exercisable period
REZE
i3
128
RZB-zf =t-B  WZBZE RZB-mE
-f-B2 t#E tZA=t-H t=R=+-H
RiLAH i Eﬁﬂ?ﬁﬁ) &% REREL 288 BROEE  AHE
Note|
(it
Granted to Directors on:
RIIGHRTES
14 August 2019 20,000 (20,000) - - - HK$17.304 14 August 201910
“Z-hENRTIA 1730457 18 August 2029
“E-NENATRAE
ZENENATER
23 June 2022 12,650,000 - 12,650,000 - 12,650,000 HK$30.890 23 June 202210
ZEZERRZTER 30.890% T 22 June 2082
ZECCERAZTZRE
ZESCERACTCA
28 July 2023 - 12,650,000 12,650,000 - 12,650,000 HK$21.500  28.July 202310
ZEZZELACTR 21.500ET 27 July 2033
ZECZELACT\RE
e S =
Granted fo employees on
(Note i):
RTFIRERTEE (i) -
23 June 2022 3,720,000 - 3,720,000 - 3,720,000 HK$30.890 23 June 202210
ZEZERAZTER 30.890% T 22 June 2082
ZECCERAZTZRE
ZESCESACTCA
28 July 2023 - 3,390,000 3,390,000 - 3,390,000 HK$21.500  28.July 202310
ZEZZELACTR 2150087 27 July 2033
ZECZELACT)\RE
ZEECEEACITEA
16,390,000 16,020,000 32,410,000 - 32,410,000
Exercisable at
RUATRET IR
1 January 2023 16,390,000
“3-=%#-5-H
31 December 2023 32,410,000
“B-EETZA=t-A
31 December 2024 32,410,000
“B-RETZA=1-R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I IRARMIEE

32. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(a) Employees’ share option scheme of the

Company (continued)
Notes:

U

During the year ended 31 December 2023, 16,040,000 options
were granted by the Company on 28 July 2023 under the Scheme
of the Company, of which 14,160,000 options were granted to
directors and/or their associate(s) and 1,880,000 were granted
to employees (excluding any associate of directors). The closing
price of the Company’s shares on 28 July 2023 (namely the date
immediately before the aforesaid grant date) is HK$21.50. The
estimated fair value of the aforesaid options was HK$75,258,000,
of which HK$66,437,000 was attributable to the options granted
to directors and/or their associate(s) while HK$8,821,000 was
attributable to the options granted to employees. The fair value
of each of the abovementioned options was identical, namely
HK$4.692. All share options were vested on the date of grant.

These fair values were calculated using the Binomial model. The
inputs into the model were as follows:

Share price at grant date

i B R (E

Exercise price

1TefE

Expected volatility

TEEDR B

Expected life

TREAEFHY

Risk-free interest rate

A2 [ i =

Expected dividend yield
TEERRR B e =

Early exercise multiple (Directors)
RATTREMES (EF)

Early exercise multiple (Employees)

RAITTEGE (BR)

7

i)
b

BEHEERR/

]
ol

32. BRE
AATMEEBRESTE(®)

(@

Hz-—_Z-_=Z4+—-A4
T+ —ALFE  AAF
RZTEZ=FLA=+N
BIREARAGEHEL
16,040,000 5 5 A% # - H
7 14,160,000 17 & i% 4 %
FEERKHEBEA
1,880,00017 & FIE & (T8
BAMEZTIHEA) o K
NEIBRHR—_E-_=F+A
—+NRB(BEE F@FEA
HAT— A ) ;U™ (E A21.50
BT o EMEBREZ R
F (& 475,258,000 7T H
166,437,000 7T 57 B R %
FEER/IHBEZHEA
Z B - 118,821,000 T
BENETES ZERE -
il EmEREN R TEME
Rl 5469287 - FiBHK
BREHE RS -

ZERFEDFEA-EAE
REHE - ERIMBABERNT

2023
ZET=F

HK$21.50
21.50/ 7T
HK$21.50
21.50/ 7T

35.63%

10 years
+4F
3.84%

5.55%

1.40x
1.401%
1.23x
1.231&%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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32. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(GY]

Employees’ share option scheme of the

Company (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(i) (continued)

The measurement date of the options disclosed herein is the date
of grant of these options.

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility
of the Company’s share price over the previous 10 years. The
expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on
the valuer’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability,
exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.

The Binomial model has been used to estimate the fair value of
the options. The variables and assumptions used in computing
the fair value of the share options are based on the directors’ best
estimate. The value of an option varies with different variables of
certain subjective assumptions.

(ii) Including the interests of 3,350,000 (2023: 3,350,000) share
options of spouse of Mr. Ho Yin Sang, a director of KHL. The
spouse of Ho Yin Sang is an employee of KLHL. Ms. Cheung
Wai Kam is an associate of Director by virtue of her relationship
with several executive Directors of the Company. In addition to
being the spouse of Mr. Ho Yin Sang, she is also the mother of
Ms. Ho Kin Fan and the sister of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing. Ms.
Cheung Wai Kam had a balance of 1,840,000 share options at
the beginning of the year ended 31 December 2023. She was
granted 1,510,000 share options during the year ended 31
December 2023. All 1,510,000 share options were vested on the
date of grant, 28 July 2023. None of the share options granted
were exercised, cancelled or lapsed during the year.

The Group recognised the expense of HK$75,258,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2023 in relation to the above
16,040,000 share options granted by the Company.

The share options outstanding had a weighted average
exercise price of HK$26.24 (2023: HK$26.24), and the
weighted average remaining contract lives of the outstanding
share options are approximately 8.02 years (2023: 9.75 years)
as at 31 December 2024.

As at the date of this annual report, the remaining life of the
Scheme is approximately four years and one month.
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32. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(b)

Employees’ share option scheme of Kingboard
Laminates Holdings Limited (“KLHL”)

The share option scheme of KLHL (“KLHL Scheme”) was
approved by the shareholders and the shareholders of KLHL
on 29 May 2017, and the KLHL Scheme took effect upon
obtaining approval from the Listing Committee of the Stock
Exchange on 2 November 2017. The purpose of the KLHL
Scheme is to provide incentive or reward to the eligible
participants of the KLHL Scheme (as listed below) for their
contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote the interests
of the KLHL Group.

The KLHL Scheme is valid for a period of ten years. The board
of KLHL may, at its discretion, grant options to subscribe for
shares in KLHL to (i) eligible participants who contribute to the
long-term growth and profitability of KLHL and include any
employee or proposed employee (whether full-time or part-
time and including any executive director), consultants or
advisers of KLHL, any of its subsidiaries or any entity (“KLHL’s
Invested Entity”) in which the KLHL and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “KLHL Group”) holds an equity
interest; (i) any non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors) of KLHL, any of its subsidiaries or any
KLHL’s Invested Entity; (i) any supplier of goods or services
to any member of the KLHL Group or any KLHL’s Invested
Entity; (iv) any customer of the KLHL Group or any KLHL’s
Invested Entity; (v) any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to the KLHL
Group or any KLHL'’s Invested Entity; and (vi) any shareholder
of any member of the KLHL Group or any KLHL’s Invested
Entity.
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32. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(b)

Employees’ share option scheme of Kingboard
Laminates Holdings Limited (“KLHL”) (continued)

The exercise price of KLHL’s share in respect of any option
granted under the KLHL Scheme was determined with
reference to the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares
of KLHL as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet on the date of grant of the option, which must be a
business day; (i) the average closing price of the shares of
KLHL as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the
date of grant of the option; and (i) the nominal value of the
shares of KLHL. For details, please refer to the announcement
of KLHL dated 23 April 2017.

The option may be accepted by a participant within 28 days
from the date of the offer for the grant of the option upon
the payment of a consideration of HK$1. An option may be
exercised at any time during a period to be determined and
notified by the directors of KLHL to each grantee, and in the
absence of such determination, from the date upon which the
offer for the grant of the option is accepted but shall end in
any event not later than ten years from the date of grant of the
option subject to the provisions for early termination thereof.
The directors of KLHL may, at their absolute discretion, fix
any minimum period for which an option must be held, any
performance targets that must be achieved and any other
conditions that must be fulfilled before the options can be
exercised upon the grant of an option to a participant.

The total number of shares of KLHL which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the KLHL
Scheme (excluding, for this purpose, options lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the KLHL Scheme and any
other share option scheme of KLHL) must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the total number of shares of KLHL in issue
as at the date of approval of the KLHL Scheme by the
shareholders and the shareholders of KLHL (i.e. 312,000,000
shares of KLHL, representing 10.0% of the total issued share
capital of KLHL as at the date these consolidated financial
statements are authorised for issue and the weighted average
number of shares of KLHL in issue for the year ended 31
December 2024).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

32. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(b)

Employees’ share option scheme of Kingboard
Laminates Holdings Limited (“KLHL”) (continued)

The maximum number of shares of KLHL which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to
be exercised under the KLHL Scheme and any other share
option scheme of KLHL must not exceed 30% of the issued
share capital of KLHL from time to time.

The total number of shares of KLHL issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted (including both exercised
and outstanding options) to each participant in any 12-month
period must not exceed 1% of the share capital of KLHL then
in issue unless approved by the shareholders of KLHL and
shareholders of the Company in general meetings.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, 36,900,000
options were granted by KLHL on 23 June 2022 under the
KLHL Scheme, of which 29,000,000 options were granted to
directors of KLHL and 7,900,000 were granted to employees
of KLHL.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, these 36,900,000
options remained outstanding under the KLHL Scheme,
representing 1.2% of the shares of the Company in issue
at that date. The closing price of the Company’s shares
on 22 June 2022 (namely the date immediately before the
aforesaid grant date) is HK$9.46. The estimated fair value
of the aforesaid options was HK$48,000,000, of which
HK$37,724,000 was attributable to the options granted to
Directors of KLHL while HK$10,276,000 was attributable to
the options granted to employees of KLHL. The fair value of
each of the abovementioned options was identical, namely
HK$1.3008. All share options were vested on the date of
grant, 23 June 2022.

BEHEERRAH

B

(b)
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RAEREME L BRAERTSIPTE
REmMERTEREFTEZE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

32. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(b)

Employees’ share option scheme of Kingboard
Laminates Holdings Limited (“KLHL”) (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, 35,900,000
options were granted by the Company on 28 July 2023
under the KLHL Scheme, of which 29,000,000 options were
granted to Directors of KLHL and 6,900,000 were granted to
employees of KLHL.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, these 35,900,000
options remained outstanding under the KLHL Scheme,
representing 1.1% of the shares of the Company in issue
at that date. The closing price of the Company’s shares
on 28 July 2023 (namely the date immediately before the
aforesaid grant date) is HK$7.80. The estimated fair value
of the aforesaid options was HK$48,750,000, of which
HK$39,378,000 was attributable to the options granted to
Directors of KLHL while HK$9,372,000 was attributable to
the options granted to employees of KLHL. The fair value of
each of the abovementioned options was identical, namely
HK$1.3579. All share options were vested on the date of
grant, 28 July 2023.

There was no vesting period and performance targets
attached to the options granted. None of the vested share
options have been exercised.

As at 31 December 2024, there was no participant with share
options granted in excess of the individual limit.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no option has
lapsed or has been exercised, or cancelled under the KLHL
Scheme. As at 31 December 2024, 72,800,000 outstanding
share options were exercisable (2023: 72,800,000). As at
the date of this annual report, the remaining life of the KLHL
Scheme is approximately two years and six months.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

32. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(b)

32. BRE

Employees’ share option scheme of Kingboard

Laminates Holdings Limited (“KLHL”) (continued)

A summary of movements of the number of share options
under the KLHL Scheme for the year was as follows:

Date of grant

REAH

Granted to the directors of
KLHL on:

RGBT EEEER
EE

23 June 2022

R RAZT=H

28 July 2023
“Z-=%tA-+N\H

Granted to employees on
(Note ii):

RTZIBHE T ES (Hati) -

23 June 2022
“Z--FR AZ+Z=H

28 July 2023
=%t A-+N\H

Balance at Granted Balance at

1 January during 31 December
2024 the year 2024
R-Z-MF

R=B=IF t=A=t-H
— BBzt RERFH iR
29,000,000 - 29,000,000
29,000,000 - 29,000,000
7,900,000 - 7,900,000
6,900,000 - 6,900,000
72,800,000 - 72,800,000

(b)

BEHEERRAA

EEEERERBRAA
(T2EEERDEEERE
R E ()
FRBBEERFEET 2ER
REEEHHPEZNT
Exercise
price
per share  Exercisable period
BRITEE TEE
HK$9.728 23 June 2022 to
9.7287%5 7L 22 June 2032
“ZZZHR AZtTZHZE
“E=CZERAZTZH
HK$7.800 28 July 2023 to
7.800/& 7T 27 July 2033
S oy AN = EY
“Z==%tA-++tH
HK$9.728 23 June 2022 to
9.7287% 7L 22 June 2032
ZZZHFR AZtTZHZE
“E=CZERAZTZH
HK$7.800 28 July 2023 to
7.800/& 7T 27 July 2033
S o AN = Y
“Z==%tA-++tH

—E - NFEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

32. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(b)

32. BBRE

Employees’ share option scheme of Kingboard

Laminates Holdings Limited (“KLHL”) (continued)

Date of grant

RHAH

Granted to the diirectors of
KLHL on:

RIGIEBRFEEEER
E

23 June 2022
“E--#XAZ+ZH

28 July 2023
“E-=%+A-+N\H

Granted to employees on
(Note ii):

RTIFIFHRTER (Hiti) :

23 June 2022
—E--#XA-+=H

28 July 2023
=%t A-+N\H
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Granted
Balance at during Balance at
1 January the year 31 December
2023 (Note i) 2023
R-ZB=-=f
R-g==f  RFAEE t+=-g=+-R
—A—-Bz#th (Hteti) ok 323
29,000,000 - 29,000,000
- 29,000,000 29,000,000
7,900,000 - 7,900,000
- 6,900,000 6,900,000
36,900,000 35,900,000 72,800,000

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

(b) BEERERERBERAF
(TEEEERDEEESL
BRESTE (e

Exercise
price
per share

BRTEE

HK$9.728
9.7285 7T

HK$7.800
7.8007T

HK$9.728
9.728%TT

HK$7.800
7.800/7C

Exercisable period

Eogcd
23 June 2022 1o
22 June 2032
—E--EXA-tT=HE
“E=-#XA-+ZH
28 July 2023 to
27 July 2033
—E-_=%tA-+N\BZE
—E-=f%tA-++H
23 June 2022 to
22 June 2032
—E--FXA-t=HZ
“E=-FXA-+=H
28 July 2023 to
27 July 2033
“E-=FtA-+N\HE
“T==FtA-t++H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I IRARMIEE

32. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(b) Employees’ share option scheme of Kingboard
Laminates Holdings Limited (“KLHL”) (continued)

Notes:

M

During the year ended 31 December 2023, 35,900,000 options
were granted by KLHL on 28 July 2023 under the share option
scheme of KLHL, of which 29,000,000 options were granted to
directors of KLHL and 6,900,000 were granted to employees of

KLHL.

These fair values were calculated using the Binomial pricing
model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

Share price at grant date

B B EAE

Exercise price

1IE(E

Expected life

TREREFHA

Expected dividend yield
TEHERRR B e =

Expected volatility

L)

Risk-free interest rate
LB N R

Early exercise multiple (Directors)
RATTEEE(ES)

Early exercise multiple (Employees)

RATTEEHR(ER)

BEHEERRAA

B

(b) BEERERERBERAF
(TEEEERDEEESL
BRESTE (e

Wi

0

HEzE-_Z-_=%+=-A1
=+—RHILEFE BEEE
BRR—ZE-_=F+A -+ N
B R 4R 5 T B AR 0 AR AT
B 5% 1 35,900,000 17 B &
& - H 7 29,000,000 15 ¥
RERTFTEEEERES -
6,900,00017 #% T i ETE B IR
B8 -

FZERNFETDRA -ZANE

BEAHHE - BRI G AR
m -

As of As of

28 July 2023 23 June 2022

BEC=

ET=F BE-ERCCF

tA=+NH ANA=+=R

HK$7.800 HK$9.550
7.8007 7T 9.5507% 7T
HK$7.800 HK$9.728
7.8007% 7T 9.7287% 7T
10 years 10 years
+4 +2
5.66% 15.81%
40.463% 39.132%
3.840% 2.632%
1.23x 1.23x
1.23f% 1.23f%
1.22x 1.22x
1.22f% 1.22%

— T FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

32. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(b)

Employees’ share option scheme of Kingboard
Laminates Holdings Limited (“KLHL”) (continued)

Notes: (continued)
(i) (continued)

The measurement date of the options disclosed herein is the date
of grant of these options.

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility
of the Company’s share price over the previous 10 years. The
expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on
the valuer’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability,
exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.

The Binomial model has been used to estimate the fair value of
the options. The variable and assumptions used in computing the
fair value of the share options are based on the directors’ best
estimate. The value of an option varies with different variables of
certain subjective assumptions.

(ii) Including the interests of 10,800,000 share options of spouse of
Mr. Ho Yin Sang, a director of KHL. The spouse of Mr. Ho Yin
Sang is an employee of KLHL.

During the years ended 2024 and 2023, KLHL recognised
total expense of nil and HK$48,750,000 in related to above
nil and 35,900,000 share options granted by KLHL during the
year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, respectively.

The share options outstanding had a weighted average
exercise price of HK$8.777 (2023: HK$8.777), and a
weighted average remaining contract lives of the outstanding
share options are approximately 8.02 years (2023: 9.75 years)
as at 31 December 2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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33. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 33. FiEkfER

Share-based

Share of payments
net assets of reserve of
subsidiaries a subsidiary Total
—BHELR
PR AR ZUBRGBHR
REE BEN:1 ] @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET
At 1 January 2023 R-E-=F—F—H 4,590,176 48,000 4,638,176
Share of net changes arising from debt EERATE AR 2 U ER
instruments at FVTOCI (Note) TRESHMEEFE(HE) (14,810) - (14,810)
Share of exchange differences arising from EERTESHELMEEZER
translation to presentation currency b | (45,127) - (45,127)
Share of profit for the year TELARERRA 281,131 - 281,131
Recognition of equity-settled share-based ERNEREFORNHF AT
payments - 48,750 48,750
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders of 715 FHB A R 7 JERRARER
subsidiaries K& (214,859) - (214,859)
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=F+-A=1—H 4,596,511 96,750 4,693,261
Share of net changes arising from debt EERATFE AR M2 AR ES
instruments at FVTOC (Note) TAEANZHFERD) 21,375 - 21,375
Share of exchange differences arising from FBEANERFEEMELZER
translation to presentation currency =5 (93,054) - (93,054)
Share of profit for the year EENEE ST 473,002 - 473,002
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders of 715 FHiB AR Z IR 2
subsidiaries 45 (180,111) - (180,111)
At 31 December 2024 RZE-WF+-A=+—H 4,817,723 96,750 4,914,473
Note:  Share of net changes arising from debt instruments at FVTOCI consist of Mizk :  FEEIRATFESTAEMEEREENER

loss on fair value changes on debt instruments amounting to HK$387,000
(2023: HK$11,714,000) and impairment loss under ECL model on
debt instruments at FVTOCI amounting to HK$21,762,000 (2023:
HK$71,000). For the year ended 31 December 2024, the amount also
included cumulative gain reclassified to profit or loss upon disposal of debt
instruments amounting to HK$Nil (2023: HK$3,167,000).

IE:E’J """""" A B REREEF A ATE
B HEIE387,000/8 T (2T =4 -
11,714,000/5 7)) R EEE B EEER
TRAFEF AL MEEK S EFT
ERER1821,762,0008 T (— 2 ==
F:71,00087T) c BE_T_MF
+=-A E+*E¢¢T ;Z%%EJT@#%
PEEFIAERENHERBREMNR
W/\'*;%m(f,:—i 3,167,000

JL) °
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e
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ma

34.

PR aR MY

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank borrowings
and lease liabilities, net of cash and cash equivalents and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share
capital, share premium, reserves, and retained profits and non-
controlling interests as disclosed in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity.

The Directors review the capital structure on a semi-annual basis.
As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and
the risks associated with each class of capital. In the opinion of the
Directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as
well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(@

(b)

BEHEEERRAA

TRMITH

Categories of financial instruments (@ <@MIAEH
2024 2023
—EomE —EBC-=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Financial assets SEMEE
Amortised cost B SHR R 14,911,103 14,990,190
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEFAEBENEREE 11,720
Equity instruments at FVTPL BRATEAABROERTA 8,625,009 11,124,756
Debt instruments at FVTOCI BEAEFAEMEEKEZ
BT A 705,341 861,970
24,253,173 26,976,916
Financial liabilities Ea =N
Amortised cost B SHR R
— trade and other payables — B 5 RHMFERERK 4,399,074 4,184,751
- bills payables — BN 628,069 661,797
— bank borrowings —RITIEE 21,696,099 22,922,683
26,723,242 27,769,231

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

Details of the Group’s financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk, interest rate
risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

Market risk

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency
sales and purchases, which expose the Group to foreign
currency risk. Approximately 11.6% (2023: 11.4%) of the
Group’s sales are denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of the group entities making the
sale, whilst almost 11.5% (2023: 16.2%) of purchases are
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency
of the relevant group entities.

(b)

M¥EREEERREREE

REER S R T B BN BRI
EHBZE’E ZERBITAREZE
aﬁ.‘m%ﬂ 2 (EH R -~ A
ok B EREAR) 8
&//luibﬁiﬂ % o BRIKZSE
B B ﬁﬁ\JﬁDTo EEEE
i@& SRS R - AR R
A8 B EREUE ”‘Z}amo

5 Rk

B

AR R TR Bl LASNEE 1T
HE RIRE - SAEEAZI
BER o AEEL11.6%(=F
TEF o 11.4%) WS EIIE
EITHENEBER LK
HE - MET115% (=T ==
F 1 16.2% ) B FE I FELAFE S
SEEBNIEEKIIE -

—E - NFEFR
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Currency risk (continued)

The carrying amount of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the end of
the reporting period are disclosed in respective notes. The
management continuously monitors the foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging foreign currency risk
should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to fluctuation against foreign
currencies of US$, HK$, Euro and GBP. The following table
details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2023: 5%) increase
and decrease in functional currency of respective group
entities against the relevant foreign currencies, excluding the
exposures on balances denominated in US$ of respective
group entities of which functional currencies are HK$, since
the Directors are of the opinion that such exposures are
not significant as HK$ is pegged to US$. 5% (2023: 5%)
represents the management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes only the outstanding monetary items
denominated in foreign currency and adjusts their translation
at the end of the reporting period for a 5% (2023: 5%)
changes in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes trade and other receivables, bank balances and cash,
trade and other payables, bank borrowings as well as debt
instruments at FVTOCI. A positive (negative) number below
indicates an increase (decrease) in post-tax profit for the year
where functional currency of each group entity strengthens
5% (20283: 5%) against the relevant foreign currency. For a 5%
(2023: 5%) weakening of functional currency of each group
entity against the relevant foreign currency, there would be an
equal and opposite impact on the post-tax profit for the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

BEHEERRAA

35. TRIT A )

(b) HMBEBEEAFRREEX

policies (continued) (58)
Market risk (continued) miERR(E)
Currency risk (continued) EE g ()
Sensitivity analysis (continued) BRRESIT(E)
2024 2023
—ENE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT Fi#IT
Us$ e (38,498) (101,601)
HK$ BT 90,732 (27,235)
Euro BT (4,610) (5,647)
GBP g (4,805) (5,795)

In the opinion of the Directors, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of inherent foreign exchange risk as the year
end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.

BEXZR R ARFRERTRR
FARRR  BEEREDTARER
RAERIINERR

—E - NFEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to fixed-rate loan receivable (see Note 23 for details of the loan
receivable), listed bond securities with fixed coupon interest
(see Note 22 for details of these listed bond securities), fixed-
rate lease liabilities (see Note 30 for details of these lease
liabilities) and fixed-rate bank borrowings (see Note 29 for
details of these bank borrowings). The Group manages its
interest rate exposures by assessing the potential impact
arising from any interest rate movements based on interest
rate level and outlook.

The Group’s bank balances, restricted bank deposits,
entrusted loans and variable-rate borrowings have exposure
to cash flow interest rate risk due to the fluctuation of the
prevailing market interest rate.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial liabilities
are detailed in the liquidity risk management section of
this note. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR and LPR (2023:
HIBOR and LPR) arising from the Group’s bank borrowings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R RMEE
35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 35. ﬁﬁﬂl ;E's(%)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b) HHEREEEBEREX
policies (continued) (%)
Market risk (continued) SR (&)
Interest rate risk (continued) Ve AC=P)
Total interest revenue/income from financial assets that are DA AR AN FT 2 SR A FERTA
measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI is as follows: Hib2msm e E ErER]
BWA WA
2024 2023
—ENE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Interest revenue FLEMA
Financial assets at FVTOCI BAFEFAE M EERERN
EREE 61,730 38,676
Other income HAbA
Financial assets at amortised cost BB EKATTEN S MEE 68,745 268,657
Interest expense on financial liabilities not measured at FVTPL: AT EFAEBRNSRBE
MFEMAX
2024 2023
—E N4 —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BHIER AT ENS ARG 1,149,935 1,148,839

—E - NFEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for entrusted loans and bank
borrowings at the end of the reporting period. The analysis is
prepared assuming the financial instruments outstanding at
the end of the reporting period were outstanding for the whole
year. A 50 basis points (2023: 50 basis points) increase or 50
basis points (2023: 50 basis points) decrease are used and
represents the management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates. Bank balances are excluded
from sensitivity analysis as the Directors consider that the
exposure of cash flow interest rate risk arising from variable-
rate bank balances is insignificant.

If interest rate had been 50 basis points (2023: 50 basis
points) higher/lower and all other variables were held constant,
the Group’s post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December
2024 would decrease/increase by HK$93,517,000 (2023:
decrease/increase by HK$93,334,000) as a result of the
Group’s exposure to interest rates on its entrusted loans and
variable-rate borrowings.

In the opinion of the Directors, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of inherent interest rate risk as the year end
exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity and debt price risk through
its investments in equity instruments measured at FVTPL and
debt instruments at FVTOCI. For equity instruments measured
at FVTPL quoted in the Stock Exchange and debt instruments
at FVTOCI traded in over-the-counter, the management
manages this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of
investments with different risks. The Group has appointed
a special team to monitor the price risk and will consider
hedging the risk exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses have been determined based on the
exposure to equity and debt price risk at the reporting date.

If the prices of the respective equity instruments had
been 10% (2023: 10%) higher/lower, the post-tax profit
for the year ended 31 December 2024 would increase/
decrease by HK$720,277,000 (2023: increase/decrease by
HK$928,917,000) as a result of the changes in fair value of
equity investments at FVTPL.

If the prices of the respective debt instruments had been 10%
(2023: 10%) higher/lower, the investment revaluation reserve
for the year ended 31 December 2024 would increase/
decrease by HK$70,534,000 (2023: increase/decrease by
HK$86,197,000) as a result of the changes in fair value of
investments at FVTOCI.

BEHEEERRAA
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b)) HEERBREEEEREE
()
B ER ()
H B ER

AEEEREERIERAFETARE
HHEE TAREREAFEFAR
2 AU E R ER T A mAER
RIREBERER o BEREEZFT
WMEME LA EFABEEN
Em TR RSN ZHRATFE
FFAEMEEEES T A
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BHEERIERE $’$.E
ZEEEERERERRR

ZRBERE T EERR
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E o

IIF

i Sz T A 2 BHIE M, SHd
10%(ZFE==ZF :10%) ' B
HE-_Z-NF+-A=+—H
LIEFERBRTBE R TSGR
720,277,000 L ( Z T ==
41N, 4 928,917,00055
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial
losses to the Group. The Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk in the event of the counterparties’ failure to
perform their obligations at the end of the reporting period
in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the
carrying amount of those assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customer

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Directors have
delegated the management to be responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. Before accepting any new
customer, the Group uses an internal credit scoring system
to assess the potential customer’s credit quality and defines
credit limits by customer. The Group monitors any changes
in the credit quality of the trade receivables since the credit
was granted and up to the end of the reporting period. Limits
and scoring attributed to customers are reviewed twice a
year. Other monitoring procedures are in place to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In this
regard, the Directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk
on trade receivables with exposure spread over a number
of customers. However, the Group is exposed to the
concentration on geographic segment in the PRC. At 31
December 2024, approximately 95% (2023: 95%) of the
Group’s trade receivables are arising from the PRC.

Except for credit-impaired trade receivables which are
assessed for impairment individually, the remaining trade
receivables are grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics by reference to the Group’s internal credit
ratings. Details of the quantitative disclosures are set out
below in this note.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Collective assessments

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group
applies internal credit rating for its customers. The following
table provides information about the exposure to credit risk
for trade receivables which are assessed collectively as at
31 December 2024 and 2023 within lifetime ECL (not credit-
impaired). Credit-impaired debtors with gross carrying
amounts of HK$37,073,000 as at 31 December 2024
(2023: HK$47,805,000) were assessed individually. Credit-
impairment debtors are fully provided ECL.

BEHEEERRAA

€I A
b) HMERBREEBEBEREE

()
EERBRRRERRE(E)
BT
$Elﬁgﬁﬁmm%ﬁ§ﬁ
EAAEEEFEERBRER
m—% o NREENEHTE
HEEBE(EEERE)NERE
FHEEEN —_E_NER-F
—ZF+-A=1+—HBSENK
R EERBRER - R=ZF =Y
F+-A= + B RERES
37,073,000 T (Z T = =4 :
47,805,00058 7T ) Z Z EREE
I BRFRE A RIFEE - EERERE
WERF TR E BB ER 8%
f& o

For the year ended 31 December 2024: HE_Z-—mFE+—-_A=+—8
¢¢f-

Gross trade Range of Net trade
Internal credit rating receivables loss rates ECL receivables
BEZEW FHEE B2 EW
REEEFTR IRREE EEEEE =1 IRFURE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FHR F#T FET
Low risk KRB 5,593,354 1% - 4% 235,431 5,357,923
Watch list ERRE 2,323,164 5% - 20% 599,779 1,723,385
Doubtful KRR 170,091 30% - 40% 66,449 103,642
8,086,609 901,659 7,184,950

For the year ended 31 December 2023: BE-_ZE-=F+-A=t+—H

LIEFE -

Gross trade Range of Net trade
Internal credit rating receivables loss rates ECL receivables
B 5 e TaHEE Z 5 W
NEBEERTR RREE  BEXHE E1E ARFUFER
HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FET
Low risk EWE 3,757,868 1% - 4% 186,185 3,571,683
Watch list ERRE 2,939,894 5% - 20% 587,987 2,351,907
Doubtful RAER 888,519  30% - 40% 268,623 619,896
7,586,281 1,042,795 6,543,486

—T_FFHR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R I IRARMIEE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises

the following categories:

Internal

credit rating Description

WEMEERTAR Eispu

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of
default

AV HFHEOARE

Watch list Doubtful debtor frequently repays
after due dates but usually
settle in full

ERAE BERNFRNEFALENRE
HRREEFE  BERER
2HIEE

Doubtful There have been significant
increases in credit risk since
initial recognition through
information developed internally
or external resources

KR 338 N R A B SN R ORI R )
ERBENMEERR B VRTHER
VAZREEZE 7T

Loss There is evidence indicating the
asset is credit-impaired

= BEBREELREERE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that
the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery

HisH BEBEREBARAREY

A - AEAKEEEREES KD
KB

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

35. €@ T H

(b) HMBEBEEAFRREEX

(%)

FERRKBERE(E)
REENFEE RS FREE
FEAT D8 -

Trade receivables
B 5 R

Lifetime ECL -
not credit-impaired
S HIFEHREEEE —
EEERE

Lifetime ECL —
not credit-impaired

rHEBEEEE-
EEERE

Lifetime ECL -
not credit-impaired

EHENEEEE -
EEERE

Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired

THITREEEEE -
SERE

Amount is written off

SEREMH

Other financial assets/
other items
Hih S mEE,/
Hfb1g

12m ECL

1218 AEREEEE

12m ECL

1218 A a8z B & 18

Lifetime ECL -
not credit-impaired

T HREEEEE -
EEERE

Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired
ZHIEHIEEEE -

EERE

Amount is written off

RN

EETE BRI ER WK
FHNELBEEMEEQRM

and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is
regularly reviewed by the management to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
The following table sets out the movement in lifetime ECL that

BEHEEERRAA

€I A

b)) HEERBREEEEREE
()
EERBRRETE ()

TREIREEOEERSES

has been recognised for trade receivables under the simplified YRR 2 BT EEEIE
approach. EEF o
Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
2 HTEH 2HTEH
FEE#E FEE#E
(BIEERE) (FERE) @st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAT FAT
At 1 January 2023 RNZEZ=F—HF—H 871,934 304,826 1,176,760
Changes relating to trade receivables A —Z — [N — f — B EERER
recognised as at 1 January 2024 Z SRR E
— Transfer to credit-impaired - EREEEHE (5,374) 5,374 -
— Net impairment loss reversed —BERESEFE (182,552) (268,444) (450,996)
New financial assets originated REFEED
during the year MEeREE 405,019 - 405,019
Transfer to credit-impaired AEEHEEEE
during the year A (8,580) 8,580 -
Exchange adjustments b 5 (37,652) (2,531) (40,183)
At 31 December 2023 “E-=F+-F=+—H 1,042,795 47,805 1,090,600
Changes relating to trade receivables Eéfzfmﬁ A—HEERER
recognised as at 1 January 2024 ZoRKREREBNE
— Transfer to credit-impaired -EBREEERE (6,189) 6,189 -
— Net impairment loss reversed —BERESEFE (622,426) (33,693) (656,119)
New financial assets originated REZEEN
during the year NEMEE 525,652 = 525,652
Transfer to credit-impaired REEEBEEEE
during the year RE (17,648) 17,648 -
Exchange adjustments B A AR (20,525) (876) (21,401)
At 31 December 2024 RZZB_MFE+_A=1+—H 901,659 37,073 938,732

—F

— T FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

The decrease (2023: decrease) of lifetime ECL for trade
receivables that are credit-impaired is mainly due to the
transfer from not credit-impaired trade receivable with a gross
carrying amount of HK$17,648,000 during the year (2023:
subsequent settlement in full of trade debtors with a gross
carrying amount of HK$8,580,000).

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate.

Bills receivables

In determining the ECL for bills receivables, the Directors have
considered the bills received by the Group with a maturity
period of less than one year are assessed on 12m ECL by
reference to the external credit rating of relevant banks,
and concluded that the credit risk inherent in the Group’s
outstanding bills receivables is insignificant as at 31 December
2024 and 2023.

Other receivables

In determining the ECL for other receivables, the Directors
have made periodic collective assessment as well as individual
assessment on the recoverability of other receivables, based
on historical settlement records, past experience, and
also forward-looking information, as appropriate. For the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group has
considered the consistently low historical default rate of other
receivables in connection with payments, and concluded
the ECL of the Group’s outstanding other receivables is
insignificant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Entrusted loans

The Group reviews the recoverable amount of entrusted loans
at the end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment assessment are made for irrecoverable amounts.
The entrusted loans are pledged by the properties held by
the borrowers. In this regard, the Directors consider that the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

At 31 December 2024, 100% (2023: 100%) of the Group’s
entrusted loans are arising from the PRC.

Loan receivable

The Directors estimate the estimated loss rates of loan
receivable based on financial background of the debtor.
During the year ended 2023, due to the defaults of the
borrower of the loan receivable in making payments of
interest and principal for its indebtedness, the Directors
considered there was a significant increase in credit risk in
the loan receivable to this borrower. The Group engaged
an independent qualified valuer to assist in the estimation
of the ECL provision on the loan receivable to this borrower
by determining an appropriate probability of default rate, the
estimated loss given default rate of each debt instrument and
forward-looking adjustments, which resulted in an impairment
loss of HK$893,907,000. During the year ended 2024,
without any further payments of interest and principal for its
indebtedness, the Directors considered there was a significant
increase in credit risk in the loan receivable to this borrower.
The Group engaged an independent qualified valuer to assist
in the estimation of the ECL provision on the loan receivable
to this borrower by determining an appropriate probability
of default rate, the estimated loss given default rate of each
debt instrument and forward-looking adjustments, which
considered the loan receivable is credit-impaired and resulted
in an impairment loss of HK$721,591,000.

BEHEEERRAA

€I A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Loan receivable (continued)

At 31 December 2024, the Group is exposed to concentration
of credit risk on its loan receivable as 100% (2023: 100%)
of the loan receivable is concentrated in one (2023: one)
debtor. The Group’s loan receivable is exposed to credit
risk due to the default of repayment by the debtor. As at 31
December 2024, the carrying amounts of the Group’s loan
receivable was HK$Nil (2023: HK$721,591,000). Based on
the assessment, the Group has recognised impairment loss
under expected credit loss model of HK$721,591,000 (2023:
HK$893,907,000) in profit or loss for the year ended 31
December 2024.

Restricted bank deposits and bank balances

The credit risk for restricted bank deposits and bank balances
exposed is considered minimal as such amounts are placed
with various banks with good credit ratings and there is no
significant concentration of credit risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Debt instruments at FVTOC/

At 31 December 2024, the Group is exposed to concentration
of credit risk on its debt instruments at FVTOCI as 100%
(2023: 100%) of the total debt are concentrated in four (2023:
four) bond securities listed on SGX and Irish Stock Exchange
and issued by two (2023: two) listed issuers in Hong Kong.
The Group’s listed bond securities are exposed to credit risk
due to the default of repayment by the bond issuers.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, defaults of a bond
issuer in making payments of interest and principal for its
indebtedness indicated significant increase in credit risk and
deterioration of repayment ability. Thus, credit loss allowance
of these debt instruments at FVTOCI issued by this issuer are
measured on lifetime ECL basis.

The Group engaged an independent qualified valuer to
perform ECL assessment on these debt instruments by
determining an appropriate probability of default, the estimated
loss given default of each debt instrument and forward-
looking adjustments. The Directors work closely with the
independent qualified valuer to establish the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs to the model.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Debt instruments at FVTOCI (continued)

Since the year ended 31 December 2024, ECL on debt
instruments at FVTOCI of HK$702,158,000 (2023:
HK$2,283,000) was recognised in profit or loss thereafter.

For the remaining debt instruments at FVTOCI issued by
other bonds issuers, the Directors considered that the credit
risk on these investments is limited as these bonds securities
listed on Irish Stock Exchange were issued by issuers in Hong
Kong with good creditability. The Directors assess ECL on
these debt instruments at FVTOCI based on the default rates
published by major international credit rating agencies that are
applicable to the respective debts instruments credit grades.
As a result of this assessment, the Directors are of the opinion
that the ECL on these debt instruments is insignificant.

Other items

As at 31 December 2024, other than those financial assets
whose carrying amounts best represent the maximum
exposure to credit risk, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group arising
from the amount of financial guarantees provided by the
Group is disclosed in Note 37.

For financial guarantee contracts, the maximum amount that
the Group has guaranteed under the respective contracts was
HK$10,147,000 (2023: HK$322,266,000) as at 31 December
2024. At the end of the reporting period, the Directors have
performed impairment assessment, and concluded that there
has been no significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition of the financial guarantee contracts. Accordingly,
the loss allowance for financial guarantee contracts issued by
the Group is measured at an amount equal to 12m ECL. The
management considers the probability of default is low and
accordingly, ECL was considered as insignificant. Details of
the financial guarantee contracts are set out in Note 37.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The Directors monitor the utilisation of bank borrowings
and ensure compliance with loan covenants during the year.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant source
of liquidity. At 31 December 2024, the Group has available
unutilised bank borrowings facilities of HK$13,707,338,000
(2023: HK$14,608,037,000).

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay. The maturity dates for other
non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curve at the
end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 35. €M T B

(b) Financial risk management objectives and b) HEEREEEERKE
policies (continued) (%8)
Liquidity risk (continued) REESRR(E)
Liquidity and interest risk tables TEENE 2 ]G R K & e 7
Over Over Over
Weighted 3 months 1year 2years
average  On demand but not but not but not Total
effective orlessthan  morethan  morethan  more than Over undiscounted  Carrying
interestrate 3 months 1 year 2years 5years Syears  cash flows amount
SERRE  -ERE RENLE L)
g  &EXY {5 {85 &5 RehE
EBAE  CERm  BA-F  RERE  BBIF  HBEE ] REE
%  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$'000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS$'000
ThR TERL TR TERL TR TEn TR
At31 December 2024 RZRZmETZA=T-8
Non-derivative financial liabilties 344 RE(RE
Trade and other payables AREMERE - 4300074 - - - - 4300074 4309074
Blls payables ENZE - 628,069 - - - - 628,069 626,069
Bank borrowings B8
- fied rate -HE 213 284414 3068449 - - - 3352863 3,269,360
- variable rate -H8 489 897383 5166805 30838195  9.211,707 1,761,765 20,875945 18,406,739
Lease abies HE&R 465 1,059 3331 2899 7462 4017 18768 16,180
6,209999 8238675 3841004 9219169 1765762 20274719 26,739,422
Financial quarantee contracts EBERAD 10,147 - - - - 10,147 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

35. TRIT A )

b
J
at
@
52
el

Financial risk management objectives and b) HEEREEEERKE
policies (continued) (%8)
Liquidity risk (continued) REESRR(E)
Liquidity and interest risk tables (continued) TRENE D IR E R ()
Qver QOver QOver
Weighted 3 months Tyear 2 years
average  On demand but not but not but not Total
effectie  orlessthen  morethan  morethan  more than Over  undiscounted Camjing
interestrate 3 months 1 year 2 years 5years Syears  cash flows amount
ZEANE -ENE RENE FHE
mEY BB g% B {ax Reig
ERAE  ZEAn @BE-F  BERE  BRRE BAIRE 4% GEE
% HK$000  HKS000 HKS000  HKS000  HK§000 HKS 1000 HKS'000
Thn Thn Thn T Thn Thn Thn
At 31 December 2023 RZB-=E+-R=1-H
Non-derivative financial liabilities 3£+ 4RERE
Trade and other payables B ARAERER - 4184751 - - - - LIBTAT 41845
Blls payables ENZE - 661,797 - - - - 661,797 661,797
Bank borrowings B8
- fived rate -EE 0.89 595,630 - - - - 595,630 504,308
- Varigble rate -%8 539 apM5  T418855 7196469 9391553 906,199 25208491 2238315
Lease labiltes HE&E 44 104 2,099 1205 ¥ 1078 5,440 5011
5808617 742094 7167674 9391592 97272 30,746,100 27,774,242
Financial quarantee contracts EBERAD 322,266 - - - - 36 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 35. €M T B

(c)  Fair value measurements of financial instruments (c)
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis
Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. The following table
gives information about how the fair values of these financial
assets are determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s)
and inputs used), as well as the level of the fair value hierarchy
into which the fair value measurements are categorised (Levels
1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair
value measurements is observable.

Fair value Valuation techniques

ERMITANAFEFE
RESEHEERAVETEZ
FEEERMEEZAVE
AEEFDEHEENSHEH
BEREHRAFERE - TK
RiEHEEZSTeREERT
B2 E(LERAAZ MER
M7 R i N BUR) WA R AR FAERT
ERABEBZABEREESAF
B ED B2 A FEZEHRET
(B—E=R)ZEH -

Relationship of
Significant unobservable
unobservable  inputs to

Financial assets Fair value as at 31 December  hierarchy and key inputs inputs fair value
RTZA=t-Rf AYERE  HERER EXTAHE TURRBARE
SHEE VR RAl ITRARE BAHE HATENEE
2024 2023
—E2-mE “Eocf
HK$000 HK$'000
TER TEn
) Listed equity securities classffied 8,625,009 1,124,756 1 Quoted bid prices in N/A N/A
as equity instruments at FVTPL active market
(| PEARNTEN)\BaER WEBTRMRIEAER NER NER
TE7 FiRAES
(i) Listed bond securities classffied 705,341 861,970 2 Quoted prices in the over-the-counter market ~ N/A N/A
as debt instruments at FVTOCI
i ARARATEIALBZER WG TS i TR i
BNEBIAL fhE5ES
(ii) - Financial asset at fair value 11,720 -2 Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows are N/A N/A
through profit or loss estimated based on forward exchange
rates (from observable forward exchange
rates at the end of the reporting period)
and contract forward rates, discounted at
arate that reflects the credit risk of various
counterparties.
i) ZAVESNEEZEHEE BERRERE - ARFERENRERHER TR NER

(REBSHROTEREREL ) RAY
BEEXE TRRMERAHTER

BT EES -

There were no transfer between Level 1 and 2 during the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of other
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised
cost approximate to their fair values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

36. CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS

BEHEERRAA

36. EARKHEE

2024 2023
—E-ME o=
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FA&T
Capital expenditure contracted for but not FEETAVERINERE B SRR
provided in the consolidated financial ERBHE 2 EART S ¢
statements in respect of:
- acquisition of property, plant and —EEME - BELRE
equipment 1,210,058 1,126,342
Other expenditure contracted for but not FEETAVERIN RS B SRR
provided in the consolidated financial ERBHE 2z A
statements in respect of:
- acquisition and other expenditures relating —BRAFEEYEIWER
to properties held for development HEmAx 589,856 334,360
1,799,914 1,460,702

37. FINANCIAL GUARANTEES
CONTRACTS

The Group provided guarantees amounting to HK$10,147,000 (2023:
HK$322,266,000) as at 31 December 2024 to facilitate mortgage
bank loans applications of purchasers of the properties that were
developed by the Group.

The guarantees are given to banks with respect to loans procured by
the purchasers of properties that were developed by the Group. Such
guarantees will be released by banks upon delivery of the properties
to the purchasers and completion of registration of the relevant
mortgage properties. In the opinion of the Directors, the fair values
of these financial guarantee contracts of the Group are insignificant
at initial recognition and the Directors consider that the possibility of
default of the parties involved is remote. Accordingly, no value has
been recognised at the inception of the guarantee contracts and at
the end of the reporting period as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

37. TREREN
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38.

PR aR MY

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

On 3 August 2011, Annuity & Re Life Ltd (the “Petitioner”), the non-
controlling shareholder of Kingboard Copper Foil Holdings Limited
(“KBCF”), presented a petition in the Supreme Court of Bermuda
(the “Petition”) in respect of KBCF against its controlling shareholders
based on a complaint that the affairs of KBCF had been and/or
were being conducted in a manner which was oppressive or unfairly
prejudicial to the Petitioner.

The controlling shareholders of KBCF were eventually successful in
defending the case following a favourable judgement by the Bermuda
Court of Appeal dated 24 March 2017, Subsequently, the Petitioner
filed an appeal with the Privy Council. Such appeal was withdrawn
by the Petitioner following a settlement agreement reached by the
Petitioner and the respondents in the Petition.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the controlling
shareholders of KBCF had purchased all of the remaining issued and
outstanding ordinary shares in the capital of KBCF and KBCF has
become a wholly-owned subsidiary of the KLHL.

On 22 October 2018, the Petitioner commenced an action in the
Supreme Court of Bermuda under Civil Jurisdiction 2018: No. 359
against the respondents in the Petition based on purported breach of
the settlement agreement (the “Settlement Action”).

On 22 October 2020, the Group filed an application for striking out
part of the Petitioner’s claim under the Settlement Action (the “Strike-
Out Application”). The Strike Out Application was unsuccessful and
the substantive proceedings in the Settlement Action are continuing.

The trial was originally listed for a five-day hearing from 16 January
to 20 January 2023. On 7 December 2022, the Petitioner made
an application for a Letter of Request to be issued by the Supreme
Court of Bermuda and addressed to the Supreme Court of Singapore
(the “Singapore Letter of Request”) for its assistance in the ordering
against two Singapore brokers for production of certain documents
in their possession, and for adjournment of the trial in the Settlement
Action for a period at least two months. Further to a hearing on 14
December 2022, the issue of the Singapore Letter of Request and the
adjournment were ordered by the Court. Despite the adjournment,
expert reports were exchanged on 16 November 2022, and a joint
expert report has been filed on or around 22 December 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

38. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)

On 27 July 2023, the Petitioner made another application for a Letter
of Request to be issued by the Supreme Court of Bermuda and
addressed to the High Court of Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the PRC (the “Hong Kong Letter of Request”) for its
assistance in ordering a bank in Hong Kong for production of certain
documents in their possession. Further to a hearing on 24 August
2023, the issue of the Hong Kong Letter of Request was ordered by

the Court on 7 September 2023.

On 18 September 2023, the Petitioner filled a Notice to Admit Facts
requiring the Group to admit several facts related to and/or referred to
in the evidence in supporting of the Hong Kong Letter of Request. On
28 September 2023, the Group filed a Notice of Non-Admission. The

trial of this matter is to be relisted.

On 27 June 2024, the Petitioner made a further application for a
Letter of Request to be issued by the Supreme Court of Bermuda and
addressed to the High Court of Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the PRC (the “Second Hong Kong Letter of Request”) for its
assistance in ordering a bank in Hong Kong for production of certain
documents in their possession. Further to a hearing on 8 August
2024, the issue of the second Hong Kong Letter of Request was

ordered by the Court.

On 5 February 2025, the Petitioner made another application for a
Letter of Request to be issued by the Supreme Court of Bermuda and
addressed to the High Court of Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the PRC (the “Third Hong Kong Letter of Request”) for its
assistance in ordering the bank in Hong Kong for production of further
details in their possession. As of the date of this annual report, the
Court has not yet ordered the issue of the Third Hong Kong Letter of

Request.

The trial of this matter is listed for 23 to 26 June and 30 June 2025.

Based on the advice of the Company’s Bermuda Counsel to date,
the Board is of the opinion that the Settlement Action appears to be
intrinsically defective and that the Company should have a more than
reasonable chance to succeed. Accordingly, no provision for liability

has been made in connection with the claim.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

39. OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS  39. K&HEZHE

2024 2023
—E-ME o=
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT FET
The Group as lessor: AEEERHEA :
Rental income credited to the consolidated REANFAGFEBTmRZ
statement of profit or loss during the year HE WA 1,457,030 1,470,460
The Group’s investment properties are rented to third parties for REB R EYEALEREET 2 TE
periods up to thirty years (2023: thirty years) at fixed pre-determined BeHETE=H  HEBESEEAEA=TF
amounts. (ZZZ=F : =1%) -
Undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases are as follows: BETEENEUAMIRBEENTET
2024 2023
—E O =4
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT T
Within one year —F R 982,827 1,089,273
In the second year WE—F 739,338 810,928
In the third year NE= 618,288 655,312
In the fourth year REIIF 536,658 568,410
In the fifth year RERF 514,545 467,468
After five years AFE 2,962,482 2,758,590
6,354,138 6,349,981
40. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 40. BEER
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has the following assets MR REH - AEE T HEE
pledged to banks to secure the banking facilities of the Group: EEWMTIRIT  EARNEBETREY
R
2024 2023
—E-E o=
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FET
Investment properties LAY 4,056,844 1,848,899
Properties held for development FREME 2,609,584 2,259,253
6,666,428 4,108,152
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41.

PR aR M

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group participates in both a defined contribution scheme which
is registered under the Occupational Retirement Schemes Ordinance
(the “ORSO Scheme”) and a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
established under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
in December 2000 (the “MPF Scheme”). The assets of the schemes
are held separately from those of the Group and are invested in the
funds under the control of trustees. Employees who were members of
the ORSO Scheme prior to the establishment of the MPF Scheme are
members of both the ORSO Scheme and the MPF Scheme, whereas
all new employees joining the Group on or after December 2000 are
required to join the MPF Scheme. The ORSO Scheme was funded by
monthly contributions from both employees and the Group at 10% of
an employee’s salary. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its
employees and each required to make contributions to the scheme
at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000 (2023: HK$30,000).

Employees of subsidiaries in the PRC are members of the state-
sponsored pension schemes operated by the PRC government. The
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payrolls to the retirement benefit schemes to fund the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
scheme is to make the required contributions.

Payments to the ORSO Scheme, the MPF Scheme and the
state-sponsored pension schemes of HK$249,560,000 (2023:
HK$247,354,000) had been charged to profit or loss. As at
31 December 2024, contributions of HK$15,413,000 (2023:
HK$15,413,000) due in respect of the reporting period had not been
paid to the plans. The amounts were paid subsequently to the end of
reporting period. There is no forfeited contributions that may be need
to reduce the existing level of contributions under the Group’s ORSO
Scheme, MPF Scheme and state-sponsored pension schemes.

M.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

42. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES 42. MMEERBELEZERZ
ARISING FROM FINANCING AR
ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from TERFNACSERETDELE L, BEY
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. 3 BRESNFFRSEEY - RMETY
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash EEZABEERERECDH » HRKHR
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s EREBHNARENGERSRERD
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing BRARELDMERERENARE -
activities.
Lease Bank Interest Dividends
liabilities borrowings payable payable Total
HEaE RITHEE EFFE ERRE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AL TAL TEL T TAL
At 1 January 2023 RZE-=F—-HF—H 9,189 19,747,162 17,810 455,422 20,229,583
Financing cash flows REHETRE (4,453) 3,201,611 (1,110,903) (1,452,393) 633,862
New leases entered HMAHE 34 - - - 34
Interest expenses recognised PNRABRREIN
in the consolidated statement FEEL
of profit or loss 329 - 1,124,134 - 1,124,463
Interest expense capitalised BRI BT - - 24,705 - 24,705
Dividend declared on ordinary shares 25 R EERR S - - - 1,662,719 1,562,719
Dividend declared to non-controlling 2 [&)H B A & 2 SFEARAR R
shareholders of subsidiaries BERZRE - - - 214,859 214,859
Exchange adjustments A% (88) (26,000) - - (26,178)
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=F+-A=+—H 5,011 22,922,683 55,746 780,607 23,764,047
Financing cash flows BERERE (@,217) (1,178,939) (1,116,849) (1,261,468) (3,561,473)
New leases entered HEHE 15,653 - - - 15,653
Interest expenses recognised NRABREREDN
in the consolidated statement FEFEY
of profit or loss 491 - 1,149,935 - 1,150,426
Interest expense capitalised BRI ERS - - 34,068 - 34,068
Dividend declared on ordinary shares B8k Z IR E - - - 842,317 842,317
Dividend declared to non-controling 2 EIfi B A 7 2 3EERARE
shareholders of subsidiaries BEkZIE - - - 180,111 180,111
Exchange adjustments I 5 2% (758) (47,645) - - (48,403)
At 31 December 2024 RZEZME+-A=+—H 16,180 21,696,099 122,900 541,567 22,376,746
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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43.

PR aR M

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group entered into the following significant

BEHEERRAH

43. BEALIRS

BiRa MR E MO TREESN
REBRFREFB T ZATERR

transactions with related parties during the year. 5 e
2024 2023
—E-E T
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET TET
Sales of goods to subsidiaries of a shareholder [RI¥f A& B B & K2 HH
with significant influence on the Group R BT AR HE S M 421,333 455,085
Purchase of goods from subsidiaries of a MEAEEAESKEE N
shareholder with significant influence RERME R RREE D
on the Group 935,508 928,238
Sales of goods to a non-controlling ) — AP B A R 2 FEFEAR AR 3R
shareholder of a subsidiary HEEM 20,429 24,590
Purchase of goods from an associate A—EEE R RHEEER 256,596 260,066
The transaction above constituted continuing connected transaction BIE FHHEBE14AE - P X 5B
of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. NATIHRER S
Included in trade and other receivables and prepayments at R-ZE-_NE+—_A=+—H 85K
31 December 2024 was an amount due from a non-controlling HiEWERLBNREBIERE )5/\””

shareholder of a subsidiary of HK$5,862,000 (2023: HK$6,332,000)
which was in trade nature. The Group allowed credit periods of up
to 120 days (2023: 120 days), depending on the products sold to its
related parties.

Included in trade and other receivable as at 31 December 2024
was an amount due to an associate of HK$5,481,000 (2023:
HK$6,148,000) which are trade-nature. Included in trade and other
payables as at 31 December 2024, was an amount due to a joint
venture of HK$129,219,000 (2023: HK$137,500,000) which are non-
trade-nature. Both amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and
repayable on demand.

SHEE 2 EKR—EK B AR Z3EER

BR R IESBGZOOO/ETE(_?_fi
6,332,000 7T ) © AN E M HBEA T
REZEEHEEA120B8(ZE ==
F :1208) - RTAEEZERME °

R-ZE-_MFE+—_A=+—H B5K

@FMQE%JX@%J%E@%Z%HEZ%M&
—F'EJHS%%’/} FRIES5,481 ooo;‘ar_c(*"
—=%F: 6148000,%7z) = Sl
F+-—A=1+—8 EHREMEMNE
FEEBRIEESHE 2 EN—THAE
¥ FKIE129,219,0008 T (T - =
£ : 137,500,000/ 7T ) ° #%PTA RIEY
AEEE  THHEREBIREREE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

PR aR MY

43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

44.

(continued)

Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of Directors and other members of key

43.

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

BEALTRS

TEEEAEME
N BEREMEEERABZMSE

management during the year was as follows: s
2024 2023
—EE T
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FAT
Short-term employee benefits EHEB RN 191,417 192,508
Post-employment benefits RINERET] 1,763 1,648
Share-based payments & AT R - 59,354
193,180 258,510

The remuneration of Directors and key executives is determined by
the remuneration committee having regard to the performance of
individuals and market trends.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

General information of subsidiaries
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31
December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

(@

44,

Place of
incorporation/
registration Issued and fully paid
Name of subsidiary and operation share capital/ registered capital
L/ BE
WEARZR BEREEHY HERA/2MER
2024 2023
“ECME gt 2
Jamplan (BVI) Limited BVl US$1,000 US$1,000
RERNES 1,000%7 1000£T
Kinghoard (Fogang) Laminates Co. Limited ~ PRC! US$29,466,000 1S529,466,000
B () BERERAA e 29,466,000£7 29,466,000

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

EERIBTBRABZHMEEHMEER
SERMEMNETIRANTSBERE

.
iE °

AAAEENBLAALZ

w17

(@)

MR D R —RER

RZZEZNFER T -_=F+=

A=t+—8 -

AREEEMER

T EEMT -

Effective equity interest

held by the Group
AEEREZ
ERiE

2024 2023
ZECRE CECCF
% %
100 100*
73.76 73.76

Principal activities

IEER

Investment holding

REAR

Manufacture and distribution
of laminates

RERD HEAER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

44.

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

(@

Name of subsidiary

HEARER

Kingboard (Fogang) Paper Laminates Co. Ltd.

B () BEARARAR

Hebei Kingboard Energy
Development Company Limited
AR RERARAA

(Golden Concept Development Limfted
(‘Golden Concept’)
IR RRERAA ([88])

Two London Wall Place Limited

Kingboard (Hengyang) Industrial Co., Ltd.
B (1) E2ARAR

Kingboard (Guangdong) Electronic Special
Materials Co. Ltd
BE(BR) ETERIHARLR

KBCF
BEEE

Kingboard Investments Limited

BRREERAT

KLHL
RERERERARAR

Kingboard Laminates (Jiangmen) Co, Ltd.
/I L/El T&EE

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and operation
AL/
BEREXNE

PRC'
A

PRC!
e

Hong Kong

Jersey Island
RS
PRC!

e

PRC'
A

Bermuda *
BEE

Hong Kong *

CGayman Islands *

RERE

PRC'
R

General information of subsidiaries (continued)

Issued and fully paid
share capital/ registered capital

BEIR

HRRA/HRER
2024 2023
—E-mE 2
US$17,936,576 US$17,936,576
17,936,576 570 17936 57657
RMB620,000,000 RMB520,000,000
AR%620,000000%  AK620,000,0007C
HK$10,000 HK$10,000
10,0007 10,0087
(GBP36,567,021 (GBP36,5687,021
36,587,021 %4 36,587,021 K5
HK$308,000,000 HK$214,000,000
308,000,000/ 21400000077
US$13,700,000 US$13,700,000
13,700,000 7 13,700,000%7%
US$72,250,000 US$72,250,000
72,250,000 7 72,250 00057
HK$8,000 HK$8,000
8,007 800057
HK$312,000,000 HK$312,000,000
312,000,000 7 312,000,000
HK$242,800,000 HK$242,800,000
242,800,000 242,800,00077C

EEHEEERAA

72
==

T

7 EMBELR 2

@@ HEIAN-—RERE

Effective equity interest

held by the Group
AEEREZ
ERhRE
2024 2023
SEoRE CECCE
% %
73.76 7376
100 100
85 85
100 100
100 100
73.76 7376
73.76 73.76
100 100
73.76 73.76
73.76 7376

Principal activities

IEER

Manufacture and distribution
of laminates

SERAHERER

Manufacture and distribution
of chemicals

RERN I TER

Property developments

nERY

Property investments

UES &

Manufacture and distribution
of caustic soda

RERD PR

Manufacture and distribution
of glass fabric

RELD HRRLE

Investment holding

RERR

Investment holding

REZR

Investment holding
&k

Manufacture and distribution
of laminates

SERNHBRER

—F

— T FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R I IRARMIEE

44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

44.

Issued and fully paid
share capital/ registered capital

(@ General information of subsidiaries (continued)
Place of
incorporation/
registration

Name of subsidiary and operation
AV
i kL BRRERNE
Kingboard (Jiangsu) Chemical Co., Ltd. PRC!
B (%) (L LERAR hE
Kingboard Laminates (Kunshan Co., Ltd PRC!
REEER (RL) ERAR D
Qing Yuan Kai Rong De Electronic Specid ~ PRC!
Materias Co., Ltd G
FRIFEZTERMHARAA
Kai Rong De (Shaoguan) Glass Fiber. CoLtd ~ PRC'
5442 (08) RREAERDT hE
Qing Yuan Chung Shun Century Electronic ~ PRC'
Materials Co., Ltd e
FESREESTHHARLY
Kaiping Elec & Eftek Company Limited PRC?
RTGNZEETARLA e
Kaiping Elec & Eltek No. 3 Company Limited ~ PRC?
RRNREEFE=ARAT el
Kaiping Elec & Eftek No. 5 Company Limited ~ PRC?
RTGNZEEFEIARAT L
Glory Faith Electronics (Suzhou) Co., Lid. PRC!
AEST (BM) BRAT hE

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

BRIR

HRRA/FHRER
2024 2003
“ECME “3ICE
S$32,000,000 US$32,000,000
32,000000£7 3200000047
US$32,010,000 US$32,010,000
32,010000£7 2010000£7
RMB130,000,000  RVB130,000,000
AR130000000  AR130000,000
RMB142000000  RVB142,000,000
ARE142000000  AE142000000
US$72,319,600 US$72,319,600
231960047 72319.600£7
US$55,570,000 US$55,570,000
55,5T0000%7 55570,000£7
US$87,800,000 US$67,800,000
§7,800000£7 87800000£7
US$61,750,000 US$61,750,000
61,750000£7 61,750,000£7
US$39,180,000 US$39,180,000
39,180000%7 39,180000£7

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

EARMEBHMAT

T

(@ HEIAN-—RERE

Effective equity interest

held by the Group Principal activities
AEEREL
ERRE ITER
2024 2023
SEoRE CECCE
% %
73.76 73.76  Manufacture and distribution
of chemicals
HERAELIER
73.76 7376 Manufacture and distribution
of laminates
HERAERIER
73.76 7376 Manufacturing and distrioution
of glass fabric
SEXRAHIELSEN
73.76 7376 Manufacturing and distrioution
of glass fabric
HEERAHREALD
73.76 7376 Manufacturing and distrioution
of glass yam
HEERAHRBLES
9% 9 Manufacture and distribution
of PCBs
SERARERIRER
9% 9% Manufacture and distribution
of PCBs
SERARERISER
9 9% Manufacture and distribution
of PCBs
SERARERIRHER
100 100 Manufacturing and distrioution
of PCBs
SERARERIFER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

(@

Name of subsidiary

HEARER

Kin Yip Technology Electronics
(Huizhou) Co., Ltd
BERHET (BN ARAT

Huizhou Chung Shun Chemical
Company Limited
BMSERTARAA

Shi You Chemical (Yangzhou) Co., Ltd

ERILT M) BRAR

Kingboard Electronic Raw Material
(Jiang Yin) Co., Ltd
RESTHH (IB) BRAR

Kingboard (Guangzhou) Advanced
Materials Co., Ltd

B (M) ETIREEERAA

Fogang Kingboard Industry Ltd.
EREEEZARAA

Kingboard (Lianzhou) Copper Foil Limited

BE(ENHEERAR

Strong East (Lianzhou) Copper Fol Limited

R (2H) BARRAR

Kingboard (Fogang) Special Resin Co., Ltd.

B () SEEEARAR

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and operation
AL/
BERESHE

PRC!
o

PRC'
A

PRC'
"R

PRCT
o

PRC'
A

PRC'
"R

PRC!
o

PRC'
A

PRC'
AR

General information of subsidiaries (continued)

44.

Issued and fully paid
share capital/ registered capital

BER

HRRA/FHRER
202 2023
- 13 “3-cF
HK$460,000,000 HK$460,000,000
460,000,000 7 460,000,000 T
1S$40,290,000 1S$40,290,000
40,290,000£ 7 402900007
US$134,117,000 US$134,117,000
134,117,000 7 184,117, 000%7
1S$30,000,000 1S$30,000,000
30,000,000 7 300000007
RMB250,000,000 RMB250,000,000
AR%250,000000  AE250,000,000
RMB878,100,000 RMB878,100,000
AR#878,100000  ARH878,100,000
1S$64,000,000 1S$64,000,000
64,000,000 7 64,000 00057
1S$58,380,000 S$58,880,000
58,880,000£ 7 58880000
1S$7,000,000 US$7,000,000
7,000,00057 700000057

72
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T

EEHEEERAA

7 EMBELR 2

@@ HEIAN-—RERE

Effective equity interest

held by the Group
AEEREL
ERRE
2024 2023
SEoRE CECCE
% %
100 100
100 100
100 100
73.76 7376
73.76 7376
73.76 7376
73.76 7376
73.76 7376
73.76 7376

Principal activities

IEER

Manufacturing and distribution
of PCBs
SERA HIRIRER

Manufacture and distribution
of phenol/acetone
BERSHAR/ AR

Refining and distribution of
chemicals

RREAHILIER

Manufacture and distribution
of laminates

ERAHERER

Manufacture and distribution
of chemicals

HERNHILIER

Manufacture and distribution of
electronic Special materials

HERAHETERMH

Manufacture and distribution of
electronic special materials
HERAHETERMH

Manufacture and distribution of
glectronic special materials

YERAEETERIN
Manufacture and distribution of

specialty resins

RELD HEERE

—E - NFEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R I IRARMIEE

44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

44.

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

(@ General information of subsidiaries (continued)
Place of
incorporation/
registration Issued and fully paid
Name of subsidiary and operation share capital/ registered capital
AL/ BEAR
WEAREE BERESHE HERE/HEHER
2024 2023
1 CEIZE
Chung Shun (Qing Yuan) Photovoltaic PRC! US$24,000,000 1S$24,000,000
Material Technology Co., Ltd. e 24,000,000%70 24,000,000%7
BEER) R HRAERAR
* The Company directly holds the equity interest in Jamplan (BVI)

Limited. The Company’s equity interest in all other subsidiaries is

held indirectly through Jamplan (BVI) Limited.

# These are investment holding companies which have no specific

principal place of operations.

a This company is listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

1 These companies were established in the PRC in the form of
Wholly Foreign-owned Enterprises. The English names of these

companies are for identification purpose only.

2 These companies were established in the PRC in the form of
Sino-Foreign Equity Joint Venture. The English names of these

companies are for identification purpose only.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results
or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of

excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the

end of the year.
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7 EMBELTZ

FiE 2 R —RER ()

Effective equity interest

held by the Group Principal activities
AEEREL
ERRE IEEH
2024 2023
SEoRE CECCE
% %
73.76 73.76  Manufacture and distrioution of
specialty resing
HERAERERE
* A RIEERFAJamplan (BVI)
Limited Z fx & o &R QX EIRAPT
B EH A B A F 2 RIEE
3@Jamplan (BVI) Limited i
H -
# I ERREZERDT - W&
e RIS LME -
s NN RIRIEAIFAEAR £ e
1 ZERAAIINEEE DX
ARAFBIKY - ZFRAH
R ZTEEMHER -
2 ZENBAFINEERAR
PRI © 2% A E R
BIBEHRZR -

RPN AESRATEFER
SEEENEECAR 7Mﬂ§’_\
Al e é%u VARSI H M E A
ZHBEBNTE -

EMBA RN FEREEEITE
B E 2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I IRARMIEE

44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

(@ General information of subsidiaries (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other
subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. The principal

activities of these subsidiaries are summarised as follows:

44.

BEHEERRAA

LADEEHMADZ
HtE

@ MEBARAN—RERE)
RBEMEERER - ARAHE
BHAEETERNOEMKTER
A - ZEMBRRZ E2EBH
T

Number of subsidiaries

MEAREA
Principal activities Principal place of business 2024 2023
FEEWR FEEEME —E-mE —E-=F
Manufacture and sale of laminates PRC 33 33
Bl N IHE B E R A EY
Macau 1 1
JERPY
Thailand 1 1
=E
35 35
Manufacture and sale of PCBs Hong Kong 4 4
B3 T $H 6 ENRIAR BR AR e
PRC 15 15
H
Macau 2 2
JBRPT
Thailand 2 1
R
Vietnam 1 -
0
24 22
Manufacture and sale of chemicals PRC 21 20
BE RIS TER H
Properties Hong Kong 18 18
S BB
PRC 52 52
H
United Kingdom 6 6
ES
76 76
156 153

—E - NFEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

44. %

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that b)) HEEERFEREZZIHF
have material non-controlling interests 2EREHMB LTS
The table below shows details of non-wholly owned TEEHTHEE A IR ER Y
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling REFEF2EWBRRFES
interests:

Proportion of ownership
Place of incorporation interests and voting
and principal rights held by non- Profit (loss) allocated to Accumulated non-
Name of subsidiary place of business controlling interests non-controlling interests controlling interests
FERERGERRERER ARIFEREE
HEARER EMAIREEEEME REBEAL p=zilll 7)) RatFEREs
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
SECME  —Ro-F ZECME “TC-F ZBoNE CECCE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL THT TERL TET
KLHL# Cayman Islands 26.24% 26.24% 347,968 238102 4,025853 3923204
BERER HEHE
Golden Concept Hong Kong 15% 15% 68,812 2,052 532,770 463,160
ge ik
Individually immaterial subsidiaries with non-controlling interests 56,222 40,977 355,850 306,897
BEFARER BUTEANBAR
473,002 281,131 4914473 4,693,261
# excluding non-controlling interests of KLHL subsidiaries. #

ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBERRME
44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 44, QD jfgﬁﬁg’_\ Az
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY F15 =
(continued)
(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that b) BEEEXRFERERZHE
have material non-controlling interests (continued) 2EEEHMBARFE®)
KLHL and subsidiaries EEHBERRRKE AR
2024 2023
—E-E —EC-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Current assets TREVAE 13,799,534 13,816,935
Non-current assets SERBEE 9,310,596 9,745,949
Current liabilities REBE 5,763,418 5,595,311
Non-current liabilities JEmBAE 1,976,823 2,992,336
Equity attributable to owners of PANNSIEC S PN
the Company Wz 11,316,574 11,028,031
Non-controlling interests of KLHL EHEEERFEE M S 4,025,853 3,923,204
Non-controlling interests of KLHL's BEEERAMB AT
subsidiaries FEFE AR RE S 27,462 24,002
Revenue mEEE 18,541,025 16,750,248
Cost of sales, expenses, other gains and SHERA - AX - ElEk
losses E5iE 17,210,896 15,841,604
Profit for the year IR s A 1,330,129 908,644

—E - NFEFR
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44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

44, 1 EELATZ
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(o) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that (b)

have material non-controlling interests (continued)
KLHL and subsidiaries (continued)

BEREAFERERZF
2EREMBLRFEE)
BEEEERKHMELR(E)

2024 2023
—EC-NE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FET
Profit attributable to owners of the Company AREIENEERT 978,128 669,300
Profit attributable to the non-controlling interests ~ #E1&E1R
of KLHL IR R R 347,968 238,102
Profit attributable to the non-controlling interests ~ EERE BRI B A B
of KLHL's subsidiaries R R A 4,033 1,242
Profit for the year AE T 1,330,129 908,644
Other comprehensive expense attributable to ARERFAEAEEEMZEAY
owners of the Company (183,296) (178,949)
Other comprehensive expense attributable to the  EETEBIRIHEAER EIE £ %
non-controlling interests of KLHL [El5a (65,208) (63,660)
Other comprehensive expense attributable to the 33578 AR B A RIFEEAk 2 E
non-controlling interests of KLHL's subsidiaries IFEMEERAY (573) (339)
Other comprehensive expense for the year AEEEMEERY (249,077) (242,948)
Total comprehensive income attributable to AAFEBAEEEERREE
owners of the Company 794,832 490,351
Total comprehensive income attributable to the BERERMITERERE
non-controlling interests of KLHL FHENEEE 282,760 174,442
Total comprehensive income attributable to the BERBERME A M IEER
non-controlling interests of KLHL's subsidiaries R EEEENES LR 3,460 903
Total comprehensive income for the year AFEE2ANELTE 1,081,052 665,696
Net cash inflow from operating activities EESEEIE SR AR 2,708,088 823,721
Net cash outflow from investing activities REEHRERHFE (809,929) (739,325)
Net cash outflow from financing activities REEBHRSRHFE (1,927,536) (1,320,734)
Net cash outflow Be it FE (29,377) (1,236,338)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

44.

T

72
==

7 ENBATZ

(continued)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that b) EEERFEREZZIKE
have material non-controlling interests (continued) 2EREHBATFHEE)
Golden Concept fl&

2024 2023
—EN4E =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Current assets TREVAE 191,843 2,916,548
Non-current assets SEMENEE 2,895,001 -
Current liabilities mENAE 1,510,824 1,801,595
Equity attributable to owners of AAREE AR
the Company Em 1,339,617 947,710
Non-controlling interests FEIZERRAE 2 236,403 167,243
Revenue R 333,829 52,683
(Income) expenses, other gains and losses (YA )BAsT ~ E Uz M &8 (124,918) 39,006
Profit for the year AREE T 458,747 13,677
Profit and total comprehensive income KAEHEE ANERRF R
attributable to owners of the Company HEREELEE 389,935 11,625
Profit and total comprehensive income VIR 2R PG ) f2
attributable to the non-controlling interests 2 Utz5 4258 68,812 2,052
Profit and total comprehensive income for ARG E R F| M 2 E UG A5
the year 458,747 13,677
Net cash inflow from operating activities L TRENIR B AT ER 91,808 173,685
Net cash inflow (outflow) from investing wEFESHRESMACKD)
activities FEE 2,972 (1,180)
Net cash outflow from financing activities gt & /EENIR & 7 F58 (128,691) (152,979)
Net cash (outflow) inflow Be (Rt mAFRE (38,911) 19,526

— T FFR



@ KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R I IRARMIEE

45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 45, AAQA T Z BB R B £
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY E e

2024 2023
—EN4E —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET

Non-current assets EREBNEE
Investments in subsidiaries KRB RRZKRE 2,171,413 1,880,215
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUB B AT RIA 22,194,304 21,593,501
Equity instruments at FVTPL BATEGFABENER TR 390,173 465,915
24,755,890 23,939,631

Current assets MEEE
Other receivables HAb R 107,014 107,041
Amounts due from subsidiaries i NG B/ 12,950,000 12,350,000
Equity instruments at FVTPL BATEFAEZEOER TR 1,343,481 1,303,542
Cash and cash equivalents Be& MRS EEER 22,798 150,181
14,423,293 13,910,764
Current liabilities mENEE

Other payables H b e 50 1,278,666 1,255,487
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERIHTB A RFIA 7,886,950 8,650,000
Bank borrowings — amount due within one year — $R{T{5 & — — R F|Hi 2 2018 196,096 200,000
9,361,712 10,105,487
Net current assets MENEEFE 5,061,581 3,805,277
Total assets less current liabilities EERERTBEE 29,817,471 27,744,908

Non-current liabilities JEREAE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERTH B A RIFIA 22,992,176 20,899,715
22,992,176 20,899,715
6,825,295 6,845,193

Capital and reserves A& A R fE
Share capital ik 110,831 110,831
Reserves (Note) et (P EE) 6,714,464 6,734,362
6,825,295 6,845,193
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I IRARMIEE

45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

45. R
R

Gl
30

at
@
52
el

Bt %5 1R 5 % Ak

Note: MiaT -
Share-
Capital based
Share Translation redemption payments Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve profits Total
RHER
RAEE EififE RABERHE BES:1 ] REEH @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiEn Tin FiEn TR TR T
Balance at 1 January 2023 i S-S el = -3 6,630,959 (115,940) 1,911 77,390 55,653 6,649,973
Profit for the year REEHA| - - - - 1,616,224 1,616,224
Exchange difference arising on translation ~ E4TEE 2 HE¥ ALY
to presentation currency EXESE - (32,842) - - - (32,842)
Total comprehensive (expense) income REERE(FR)
for the year Wik - (32,842) - - 1616,224 1,583,382
Issue of new shares from exercise R REM S THRA
of share options 434 - - (90) - 344
Repurchase and cancellation of shares e LR (11,876) - - - - (11,876)
Recognition of equity-settled share-based ~ R IAE 54 Z IR 3T
payments - - - 75,258 - 75,258
Final dividend for the year ended (E-Z-_F+-R-T-HIEE
31 December 2022 2RERE - - - - (831,234) (831,234)
Interim dividend for the year ended HE-T--E+-A=tHIEEE
31 December 2023 PR E - - - - (731,485) (731,485)
(11,449) - - 75,168 (1,562,719 (1498993
Balance at 31 December 2023 RZZE-=F+-A=t—RAz&H 6,619,517 (148,782) 1,911 152,558 109,158 6,734,362
Profit for the year REEHA - - - - 857,275 857,275
Exchange difference arising on translation ~ ETEZ 2 KERMEEL
to presentation currency ERESE - (34,856) - - - (34,856)
Total comprehensive (expense) income for ~ AFEE2E (F% ) A
the year - (34,856) - - 857,275 822,419
Final dividend for the year ended HE-T--F+-A=t-HIFE
31 December 2023 ZRERE - - - - (398,992) (398992)
Interim dividend for the year ended HEZZ-NE+_A=+-ALEFE
31 December 2024 ZHERE - - - - (443,325) (443305)
- - - - (842,317) (842317)
Balance at 31 December 2024 RoZ-MEF-A=+—-RA7&H 6,619,517 (183,638) 1911 152,558 124,116 6,714,464
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@ KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

INFORMATION ON THE GROUP’S PROPERTIES

The following tables set out the Group’s material properties held for REETEFEREMEINTER
investment:

Group’s interest

rEBRE#ER
Total
area (m?) 2024 2023
Location Existing use Tenure HEE
b 2h HEAR FHE (EH¥K) —B-mE —T-=%F
% %
Delta House, 3 On Yiu Street, Shek Mun, Commercial Medium term lease 33,000 100% 100%
Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong [SES FREAAEREE
BRSNS BOPIRBRESREENE
5-7/F, Overseas Trust Bank Building Commercial Medium term lease 2,000 100% 100%
No. 160 Gloucester Road, Hong Kong &3 R HIFEEREE
AR S TITE16058IMEERITAE
5-71&
9-14/F, Overseas Trust Bank Building, Commercial Medium term lease 4,000 100% 100%
No. 160 Gloucester Road, Hong Kong &2 R HIFEERE
BRSTITE16058IMEERITAE
9-1412
Unit Nos.2301-2303, 26/F, 27/F, and Commercial Medium term lease 1,800 74% 74%
Car Parking Space No. 9 and No. 10 % FREATAERR E
on 2nd Floor, Overseas Trust Bank
Building, No. 160 Gloucester Road,
Hong Kong
AR S TITE16058IMEERITAE
2301-2303%( - 261 + 2718 %
2129105k B AL
The Cavaridge, 38 Lai Ping Road Residential Medium term Lease 13,900 85% 85%
Sha Tin, Hong Kong *= REAMHEIEE
AL HEITK38RkEE
One Aldgate, No. 1 Aldgate, London, Commercial Freehold 5,000 100% 100%
EC3N1AA, United Kingdom EES KAEERE
88 to 93 Fenchurch Street, Commercial Freehold 8,000 74% 74%
5 and 7 Carlisle Avenue and [EES KAERE

Part of Saracens Head Yard,
London, EC3M 4ST, United Kingdom
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INFORMATION ON THE GROUP’S PROPERTIES

The following tables set out the Group’s material properties held for investment:

(continued)

Location

it B

Moor Place, Fore Street,
London EC2Y 5BJ, United Kingdom

Two London Wall Place Central London,
United Kingdom

Shanghai Modern Plaza,
369 Xian Xia Road, Changning District,
Shanghai, the PRC*

hE T RERIIEEI3695% L8
BRES

Guangzhou Dongzhao Building,
No. 515 Dong Feng Central Road,
Yuexiu District, Guangzhou,
Guangdong Province, the PRC*

Bl R A N T S [ R AP B8 51555
BMERBAE

Guangzhou Kingboard Plaza,
Zhujiang New Town II-3, Tianhe District,
Guangzhou, Guangdong Province,
the PRC*

o BB BR A RN T RO [ TR T34 3

RN EES

Shanghai Kingboard Plaza Phase |,
224 Xin Jing Road, Changning District,
Shanghai, the PRC*

B LT RERITEK2245%
FERERES

Existing use
B AR

Commercial

[GES

Commercial

[GES

Commercial

[GES

Commercial

[GES

Commercial

[GES

Commercial

[GES

Tenure

HE

Freehold
KAERE

Long term lease
RHAEAEE

Medium term lease
FREATHERTEE

Medium term lease
FREATHERTEE

Medium term lease
FREATHERTEE

Medium term lease
REATHERTEE

BEHEERRAH

AEBEEZHEREMEINTE : (8)

Total
area (m?)
BEE
(FEFHXK)

21,500

17,400

17,000

91,000

72,000

297,000

Group’s interest

REERFEER
2024 2023
—E_OE —E-=F
% %
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%

=

e

ME R



@ KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

INFORMATION ON THE GROUP’S PROPERTIES

The following tables set out the Group’s material properties held for NEB FEREREMENNTER - (8)
investment: (continued)

Group’s interest

AEBRFE#ER
Total
area (m?) 2024 2023
Location Existing use Tenure HEE
ith 2 BAEFAZR FHER (FFHXK) =B-mEFE —T-=F
% %
Huagiao Kingboard Plaza Phase |, Commercial Medium term lease 178,000 100% 100%
Kunshan City, Jiangsu Province, [EES FREAAEAEE
the PRC*
BT &R B 1L fEs 2B S — 5
Kunshan Centre Phase |, Commercial Medium term lease 136,000 75% 75%
Zhong Hua Yuan Road South and EES REAMEEATEE
Huang Shan Road West,
Development District, Kunshan City,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC*
A BT &R & B LU T A 35 2R [ e B
=P E L0 —H
Guanzhou Zhan Wang Digital Plaza, Commercial Medium term lease 58,000 100% 100%
No. 8 Shi Pei West Road, [HES IR E
Tianhe District Guangzhou City
Guangdong Province, the PRC*
FR B B R A N TR RO [ A W PR R 85
BNE L8 S
Shanghai Kingboard Plaza Phase I, Commercial Medium term lease 87,000 100% 100%

Xie He Road and Fu Quan Road [EES REATH BT E
Xinjing Town, Changning District
Shanghai, the PRC*
B T RE RIS HE M &
BRI EREES B
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@ BEHEERRAH

INFORMATION ON THE GROUP’S PROPERTIES

The following table sets out the Group’s material properties held for NEBFBEHFERERMEINTE
development:

Group’s interest

Total REBEGEES
Location Expected use area (m?) 2024 2023
ih 2h mItRAE HEE(TEHEXK) —EC-=F —TCF
% %

Kingboard Qianhai Building, Commercial 88,000 100% 100%
Neighbourhood 5, Area 4, [HES
Guiwan District, Shen Gang
Xian Dai Services Cooperation
District, Qianhai, Shenzhen City,
Guangdong Province, the PRC*
B ER G R TADERBERN
RiSEAEREER BEETHEY
BERERE

Kunshan Centre Commercial 760,000 75% 75%
South of Zhong Hua, [SES
Yuan Road, West of
Huang Shan Road,
Development District, Kunshan City,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC*
BT #RE B LU R 3 e P 3 E R A
=LRAERZ PO

Jing Ting, West of Furong Road, Residential 299,000 100% 100%
South of Nan Wei Road, Luijia Town, F=
Jiangsu Province, the PRC

BT A4S R R R R Al -
EREARNERE

Pu An Garden, West of Yuan Guo Road, Residential 171,000 100% 100%
North of Jin Song Road, F=E
Huagiao Development District
Jiangsu Province, the PRC*
RENI#ECBAEE - REEEE -
MBI EERER

* denotes English translation of Chinese addresses in the PRC for identification * R B 2 SO IR R R AR

purposes only

—E - NFEFR



@ KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
M=

RESULTS E 35

Year ended 31 December

BEt-RA=t-HLEE

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
—TCFF B —E-—F —E-=F —E-ME
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT THT FHET FTExT
Revenue EEE 43,510,274 56,755,274 49,375,901 39,712,499 43,093,252
Profit before taxation R Tt A 7,936,416 15,576,660 6,777,072 2,787,711 2,721,986
Income tax expense TSt (2,108,063) (3,022,599) (2,688,518) (443,609) (618,655)
Profit for the year REZHEF 5,828,353 12,554,061 4,188,554 2,344,102 2,103,331
Attributable to: AN AT RE(G 1% -
Owners of the Company KRAREBA 4,702,884 10,778,032 3,655,220 2,062,971 1,630,329
Non-controlling interests FEERR R 1,125,469 1,776,029 533,334 281,131 473,002
5,828,353 12,554,061 4,188,554 2,344,102 2,103,331
DIVIDEND AND BASIC RERER
EARNING PER SHARE BERBA
Dividend per share for the year AEE GRS HK228 cents  HK300 cents  HK105cents HK102 cents HK140 cents

228711l 3007l 105781l 10274 1407541l

Basic Earning per share based  LABEE 45 F 5t & #
on reported net profit BREAZF| HK$4.257 HK$9.729 HK$3.297 HK$1.861 HK$1.471
42577 9.729% 7T 3.297H T 1.86178 7T 14718 7T

> ==
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
At 31 December
W+=A=+—H
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
—E-EE —E-—F —E-—F —E-=F —E_ME
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FHT FHT FHT TExT
Total assets BERE 93,249,138 103,815,768 97,293,151 98,968,526 97,784,654
Total liabilities RERH (32,450,432)  (35132,475)  (32,597,320)  (34,533,904)  (33,045,407)

60,798,706 68,683,293 64,695,831 64,434,622 64,739,247

Equity attributable to owners AR A H AJELG
of the Company e 55,864,903 63,017,172 60,057,655 59,741,361 59,824,774
Non-controlling interests JEIERR RS 4,933,803 5,666,121 4,638,176 4,693,261 4,914,473

60,798,706 68,683,293 64,695,831 64,434,622 64,739,247
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